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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Ms. Ouyang Yanling (Chairman)

Mr. Li Yuguo

Mr. Liu Yan Chee James (Former Chief Executive Officer) (Note |)

Mr. Li Xiaoming
Ms. Wen Junyi (Note 2)

Mr. Chan Wai Fung (Chief Executive Officer) (Note 3)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Huang Yilin

Mr. Chen Dong Yao

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ba Junyu

Mr. So Ting Kong (Note 4)
Mr. Wong Sung (Note 5)
Mr. Xu Xingge (Note 6)
Dr. Liang Jinxiang (Note 7)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Wu Ho Wai (Note 8)

Ms. Lam Yat Ting (Note 9)

Mr. Cheng King Yip (Note [0)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Ba Junyu

Mr. So Ting Kong (Chairman) (Note 4)
Mr. Wong Sung (Note 5)

Mr. Xu Xingge (Note 6)

Dr. Liang Jinxiang (Chairman) (Note 7)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ba Junyu (Chairman)
Mr. So Ting Kong (Note 4)
Mr. Wong Sung (Note 5)
Mr. Xu Xingge (Note 6)
Dr. Liang Jinxiang (Note 7)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AREH

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Ba Junyu (Chairman)

Mr. Li Yuguo

Mr. So Ting Kong (Note 4)

Mr. Wong Sung (Note 5)

Mr. Xu Xingge (Note 6)

Mr. Chan Wai Fung (Note 3)

STOCK CODE

899

AUDITORS

Reanda HK CPA Limited

(Formerly known as Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited)
Certified Public Accountants

21/F, Tai Yau Building

81 Johnston Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HMI |, Bermuda

Note |[:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

Note 8:
Note 9:

Ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer on 14 March 2025
Appointed with effect from 12 June 2024 and resigned with effect from 26 March 2025

Appointed as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 19 March 2025, appointed
as an Executive Director and a member of the nomination committee with effect from
26 March 2025

Appointed with effect from 22 May 2024 and resigned and ceased to be the chairman
of audit committee with effect from 31 January 2025

Appointed as an Independent Non-executive Directors and appointed as a member of
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee with effect from
22 May 2024

Appointed as an Independent Non-executive Directors and appointed as a member of
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee with effect from
22 May 2024

Appointed as an Independent Non-executive Directors, appointed as the chairman of
audit committee and appointed as a member of remuneration committee with effect
from 2 April 2025

Resigned with effect from 23 December 2024

Appointed with effect from 23 December 2024 and resigned with effect from 30 April
2025

Note 10: Appointed with effect from 30 April 2025
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AREH

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Room 2601, 26/F, West Tower Shun Tak Centre

[68-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

(shall be changed to 2Ist Floor, CMA Building

64 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

with effect from | July 2025)

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE (IN BERMUDA)

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street

Hamilton HM I |, Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE (IN HONG KONG)

Tricor Investor Services Limited
| 7/F, Far East Finance Centre

| 6 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.zhongjiagx.com
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are as

follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ouyang Yanling, aged 4!, has been an Executive Director of the
Company since 23 February 2024 and the Chairman of the board of
directors since 2 April 2024.

Ms. Ouyang has more than |0 years of experience in graphite mining

industry management since 201 3.

Ms. Ouyang was an investment consultant at Hunan Wanhe Graphite
Technology Co., Ltd.* (HiFa & & AZR B R A F]) from 2013 to 2018.
Ms. Ouyang then served as a supervisor at Hunan Zhongjia Graphite
Co., Ltd* (HFEH INAERMDBRAF) from around October 2018 to
November 2021. Since |6 September 2020, she has been a director of
Sino Plus Graphite Holdings Co., Ltd (1A 25 iK% 7D B R A 7). From
26 June 2023 onwards, she has been a director of Zhongjiaxincai Holdings
Co., Ltd (F MFAMIEARAR 19 B BR A F]). Furthermore, since |5 June 2023,
she has been a director of Yongming Investment Holdings Limited (3K
AR AR A F]), which is an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company; and since 8 June 2023, she has been a director of Yonyin
Investment Holdings Limited (GKINMZEIERR AR A R]), which is an

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Ms. Ouyang is mainly responsible for advising on the aforesaid companies’
business development matters. Her responsibilities include overseeing the
business operations and development of the aforesaid companies, mergers
and acquisitions of mining companies, project consulting, production,

operation and investment plans, and other related work.
Ms. Ouyang completed a 5-year college degree from Yueyang Vocational

and Technical College (FEFFBZERRMTET) in June 2004 and obtained a

college degree.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Mr. Li Yuguo, aged 71, has been an Executive Director of the Company
since 16 August 2017 and a member of the nomination committee of
the Company since 24 July 2018. He was the chairman of the board of
directors of the Company from 22 September 2017 to 2 April 2024. He
was also the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company from
24 July 2018 to 2 April 2024. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

Mr. Li was an executive director of Fullwealth International Group Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™) (Stock Code: 1034), from |5
January 2024 to 12 May 2024. He was an executive director of Future
Bright Mining Holdings Limited (“Future Bright”), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2212), from |9 September
2018 to 22 May 2024 and was the chief executive officer of Future Bright
from 16 June 2020 to 23 May 2022. He was a non-executive director of
Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. (“Shengjing Bank”), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2066), from July 2013 to March
2021 and was the vice chairman of the board of directors of Shengjing Bank
from June 2014 to February 2018. He has been the chairman of Liaoning
EESERKRES
B HPR/AF]) since June 2013 and has been the chairman of Beijing Jiutai
Group Co., Ltd* (LR EEEBRAF]) since May 1993. Prior to that,
he successively worked at the planning bureau of the China Association
for Science and Technology (R BRI 17 ) as principal staff, deputy
chief and chief of the accounting division from August 1983 to October
1992.

Huibao International Investment Group Co., Ltd.* (&

Mr. Li graduated from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics
(formerly known as Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics* (YL 783 48

BB3)) (Jiangxi, PRC) in July 1983, majoring in industrial accounting.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Mr. Liu Yan Chee James, aged 55, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 26 April 2017. He was the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company from | August 2018 to |4 March 2025.

He has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting. He was
(i) an executive director of Future Bright (Stock Code: 2212) from 9
August 2019 to 30 September 2023 and the chief executive officer of
Future Bright from 26 October 2018 to 16 June 2020; (i) an executive
director of Mindtell Technology Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 861 1), from 8 March 2018 to 8 June 2023
and (iii) an independent non-executive director of Luen Wong Group
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 8217), from March 2016 to December 2017.

In February 1994, he graduated from Dalhousie University in Canada with

a Bachelor of Commerce.

Mr. Liu was criticised by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 20 January 2020 in relation to his breach of Rule 3.08(f) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”),
and his obligations under the Declaration and Undertaking with regards to
Directors given by him to the Stock Exchange, in discharging his fiduciary
duties as an executive director of the Company with sufficient skill, care and
diligence of a director as may reasonably be expected of a person of his
knowledge and experience and holding his office. For details, please refer

to the announcement of the Company dated 23 January 2020.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Mr. Li Xiaoming, aged 58, has been an Executive Director of the

Company since 2| November 2022.

Mr. Li worked in Beijing Zhongrui Dairy Training Centre* (3t H Iim 4
5P L) during the period between 1985 and 1990. Mr. Li was the
manager of Beijing Meihuada Design Centre* (3t R IEZE 3= 5 i1 /L)) from
December 1994 to December 1995. He has been the chairman and legal
representative of Beijing Longxin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (3t /%
EEEERZSBEBRAT]) since 1998 to present. From September
2010 to January 2012, Mr. Li was the supervisor of Beijing Huayetong
Decoration Engineering Co. Ltd. (Gt REZFBRMTIEHFR A AF]). He
has become the supervisor of Beijing Xinguang Lamp Ware Co., Ltd.* (it
R A EEBREFEADR) from 2012 to present. Mr. Li has been the

general manager of Beijing Jinhua Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (1t

RS EREERBMRAT) since 2021 to date.

Mr. Li graduated from Beijing Renwen Hanshou University* (b5 A X K #5%
ARE) (now known as Beijing Renwen University) with a bachelor's degree
in Law in 1987. He also graduated from the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences with a master degree in international trade

from the Department of Finance, Trade and Economics in [998.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Mr. Chan Wai Fung (BR{E1&), aged 40, is our executive Director, chief
executive officer and a member of the nomination committee. Mr. Chan
appointed as chief executive officer on 19 March 2025 and executive
Director on 26 March 2025. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of

the Company.

Mr. Chan has extensive experience in the areas of business management,
financial market, corporate goverance and corporate finance. Mr. Chan
was the responsible officer in Silverbricks Securities Company Limited
(“Silverbricks™), a licensed corporation registered under SFO to carry out
Type | (dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures), Type 6 (advising
on corporate finance) regulated activities, from February 2022 to March
2025, and he was a vice president of the Silverbricks from July 2020 to
January 2022. Mr. Chan was a co-founder and director of Draco Capital
Limited from October 2018 to June 2020. Mr. Chan held various positions
in Haitong International Securities Group Limited starting from November
2010 as an assistant business manager until April 2012, worked as an officer
in CEO office from April 2012 to July 2014, became assistant manager in
the investment and product team from August 2014 to July 2017, and was a
vice president from July 2017 to October 2018. Mr. Chan joined the Chief
Securities Group Limited from May 2008 to August 2010 as dealing officer.

Mr. Chan received his Bachelor of Social Science degree in Economics from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2007 and his Master of Business
Administration from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics
in 2016. Mr. Chan has also been awarded the qualification of a certified
Financial Risk Manager (FRM) in 2010, Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA)
in 2012 and Chartered Surveyor (MRICS) in 2023. Mr. Chan is a fellow
member of Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA), a
Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA) and a member of
CPA Australia.

Mr. Chan has been a non-executive director of 1957 & Co. (Hospitality)
Limited (stock code 8495), a company listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, since August 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Xiaogiang, aged 54, has been a Non-executive Director and

the Vice Chairman of the Company since |3 September 2018.

Mr. Yang was a non-executive director of Future Bright (Stock Code: 2212)
from 19 September 2018 to 2| December 2020 and was an executive
director of Future Bright from 22 December 2020 to 31 March 2024. He
was the vice chairman of the board of directors of Future Bright from 19
September 2018 to 31 March 2024.

Mr. Yang has been appointed as director and general manager of Shenyang
Tairong Property Development Company Limited* (J&F52= 58 5 & 7
B AF]) since September 2010. He held similar positions in other

companies for more than 20 years.

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor's degree in industrial automation from the
Shenyang Mechanical Engineering University* (J&5#HH T2 KE) in
1994 and obtained a master degree in civil and commercial laws from the

Shenyang Normal University in 2001.

Mr. Huang Yilin, aged 57, has been a Non-executive Director of the
Company since | August 2018. He acted as an Executive Director of
the Company from 23 January 2015 to 31 July 2018 and was the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company from 16 August 2017 to 31 July 2018.

During the past years, Mr. Huang was the general manager of Shantou
Sanye Plastic Company Limited* CIIZET =B R A F]), Shenzhen
China Investment Company Limited* (Y11 8 & B PR A Al), Shenzhen
Rihuisheng Group Company Limited* (%TEWWE{ E@%ﬁ@@ﬁj) and
Shenzhen Hongxun Investment Company Limited* (ZYIITTBIZE BR
A 7)), and has extensive theoretical knowledge and practical experience in

corporate modern management.

Mr. Huang graduated from The Institute of Finance and Economics of Radio
and Television* (BABALET) in 1992. Mr. Huang has also obtained a
bachelor of international economics and trade degree from Beijing Foreign
Studies University in 2023.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Mr. Huang was criticised by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 20 January 2020 in relation to his breach of Rule 3.08(f) of the Listing
Rules, and his obligations under the Declaration and Undertaking with
regards to Directors given by him to the Stock Exchange, in discharging his
fiduciary duties as an executive director of the Company with sufficient skill,
care and diligence of a director as may reasonably be expected of a person
of his knowledge and experience and holding his office. For details, please

refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23 January 2020.

Mr. Chen Dong Yao, aged 37, has been a Non-executive Director of the
Company since 23 February 2024.

Mr. Chen has more than 9 years of experience in graphite mining industry

management since 20 14.

Mr. Chen has been a deputy general manager of Hunan Wanhe Graphite
Technology Co., Ltd.* (HFa&E & AREHR AR A F]) since 2014 and has
been a director of Sino Plus Graphite Holdings Co., Ltd (R hl/A2&ER%
A& B MR A F]) from 22 November 202 1. He was mainly responsible for

advising business development matters.

Since 2014, Mr. Chen has been participating in the management of the
aforesaid companies. He is primarily responsible for formulating the
development objectives and corporate direction. He has also participated
in the planning, project management, investment analysis, risk assessment,
and feasibility analysis for various mergers, acquisitions, and restructuring

projects of mining companies or relevant companies.

Mr. Chen graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Arts from York University
in Canada in 201 1.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Chen is interested in 30% of the
issued shares in Creation Financial Group Limited (Bl & @& EBR
A &]), which holds 26.9% of the issued shares in Yongming Investment
Holdings Limited (K &% &1
subsidiary of the Group.

2 B BR A A)), an indirect non wholly-owned

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ba Junyu, aged 70, has been an Independent Non-executive Director
and a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company since 24 July 2018. He
has been the chairman of Remuneration Committee of the Company
since | August 2018, and was appointed as the chairman of Nomination

Committee of the Company since 2 April 2024.

Mr. Ba has been an external supervisor of Shengjing Bank (Stock Code:
2066) since February 2018. He was an independent non-executive director
of that bank from June 2010 to February 2018. Mr. Ba has been a professor
at Shenyang Ligong University* (&E[5I2 T AZ) since September 2001,
and served as principal, professor and researcher of the social economy
research institute of Shenyang Ligong University from September 200 |
to May 2009. He serves as a professor at the School of Law and Ideology
of Shenyang Ligong University since May 2009. Prior to that, he served as
an associate professor and the head of the economic research institute at
Shenyang University from April 1996 to August 2003. From August 1985
to April 1996, he served as a vice dean, deputy principal and associate
professor of the market economy research institute at Shenyang Institute
of Finance and Economics. He used to work at the teaching and research
office at Shenyang Accounting School* (BT € ERK) as deputy
director, director and lecturer from August 1982 to August 1985.

Mr. Ba graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics
(formerly known as Liaoning Institute of Finance and Economics* (i 2 Bt
#EEART) (Liaoning, PRC)) in July 1982, majoring in commercial enterprise
management. He has been a researcher as accredited by the Personnel

Office of Liaoning Province since August 2008.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Mr. Wong Sung, aged 43, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director, a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company since 22 May
2024.

From 2007 to 2023, Mr. Wong served as the marketing director at Wai
May Fur And Fashion Company Limited (M3 ERFEEGRRAF]). From
2023 onwards, he has served as the marketing director at Dongguan Min
Gang Industrial Investment Co, Ltd.* CREREBEXIZEBR A A).

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Business (Administration) degree from

Central Queensland University in 2007.

Mr. Xu Xingge, aged 41, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director, a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company since 22 May

2024.

During the period between June 2005 and October 2009, Mr. Xu joined
Tianjin Swarovski Wedding Photography* (R:ZMEEE /K IEIEE ) as the
chief photographer and art director. After that, during the period between
November 2009 and April 2018, he worked at Tianjin Aishang Gediao
Wedding Photography* (RZE i&1& #8512
Since May 2018, Mr. Xu has been the deputy general manager at Tianjin
RRREMEERTERAA)

52) as the art director.
Chenning Property Management Co., Ltd* (

Mr. Xu graduated from Benxi Vocational and Technical College* (AE
B ZE BT 2 Be) in 2003.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESERE

Dr. Liang Jinxiang (R£%), aged 41, is our independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee and a member
of the remuneration committee. Dr. Liang appointed as independent non-

executive Director on 2 April 2025.

Dr. Liang has extensive experience in the areas of the financial and capital
markets, with over |5 years of experience in investment and mergers
and acquisitions, corporate risk control, and financial audit management.
Dr. Liang’s research focuses on financial and tax compliance, behavioral
economics, and enterprise risk management. Dr. Liang currently serves as
an adjunct professor at several universities, including Yunnan University
of Finance and Economics (EFIBTASKRER). In recent years, Dr. Liang has
also presided over or participated in multiple National Natural Science

Foundation projects.

Dr. Liang serves as a president of the Shenzhen Alumni Association of
Yunnan University of Finance and Economics and Chairman of its Fund
Investment Committee since 2022 and as an executive dean at the
Shenzhen Yun Cai Management Science Research Institute (43I =8
EIERIERFELT) since 2019. Dr. Liang served as a chief risk officer and
a member of the investment committee at several investment groups in
China, overseeing corporate financial internal control and audit from 2009
to 2019. Dr. Liang received his Master of Business Administration from
Yunnan University of Finance and Economics in 2016 and his Doctor of

Philosophy in International Studies from Dong-A University in 2025.

14 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | IS 2RI B R 2 7]

REHEBL 415K RARRBIINITE
£ BRZESIERFHEESNE -
BETR T -_AFNA_HEZTAB I
WITES -

RELRMFINEREEATS - AR
BISEFRIRE RGE SRR R
FERLR RELTHERARREMBE
MBEaR TREESREXRERERE - £
BEIRAZHASEEHR (AT BEERRM
RRE)  AFERIFRSATLERREA
MEE$IARB -

RELTE T _F2SEEFRITEERHS
RAERAEERFESREZBEER -
BE-Z-NEE2S5ERFIMEMEER 2
MERBITREE - R_TTZNFE_T—N
FHRETEAZHRESERRNEAZR
ERREREENRE  BECENBEAESA
Fit c RBLIR B - RFRFEMHLKR
ETHERBLTEN  YN_T_AFES
R RSH 2L (BRHTT) S -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high standard of

corporate governance with an aim to protect the interest of shareholders.

Key corporate governance practices and activities of the Company for
the year ended 3| March 2025 (the “Year"”) are highlighted in this report.
Discussions on the Company’s environmental policies/performance
and our relationship with key stakeholders are disclosed in a separate
Environmental, Social and Governance Report which is available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code contained
in Appendix CI| (the “Code") of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules™). During the Year, the
Company complied with all applicable provisions of the Code except for

the deviation as stated below:

Code Provision C.1.8

Under Code provision C.1.8, the Company should arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action which may be taken against the
Directors. The directors’ and officers’ liability insurance maintained by
the Company has expired on 20 May 2018. As the Company has not yet
reached an agreement with an insurer regarding the terms and insurance
premium of new insurance policy, the insurance cover in respect of legal
action which may be taken against the Directors has not been in place since
21 May 2018. The Company had liaised with various insurance companies
and brokers during the Year and will continue to liaise with them to arrange

appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and officers.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company

and oversees the Group's business strategic decisions and performances.

Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company and its businesses by directing and supervising the Company's
affairs. The Directors have the responsibility to act objectively in the

interests of the Company.

The Board focuses on the overall strategies and policies with particular
attention paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group. The

principal functions of the Board are to, inter alia:

*  establish the strategic direction and development of the Group;

o determine the general corporate policies, strategic plans and
performance objectives of the Group;

© monitor management performance;

*  approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals,
key funding and investment proposals; and

*  oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal
controls, corporate governance, risk management, financial reporting

and compliance.

16 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | F7 1B 1A% A% 9 B BR 2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

The Board delegates daily operations of the Group to executive Directors
and senior executives, while reserving certain key matters for its approval.
Matters reserved for decision and consideration of the Board include,
among others, all matters of strategic importance, corporate governance
practices, internal control matters and risk management, operating and
capital budgets, material transactions and investment commitments. The
management is responsible for the daily operations of the Group under the

leadership of the Board.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Executive Directors,
Ms. Ouyang Yanling, Mr. Li Yuguo, Mr. Liu Yan Chee James, Mr. Li Xiaoming
and Mr. Chan Wai Fung; three Non-executive Directors, Mr. Chen Dong
Yao, Mr. Yang Xiaogiang and Mr. Huang Yilin; and four Independent Non-
executive Directors, Mr. Ba Junyu, Mr. Wong Sung, Mr. Xu Xingge and
Dr. Liang Jinxiang. Ms. Ouyang Yanling is the chairman of the Board and
Mr. Chan Wai Fung; is the chief executive officer of the Company.

Number of Directors
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are individuals
with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of accounting and
appropriate expertise. They provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each Independent
Non-executive Director has given an annual confirmation of independence
to the Company and the Company considers these directors to be

independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board so as to enhance the quality of its performance and as
an essential element in maintaining strategic objectives and sustainable
development of the Group. All appointments of the Board members will
be based on merits against objective criteria and with due regards for
benefits and balance of diversity on the Board. The Board diversity will
be considered in terms of, among other things, gender, age, professional
experience, qualifications and educational and cultural background, and any
other factors that the Nomination Committee may consider relevant and
applicable from time to time towards complementing and extending the
overall skills, know-how and experiences of the entire Board. The Board
comprises members of different genders and therefore has complied with

the gender diversity requirements of the Stock Exchange.

18 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | F7 1B 1A% A% 9 B BR 2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ST LR
.I/J'_\% BERE
Meetings 25
Details of Directors’ attendance records at the Board meetings and general BREENAREEEFTeE N ARNFIREKX
meetings of the Company during the Year are set out below: @ HEREFEEHY T
Meetings attended/Held
HERE BTERRY
Annual Special
General General Board
Meeting Meeting Meeting
RRBFEXE RRBHAE Ezges
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Ouyang Yanling G B3 I/ 0/0 15/15
Mr. Li Yuguo IEAE I/1 0/0 13/15
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James ABBLE /1 0/0 10/15
Mr. Li Xiaoming FRALE I/ 0/0 15/15
Ms. Wen Junyi okl
(Resigned on 26 March 2025) (R=E-RE=A-1+,"AE) 0/0 0/0 8/9
Mr. Chan Wai Fung Y
(appointed on 26 March 2025) (RZE-RF=A-1+"HEZ{T) 0/0 0/0 22
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang TN S 0/1 0/0 12/15
Mr. Huang Yilin HRMEAE I/ 0/0 13/15
Mr. Chen Dong Yao BRERZLE I/ 0/0 15/15
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHTES
Mr. Ba Junyu BEFEE I/ 0/0 15/15
Mr. So Ting Kong BELItE
(Resigned on 31 January 2025) (RZE-RE—-RA=1+—RHEH) I/ 0/0 306
Mr. Wong Sung e
(appointed on 22 May 2024) (R-Z-MERA-+-BEZ{) I/ 0/0 9/11
Mr. Xu Xingge REBEE
(appointed on 22 May 2024) (RZEZMERA-TZAEZRM) I/ 0/0 /11
Dr. Liang Jinxiang REHET
(appointed on 2 April 2025) (RZE-hENA-HEZMA) 0/0 0/0 0/0
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REARE

Apart from regular board meetings of the Year, the Board will also meet on
other occasions when a decision at the board level on a particular matter
is required. The Directors receive details of agenda items for decision and
minutes of committee meetings (if any) prior to every board meeting.
The Board has reserved its power for decision or consideration on those
matters relating to corporate strategy, annual and interim results, directors’
appointment, succession planning, risk management, major acquisitions,
disposals and capital transactions, and other significant operational
and financial matters. Major corporate matters that are specifically
delegated by the Board to the management include the preparation of
annual and interim financial statements for Board approval before public
disclosure, execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by
the Board, implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and
risk management procedures, and compliance with relevant statutory

requirements, rules and regulations.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

All the Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
three years. In addition, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings pursuant to the Bye-laws of

the Company.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, any director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company

and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are encouraged to update themselves with the latest
developments in the legal and regulatory frameworks, and the business
and market changes from time to time to facilitate the performance and
discharge of their responsibilities.

All Directors are requested to provide the Company with their respective

training records pursuant to the Code.

During the Year, the Directors have confirmed their participation in
appropriate continuous professional development activities by ways of
attending seminars or self-reading as set out below:

Executive Directors HiTE=E

Ms. Ouyang Yanling B5ee 2t

Mr. Li Yuguo FRELE

Mr. Liu Yan Chee James ABRBLE

Mr. Li Xiaoming FREALE

Ms. Wen Junyi BT

(Resigned on 26 March 2025) (RZEZRAE=RA=+HFE)

Mr. Chan Wai Fung BREELE

(appointed on 26 March 2025)

(R-Z-RHF=A-TAREZME)

Non-executive Directors EHTES
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang CUN- it
Mr. Huang Yilin BRMEE
Mr. Chen Dong Yao BRERZLE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Ba Junyu BEFEE
Mr. So Ting Kong ***/I’r*ﬁi
(Resigned on 31 January 2025) (RZE-RE—-RA=1+—RHEH)
Mr. Wong Sung HEEE
(appointed on 22 May 2024) (RZZ-_MERA-T-BEZME)
Mr. Xu Xingge RE %%i
(appointed on 22 May 2024) (RZE-MERA-T=RAEZ)
Dr. Liang Jinxiang ReEET

(appointed on 2 April 2025)

(RZZ-_REWMA-REZRE)

EECEBEERRE

ARBIBRES IR THREH AP REE
ERNEHFERANEZERTHEEE - R
EREETHEEL -

WA - 2RI ER AN TR
& B2 -

RAFEE EFCHER  UTRAREESBL
FHHekaTHEMSREEREEEHE
RIS :
Attending seminars Self-reading
HEMNE BTRI®E

v v

v v

v v

v v

v v

v v

v v

v v

v v

v v

- v

v v

v v
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they had fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors and two Executive Director, and
is currently chaired by Mr. Ba Junyu. Its primary duties include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members in accordance with the Board
Diversity Policy, assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters

relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held six (6) meetings during the Year. The
attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee at the meetings

during the Year is set out below:

wH R 2 BESTA

ARAERA ETRRNMERCIFAE 2 L%
TABRETEFR P ZRETA(TREST
All) - REAZBRERFEHARSTHE - A
EERARENEMAFEC2METIRE
STRIPFEII 2 RERZE -

REEES

ARAREZEZEEGHRRH=-BBUINTE
ENMEBERTESHEK - REHERFTELE
BEXIF EXZBEEERIEFER
B RENEK  RREFEREZ TR
RYWEEBABEERAKASETEREZA
T FHEBUIERTES 2B BERE
AEHEEEETZHBAEERESTSRME

Meetings

Committee members attended/Held
HESRRE,

ZE8HE HITEBIRY™
Mr. Ba Junyu (Chairman) BEFREEE) 6/6
Mr. Li Yuguo TEREE 6/6
Mr. So Ting Kong (Note /) BREILEE(MEE) 2/2
Mr. Wong Sung (Note 2) =i ERE2) 3/4
Mr. Xu Xingge (Note 2) RIS S (Mat2) 4/4
Mr. Wong Chung Man (Note 3) EPSCSE(HTEE3) 171
Mr. Chan Wai Fung (Note 4) BRI 5 A (F17F4) 0/0

Note |:  Ceased to be a member on 31 January 2025 Hatl : RZZE_AF—A=+—HBTBHEKXKE
Note 2:  Appointed as a member on 22 May 2024 KeF2 : RZZE-_NMFRA-+-—HEZTAKE
Note 3:  Ceased to be a member on |9 April 2024 KfaE3: RZZE-_NFNA+NABTBHEKE

Note 4:  Appointed as a member on 26 March 2025 Wtit4: RZTE-_RAF=A=-+ BEZFEAKE
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REARE

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure
and composition of the Board, reviewed the Board Diversity Policy,
assessed the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
and made recommendations on the appointment and re-appointment of

Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee may invite nomination of candidates from
Board members for its consideration. The Nomination Committee may
also propose candidates who are not nominated by Board members.
The factors in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for the
position of director include, inter alia, reputation for integrity, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy, willingness to devote sufficient
time to discharge his duties as Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments, diversity of the Board, and such other
perspectives relevant to the Company's business. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and

approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company currently comprises
four Independent Non-executive Directors, and is currently chaired by
Mr. Ba Junyu. Its primary duties include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company's policy and structure for the remuneration
of the Directors and senior management, reviewing the remuneration
package and recommending salaries, bonuses, including the incentive
awards for the Directors and senior management, assessing performance
of executive Directors, approving the directors’ services contracts and
ensuring no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his
own remuneration and reviewing the share scheme of the Company or the

necessity to adopt the same, etc.

REAFE REZEQERVNEFEZIRE
RAK MHEFEKREZTEBRR LA
BUFATEFTZHIYE  UERERERE
METEFRAERERREZ -

RBEHE
REZBGUBFEETERERBAE U
HIERZEEQEZE - REZEQNMAEZREYL
FHEEFEREREZIAE - RRZEEN
FHAEEERUEZZAENAENLR - BIE2
E2AZBREEPRE)EE  HARAE
BREFXREABHEXERE - 58 - F
Ri&E - BERARSINERHBITESEK
ENBBENREMESREMEAAH &
EEgXREBEZl WRERRRRBEEBZ
HtE= - AR B AL ERRRMHE
SezTRMbE -

HMEES
ARB2HME B GREG BN ZBILIEH
TEF BRMERFEEETLER - HE
ZRAEBEEEAAAREZERGREEE
T BRERBEAESSELERRS
BAEERGREBEZHFHSBELRAETS
Z¥HE  EA(BRES)FELHERES ¥
BZHTESNERE  BURESRBEO &
AMEBEFTHHEABRREAZEEETARN
SOFARFRARBBR DA ELES
VERAZBADFEIFE -

Annual Report 2025 ¥

23



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
REARE

The Remuneration Committee held five (5) meetings during the Year.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee at the

meetings during the Year is set out below:

Committee members

ZEEME

Mr. Ba Junyu (Chairman) BlEFEE(EE)

Mr. So Ting Kong (Note [) ML RE(ME)

Mr. Wong Sung (Note 2) Ea ke (MiE2)

Mr. Xu Xingge (Note 2) RIS SR & (Bfat2)

Dr. Liang Jinxiang (Note 3) R EE T (A E3)
Note [: Ceased to be a member on 31| January 2025

Note 2: Appointed as a member on 22 May 2024
Note 3: Appointed as a member on 2 April 2025

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has considered and
reviewed the terms of the appointment letters of the Directors with
reference to various factors including, inter alia, salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company and desirability
of performance-based remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
considers that the existing terms of the appointment letters of the
Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors are fair and reasonable. Details of the remuneration

policy of the Directors are set out on page 60.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company currently comprises four (4)
Independent Non-executive Directors and is currently chaired by Dr. Liang
Jinxiang. Its primary duties are to review and oversee the financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control system of the Group and its
effectiveness, and review and monitor the integrity of financial statements

of the Company and the Company’s annual reports and interim reports.

BEREES
ARAIZBERZBERBREN@ZEL
FHTEF BARARSHEBLIEEIE -
HIERERENREBARE WIS HAR
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M TRARERARAFHRERAREAR
AF N R E TR

The Audit Committee held four (4) meetings during the Year. The BERZEENAFERITHAASH - &8
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee at the meetings BREEENERAFENEE LR
during the Year is set out below: wm
Meetings
Committee members attended/Held
HESRAE,
EZEERE HITEBIRY™
Mr. Ba Junyu BEFrE 4/4
Mr. So Ting Kong (Chairman) (Note 1) BRELAE(ERE) (M) 2/3
Mr. Wong Sung (Note 2) mE&E(ME2) 33
Mr. Xu Xingge (Note 2) TREB S (HT7E2) 33
Mr. Wong Chung Man (Note 3) =P S (H773) I/
Mr. Zhu Xueyi (Note 3) KREZFLEME3) /1
Dr. Liang Jinxiang (Chairman) (Note 4) R (EE)(Hit4) 0/0
Note |:  Ceased to be the chairman and a member on 31 January 2025 Metl - RZE-_AF—A=+—BTBHEEREEKE
Note 2:  Appointed as a member on 22 May 2024 W2 RZZ_NFRA-+-_BEZEAKE
Note 3:  Ceased to be a member on 19 April 2024 W3 RZZE-_MEMA+ABTEHEKE
Note 4:  Appointed with effect from 2 April 2025 Mat4 . 8= :ﬁﬁ@ﬂ “HEEEZRE

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting standards and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed
auditing, internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters
including the Group's audited financial statements for the year ended 3|
March 2024 and the unaudited financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2024 respectively. In June 2025, the Audit Committee
reviewed the Group's audited financial statements for the Year prior to

recommending the same to the Board for approval.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance matters of the
Company. The duties of the Board include, inter alia, (i) to develop,
review and implement the policies and practices of the Company on
corporate governance; (ii) to review, monitor and implement the policies
and practices of the Company in compliance with the legal and regulatory
requirements; (iii) to develop, review, monitor and implement the code
of conduct applicable to Directors and employees; and (iv) to review and
implement the compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate

Governance Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditors,
Reanda HK CPA Limited (formerly known as Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A.

Limited), is set out as follows:

Services rendered

Friz it AR A
Audit services % B RS
Non-Audit services Mot JEAZ B AR TR ()

Note:  The Audit Committee is of the view that the auditors’ independence was not affected

by the provision of those non-audit services during the Year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements for the
Year, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are
pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial statements, made
judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have

prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Company's risk management
and internal control systems. To facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
the Group emphasizes the importance of a sound risk management and
internal control systems which are also indispensable for mitigating the
Group's risk exposures. The Group'’s risk management and internal control
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of

failure in operational systems and fulfillment of the business objectives.

The risk management and internal control system are reviewed on an
ongoing basis by the Board, but in any event no less than once per year, in
order to make it practicable and effective in providing reasonable assurance
in relation to protection of material assets and identification of business
risks. The Board is satisfied that, based on the information furnished to it
and on its own observations, for the Year and up to the date of this report,
the risk management and internal controls of the Group are satisfactory,

effective and adequate.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and management
of risks associated with its business activities and has implemented
a practicable and effective control system which includes a defined
management structure with clear scope of authority, a sound cash
management system and periodic review of the Group's performance by

the Audit Committee and the Board.
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During the Year, the Board has engaged an external professional advisor
to conduct the annual review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the Year. The review has covered financial,
operational and compliance control and some recommendations were
provided in the internal control review report. All recommendations are
properly followed up by the Group. Therefore, the Board considered
that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group are

effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

During the Year, Mr. Cheng King Yip, the Company Secretary, has received
over fifteen (I5) hours of relevant professional trainings to refresh his skills

and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company and carrying voting right at general meetings can send a
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary to request for

convening a special general meeting (“SGM").

The written requisition should be deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2601, 26/F., West Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong (shall be
changed to 2Ist Floor, CMA Building, 64 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong with effect from | July 2025), for the attention of the Company
Secretary. The written requisition must state the proposed resolution(s),
accompanied by a statement of the matters referred in the proposed

resolution(s) and signed by the shareholders concerned.
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The identities and eligibility of the requisitionist(s) will be verified with
the Company’s branch share registrar and upon its confirmation that the
requisitionist(s) is/are eligible to give such requisition, the Company will
then proceed to convene a SGM within twenty-one (21) days of the
deposit of the requisition. The actual SGM shall be held within two (2)

months after the deposit of the written requisition.

Making Proposals at Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders who wish to make a proposal at shareholders” meeting shall
request for the convening of a SGM in accordance with the procedure
under the paragraph headed “Convening a Special General Meeting”

above.

Procedures for Nomination of Directors for Election

Shareholders who wish to nominate a person to stand for election as a
director at general meetings shall lodge the following documents at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2601,
26/F, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong, provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such documents are given, shall be at least seven (7) days
and that the period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to

the date of such general meeting:

0 notice in writing signed by the shareholder of his intention to

propose such person for election (“Nominated Candidate”);

(i) notice in writing signed by the proposed Nominated Candidate of

his willingness to be elected; and

(i) the biographical details of the Nominated Candidate as required
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules for publication by the
Company.
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AMENDMENT TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no significant changes to

the Company's constitutional document.

The Company will propose amendments to its Bye-laws at the forthcoming
annual general meeting in order to comply with the latest amendments to

the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company discloses relevant information to shareholders through
the Company's annual and interim reports, notices, announcements and
circulars as well as the general meetings. The general meetings allow

directors to meet and communicate with shareholders.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website
is maintained to disseminate announcements, various corporate
communications and other relevant financial and non-financial information

of the Company electronically on a timely basis.

The Board conducted a review of the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy during the Year and the Board is

satisfied with the results thereof given the above measures.

ENQUIRIES TO THE COMPANY OR THE BOARD

We always welcome shareholders’ view and input. Shareholders and other
stakeholders may at any time address their concerns to the Company

Secretary by mail, facsimile or email. The contact details are as follows:

Address: Room 2601, 26/F, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
(shall be changed to 2Ist Floor, CMA Building,

64 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong with effect
from | July 2025)

(852) 3102 0899

Email: info@zhongjiagx.com

Facsimile no.:

30 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | F7 1B 1A% A% 9 B BR 2

EHE - 8C:

RBE_FT_AF=ZA=1t—HLFE &K
RAZEEXMALESEREE -

7z

ARARREERRBFEAG LIRZH QA
AAMERTA - ARE LR AR SHER -

RER BB

AREBAATZER - FHEE B
CAERBREURBEAS REEBEN
BE - REASTRSESTEARESER

2 ©

\
/

N

+ OF Bt

S
&itl

AE—SRBERZ R AATNREAT
@3 WERE T EEARENAAAZA

RS TN E ] e
A -

EXeCEHAFERRBEBARRNERE
ARBHE  BESSEMNALEBRABES
2R

BARNEETSREEN

BRI BA IR MR MR B R AR -
R R R K 04540 % T B ) 2 A A
5 BEREBHABHBIFES AL

Al BEAREIBT

HHE BEXETmET 168-2005% 2
LT EE26122601 E
(BZZE=AFtA—RAE &
BREBPIRTHBFRARH
HMEARNE2IE)

BEESRE © (852) 3102 0899

BEHIL ©  info@zhongjiagx.com



BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), | am
pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company the annual report
and audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 3| March
2025 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year, the Group's revenue amounted to approximately
HK$20,044,000 (2024: HK$14,160,000), reflecting growth despite
challenging market conditions. The increase was primarily driven by the
Group's bottled mineral water business, which commenced production
in March 2024. The management of Hunan Xintian has been actively
expanding its customer base and promoting its water products to enhance
sales and market penetration.

However, the post-pandemic global economy remains subdued, and the
PRC's economic recovery has been slow, with no immediate signs of rapid
improvement. The property market, in particular, has weakened further,
leading to a decline in the Group’s revenue from developed property
sales in the PRC. Meanwhile, rental and management fee income from
investment properties showed resilience, partially offsetting the downturn
in property sales.

Cost of Sales

For the Year, cost of sales of the Group was approximately
HK$19,266,000 (2024: HK$3,215,000), including the cost of properties
sold of approximately HK$ 1,084,000 (2024: HK$2,162,000) and cost
of bottled mineral water sold of approximately HK$ 18,182,000 (2024:
HK$1,053,000). The decrease in cost of properties sold was in line with the
decrease in revenue from sales of properties. The cost of bottled mineral
water sold for the Year comprised mainly of the amortisation of water
mining right of approximately HK$10,01 1,000 (2024: HK$952,000).

Gross Profit

For the Year, the Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
HK$778,000 (2024: HK$10,945,000). The gross profit was mainly
attributable to the rental income generated from the investment properties
in Suzhou, Zhejiang and Beijing.
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Other Gains

During the current year, the Group recorded other income of
approximately HK$501,000 (2024: HK$18,813,000). This decrease is
mainly due to no such non-recurring income during the Year.

Other Losses

For the Year, the Group recorded other losses of approximately
HK$201,000 (2024: HK$4,277,000). The decrease in other losses was
mainly attributable to the decrease in currency exchange losses on the
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in RMB resulting from more

stable Renminbi (“RMB") exchange rate during the Year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the Year, selling and distribution expenses of the Group remained
stable at approximately HK$ 1,090,000 (2024: HK$831,000). They are
mainly attributable to the expenditures on the management, maintenance

and repairs of the investment properties.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consisted of directors’ emoluments,
other staff costs and benefits, depreciation, legal and professional fees,
land and property taxes and other general office expenses, which were
approximately HK$29,703,000 for the Year (2024: HK$39,847,000).
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in professional fees as no

acquisition or disposal transactions occurred during the Year.

Share of Results of Associates

For the Year, the share of losses of associates was approximately
HK$ 11,696,000 (2024: HK$11,425,000) which were mainly attributable
to the depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of
water procurement permit of the associate in Guangxi. The increase in

losses was mainly due to the increase in operating loss of the associate.
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Finance Costs
For the Year, the finance costs of the Group was approximately
HK$ 1,258,000 (2024: HK$773,000), which mainly represented the interest

on secured bank loans and other payables.

Material Impairment Loss and Fair Value Loss on Assets
Post-pandemic economy has been depressing in the global market. The
overall economy in the PRC remains stagnant and is unlikely to recover
quickly in the near future. Due to the unfavourable market sentiment
and low consumers’ demands in the PRC, the business of the Group has
suffered significant impacts and certain assets of the Group were impaired.
For the Year, the Group recognised material impairment loss and fair value

loss on assets from continuing operations including:

(i)  provision for impairment loss on intangible assets of approximately
HK$91,378,000 (2024: HK$29,230,000) (details of which are set out

in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements);

(i) loss from changes in fair value of investment properties of
approximately HK$315,973,000 (2024: HK$67,212,000) (details of

which are set out in note |8 to the consolidated financial statements);

(i) provision for impairment loss on the remaining deposits paid
for Beijing Properties of approximately HK$43,103,000 (2024:
reversal of impairment loss on the deposits paid of approximately
HK$74,832,000) was recognised for the Year; and

(iv) An impairment loss on the interests in associates of approximately
HK$63,904,000 (2024: HK$780,000) was provided for the Year
(details of which are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial

statements).

There was no material impairment loss or fair value loss on assets from the

discontinued operations for the Year.
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Loss attributable to Owners of the Company

For the Year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the
Company, which amounted to approximately HK$451,554,000 (2024:
HK$8,347,000). The increase in loss was mainly attributable to:

(i) provision for impairment loss on deposits paid for acquisition of
Beijing Properties as the fair value of properties to be transferred to

the Group as refund of deposits paid dropped during the Year;
(ii) increase in impairment loss on intangible assets;
(iii) increase in impairment loss on interests in associates; and

(iv) increase in loss from change in fair value of investment properties.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group continued to focus on its core businesses in water business,
property development, mining business and property investment business

during the Year.

In the post-pandemic era, the overall economy in the PRC remains
stagnant. The Group is facing more challenges, including but not limited
to downturn of the property market, unfavourable market sentiment
and low consumers’ demands in the PRC. The Group is proactively and
continuously taking actions to mitigate the adverse impacts of the pandemic
on the Group. Nevertheless, our core businesses are inevitably adversely
affected to some extent.

Water Business

The Group recorded a loss from water business segment of approximately
HK$99,820,000 for the Year (2024: HK$34,453,000). The increase in loss
from water business segment was mainly due to the increase in impairment
loss on the water mining right possessed by the subsidiary of the Company
in Hunan.

Water Production and Sales

The Group holds 20% equity interests in Hong Kong Spring Water Ding
Dong Group Company Limited which has a wholly-owned subsidiary in
Guangxi, Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong Beverages Company Limited*
(“Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong”). Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong
possesses a water procurement permit for production and sales of bottled

water and is currently in operation in Guangxi.

*  For identification purpose only
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During the Year, the Group shared losses of associates of approximately
HK$ 11,696,000 (2024: HK$ 1 1,425,000), which were mainly attributable
to the depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of
water procurement permit of the associate in Guangxi. The increase in

losses was mainly due to the increase in operating loss of the associate.

The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the interests in associates
as at 31 March 2025 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer. An impairment loss on the interests in
associates of approximately HK$63,904,000 (2024: HK$780,000) was
provided for the Year. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in

note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Water Mining

The Group holds 67% equity interests in Good Union (China) Limited
(*Good Union"), which has a wholly-owned subsidiary in Hunan, Hunan
Xintian Strontium Rich Mineral Water Co., Ltd.* (*Hunan Xintian"). Hunan
Xintian possesses a water mining right for exploitation of mineral water in
Hunan. The construction of the factory buildings was completed in 2023
and the installation of machinery and equipment was also completed during

the Year. The commercial production has commenced in March 2024.

For the Year, the Group recognised revenue from the sales of bottled
mineral water of approximately HK$4,892,000 (2024: HK$50,000).
The management of Hunan Xintian is actively soliciting customers and
promoting its water products in order to enhance its turnover and

customer bases.

The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the water mining right
as at 31 March 2025 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer. An impairment loss on the water mining right
of approximately HK$83,400,000 (2024: HK$29,230,000) was provided for
the Year. The water mining right was further impaired which was resulted
from the unfavourable market sentiment and low consumers’ demands in
the PRC. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 21 to

the consolidated financial statements.

*  For identification purpose only
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The minority shareholder who holds 33% shareholding of Good Union
has committed to provide a production volume guarantee of the water
mining business in Hunan to the Group for the years from 2019 to 2028.
The compensation relating to the failure to fulfil the production volume
guarantee for the years 2019 and 2020 of approximately RMB2 1,936,000
was mutually agreed between the minority shareholder and the Group in
2021. As at the date of this report, the minority shareholder has paid the
compensation and interest of approximately RMB22,685,000 to the Group.

The production volume guarantee of the years 2021, 2022 and 2023 were
not satisfied due to the delay in construction works of the factory building
in Hunan resulting from the stringent precautionary measures during the
COVID-19 pandemic. For the compensation for the years 2021, 2022 and
2023, the Group is still negotiating with the minority shareholder.

The Group has been considering the various possible arrangements on
the production Volume Guarantee for the years 2021, 2022 and 2023 in
order to strike a balance between duly and properly safeguarding its assets
and ensuring a sustainable business of the Target Group in the long run.
As at the date of this report, there is not yet any details of the possible

arrangement concluded by the Company.

Mining Business

The Group recorded a loss from mining business segment of approximately
HK$8,465,000 for the Year (2024: HK$194,000). The loss from mining
business segment was mainly due to the operating expenses and provision
for impairment loss on mining right. Details of Jiuyuan Mine and Jinhao Mine

are set out below.
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Jiuyuan Mine

The Group holds 100% equity interests in Yonyin Investment Holdings
Limited (“Yonyin"). Yonyin's indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, ZhenYuan
County JiuYuan Mining Co., Ltd.* (“Jiuyuan”) holds a mining licence with
minerals of lead and zinc located at Jiujia Township, Zhenyuan County,
Pu'er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC* (FEIERAE L EMETHENLF
#8).

The mining sector operates within PRC's stringent national regulatory
framework. In recent years, the Ministry of Ecology and Environment has
progressively enhanced pollution control policies through comprehensive
implementation of the “Three Lines and One List” governance mechanism
(encompassing Ecological Conservation Redlines, Environmental Quality
Baselines, Resource Utilization Ceilings, and Ecological Environment
Access Lists). These requirements now constitute fundamental compliance
benchmarks for industry operations. Within this regulatory context, the
expected time of commencement of commercial production of Jiuyuan
has been affected. Following an on-site inspection by regulatory authorities
in early 2024, the Group received directives mandating completion
of specified facility enhancements and process optimizations prior to
commencement of commercial production. Furthermore, supplementary
guidance from local regulators in early 2025 further verbally instructed
that the project is required to complete specialised certification protocols
and demonstrate compliance with core standards, including ecological
preservation, production safety, and sustainable resource utilization, before

commencing commercial operations.

The Group is now using its best endeavour to fulfill regulatory
requirements. After comprehensive evaluation of current compliance
progression and certification requirements, including extended regulatory
adjustment cycles arising from evolving standards, natural validation periods
for environmental engineering components, and multi-tiered approval
procedures. The Group has prudently adjusted the expected commercial

production commencement to the 4th quarter of 2026.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the mining right of Jiuyuan
as at 31 March 2025 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer. An impairment loss on exploration and
mining right of approximately HK$7,978,000 (2024: Nil) was provided for
the Year. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 21 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Jinhao Mine

The Group holds 73.1% equity interests in Yongming Investment Holdings
Limited (“Yongming”). Yongming's indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,
ZhenYuan County JinHao Mining Co., Ltd.* (“Jinhao”) holds an exploration
licence with minerals of copper, lead and silver located at Enshui Road
(Minjiang Market Section), Zhenyuan Yi Hani Lahu Autonomous County,
Pu’er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC* (‘:F' HEfRE T EMETELETE
R R ER B EKE(RIIEEMISR)).

Jinhao is in the process of applying the mining licence in accordance with
established procedures. Under the original plan, production was expected
to commence in the second half of 2025. However, project progress now

requires phased adjustments due to the following critical factors:

As the project site in Pu'er City is designated an important ecological
barrier zone in the upper reaches of the Yangtze River, it has been
formally classified as a key mineral resource monitoring area under Yunnan
Province's Mineral Resources Master Plan (2021-2025) (issued October
2022). This policy mandates, upgraded approval mechanisms requiring
provincial-level direct review of new mining rights; multi-departmental
joint evaluations (natural resources, ecological protection, emergency
management); and Continuously enhanced ecological standards, including
new requirements such as cross-border ecological corridor assessments
and carbon offset obligations, which have substantially extended the

approval timeline.
Additionally, developing the mining licence necessitates infrastructure

investments totalling tens of millions of RMB, while the Group’s current

cash reserves remain insufficient to cover these costs.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group is now using its best endeavour to seek diversified financing
solutions, including, negotiating project loans with financial institutions;
exploring strategic investor partnerships and researching feasibility for
government special-fund applications. As at the date of this report, there
is not yet any agreement, arrangement, understanding or negotiation on

potential financing concluded by the Group.

Following a comprehensive assessment of approval progress and funding
efforts, the projected production commencement is now prudently
adjusted to the second half of 2026. The Group will continue optimizing
implementation plans, integrating policy and market resources, while strictly
complying with provincial ecological and safety regulations to support

efficient project advancement.

The Group reviewed the recoverable amount of the exploration right of
Jinhao as at 31 March 2025 with reference to a valuation report issued by
an independent qualified valuer. No impairment loss was provided for the
Year (2024: Nil). Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note

2| to the consolidated financial statements.

Property Development and Investment Business

The Group recorded a loss from property development and investment
segment of approximately HK$362,009,000 for the Year (2024: profit of
approximately HK$18,320,000). The turnaround from profit to loss was

mainly due to:

(i) provision for impairment loss on deposits paid for acquisition of
Beijing Properties as the fair value of properties to be transferred to

the Group as refund of deposits paid dropped during the Year; and

(ii) increase in loss from change in fair value of investment properties.

For the Year, the Group recorded revenue from property development
and investment segment of approximately HK$ 15,152,000 (2024:
HK$14,110,000). Details of the increase in revenue are set out in the

property projects in Dalian, Zhejiang and Suzhou below.
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Property Development

Dalian Properties

The indirect wholly-owned subsidiary in Dalian, the PRC, Dalian Chuanghe
Landmark Co Ltd.* (“Dalian Chuanghe”), engages in the development of
urban land for residential usage in Dalian and plans to develop 55 buildings
with 2| buildings in the first phase (“Phase I") and 34 buildings in the
second phase (“Phase II") at Beibu District, Jinshitan, Jinzhou New District,
Dalian, the PRC* (REBIRE MR E A EILER).

Phase I, named “Xin Tian Jia Yuan”, was completed in March 2019 and
recognised as the completed properties held for sale of the Group.
There are 21 buildings established in Phase | with total saleable area of
approximately 42,540 square metres including 4 eight-storey apartments
(NEE), 9 garden villas (F/5) and 8 garden houses (BtHERIZE). Dalian
Chuanghe commenced to hand over the properties to buyers in April
2019. For the Year, approximately 181 square metres of properties
were handed over and revenue of approximately HK$ 1,186,000 (2024:
HK$1,788,000) was recorded. Due to the downturn of the property
market in the PRC, consumers’ behaviors have changed. They tend to
be more conservative and take a wait-and-see attitude towards property
investment, which has substantially affected the sales of property. As a

result, the revenue from sales of properties decreased during the Year.

Up to 31 March 2025, an aggregate of approximately 81% of the total
saleable area of Phase | have been handed over to the buyers. As at 3|
March 2025, Dalian Chuanghe had sale contracts with contract amount of
approximately RMB37,597,000 with gross saleable areas of around 5,027
square metres which are expected to be handed over to buyers in the near
future. Under the unfavourable property market sentiment, it is challenging
to sell all the remaining unsold units in Phase | of the Dalian Properties in
the near future. However, the management of Dalian Chuanghe are closely
monitoring the property market condition and is using its best endeavor to

promote and sell the remaining unsold units.

The Group reviewed the market value of the completed properties held for
sale as at 31 March 2025 with reference to a valuation report issued by an
independent qualified valuer using market approach in the assessment of the
valuation. For the Year, provision for impairment loss on completed properties
held for sale of approximately HK$2,725,000 (2024: reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$270,000) was made. Details of the impairment

assessment are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

*  For identification purpose only

Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | A7 A1 {12 % % 5 B BR A 7

WERE

KEYF
RPEKEZEE2ENE R KERM
EMARAR(TRELIMDRAREREFE
A ETERS - Y8RP RRES
MRS A B EFAESSERET - AR E
—H(T—H ) R21EEF - FH([=H#])
B4EETF o

—H[OAEBIER-ZE—NF=ABT
WHERBAEERIELEZEEZXME - —
HRBIEETF - RO EMEL B42,540F
FoK - BIENENSE - UEFEE R\
PERIE - REAIMN = —NFMHARBR
BERRXMWE - RAFE - L9181 FFHKH
M B TR ERIFAY 1,186,000 L (=F
ZPO4F ¢ 1,788,000/ 7T ) KIUA o A B
EMGERE  BEFTREBEARE - F#F
RRTFUWEMERERDBEREE - BRE
ZYREHE At - AFEREWMEHEN
WABFTREL °

BHE-_ZT-_RF=A=+—H —HixngE
AEERBRARABINERINLEER - R=-T
—HEF=A=+—H REAFMBEEHNLHE
AN REE37,597,000CHISHE G K - BAEH
TRA5,027F 7K - FHEABE R A A B R T
BER - AREHEMSTENE  BHAL
EREME-—HMEFEEMEBHENE -
AT - REERINH B ER Y ERYE M5
MA - WERENHEREBER T FEEN -

REEL2RBY A ARG ER TS AT
MEMLENGERS Tz T FEHEZ
DERYER S -_RAF=A=+—HHH
BEE RAFE  BEELENEEXY
FELRERBEEEZ27250008 T (==
ZPUE - BIEOREE 1B 42700008 T) © B
BRET SR FIBE NGRS ISR ER 24 o



BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
EESAAEERENWR O

Phase Il is recognised as the properties under development of the Group.
The Group planned to develop 34 buildings with aggregate saleable area
of approximately 69,000 square metres. The development of Phase Il is
in preliminary stage. Due to (i) the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic
since the beginning of 2020; (ii) the debt crisis of some of the property
developers in the PRC since mid-2021; and (iii) the downturn of the
property market in the PRC, the development of Phase Il has been delayed
and rescheduled.

On 27 January 2022, Dalian Chuanghe received an idle land decision
from Dalian Municipal Bureau of Natural Resources* (KT B AE
JRJ®), pursuant to which the land of Phase Il was determined to be in
idle condition. Therefore, there is a risk that the land of Phase Il being
repossessed by the PRC government authorities without compensation.
The management of Dalian Chuanghe is actively negotiating and
communicating with the PRC government authorities to lift the decision
of idle status and to avoid land repossession by the PRC government

authorities without compensation.

Up to the date of this report, the legal title of the land of Phase Il still
remained under the control of the Company despite the idle land decision.
No further action was taken by the PRC government authorities and the

Company was not aware of any exact timeline of the repossession.

The Board has reviewed and reconsidered the development plan of Phase
[l. The construction material costs has continuously increased in recent
years, which led to the increase in the development costs. However, the
selling price of the properties in Dalian has dropped due to the debt crisis
of some of the property developers in the PRC since mid-2021| and the
downturn of the property market in the PRC. As a result, the projected
profit margin of developing Phase Il has dropped significantly. Therefore,
the Board considered that developing the land of Phase Il under the
current market condition is not in the best interest of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole. Nevertheless, the management are still using
its best endeavors to avoid land repossession by the PRC government
authorities without compensation. In the meantime, the Group is also
identifying a buyer to purchase the land of Phase Il. However, the Group

was still not able to identify and secure a buyer.

*  For identification purpose only
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Nevertheless, given that property development is a highly profitable
business, the Company does not intend to cease such business. Rather, the
Company has always been prepared to continue its property development
business whenever market opportunities arise. Given the recent market
conditions of the property market in the PRC, the economic uncertainties
and the increasing costs of construction resulting from the global inflation,
the Company has adopted a conservative approach on its property

development business for the time being.

Property Investment

Beijing Properties

The Group entered into an acquisition agreement on 28 February 2017 to
purchase (a) office premises with an aggregate gross floor area of 8,335
square metres and (b) underground car park with an aggregate gross floor
area of 3,100 square metres located at Phase Ill of Beijing Convention
and Exhibition International Port (Exhibition Centre Ancillary Facilities)
Project* (It R g REBIEBREEERMEIE B % =Hi) for a consideration
of approximately RMB220,000,000 (subject to adjustment). The Group has
paid the consideration of RMB200,000,000 in accordance with the payment

terms stated in the acquisitions agreement as deposits.

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, construction works were
temporarily suspended and the vendor failed to hand over the properties
to the buyer in accordance with the agreed schedule. The Group took
legal action against the vendor for the material delay in handover of the
properties. Since the vendor has still not handed over the properties in 2023,
the vendor has undertaken with the Group to refund the entire deposit
to the Group. As the vendor was in financial difficulties, the vendor has
undertaken to (i) refund the deposit by transferring certain properties in
Beijing held by the vendor and (ii) pay an additional cash compensation of
RMB8,000,000 to the Group. As at 31 March 2024, the vendor has fully paid
the cash compensation of RMB8,000,000 and transferred 4 properties with
the aggregate Consideration of approximately RMB44,381,600 to the Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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On 25 June 2023 and |3 July 2023, the four properties which have
been transferred to the Group were reclassified from deposits paid to
investment properties of the Group. These properties are currently
leased to tenants for rental income. For the Year, the Group recorded
rental income from these properties of approximately HK$453,000 (2024:
HK$518,000).

The Group reviewed the market values of the properties transferred and
proposed to transfer to the Group as refund as at 31 March 2025 with
reference to a valuation report issued by an independent qualified valuer
using market approach. A loss from change of fair value of the properties
transferred which are recognised as investment properties of the Group, of
approximately HK$2 1,029,000 (2024: HK$384,000) was recognised for the
Year. Details of the fair value assessment of these investment properties
are set out in note |8 to the consolidated financial statements. Apart
from this, provision for impairment loss on the remaining deposits paid
for Beijing Properties of approximately HK$43,103,000 (2024: reversal of
impairment loss on the deposits paid of approximately HK$74,832,000)
was recognised for the Year. Details of the impairment assessment of
the deposits paid are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Up to the date of this report, the vendor has further transferred
2 properties with the aggregate Consideration of approximately
RMB80,482,620 to the Group, and refunded in total of RMB16,000,000 in
cash (RMBI 1,170,000 as refund of part of the Deposit and RMB4,830,000
as cash compensation of late refund) to the Group. For details, please refer
to the Company’s announcements dated 29 April 2025 and |5 May 2025.
The remaining properties are expected to be transferred as refunds of

deposits in 2025.
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Given that the vendor was actively settling its liabilities, the Group has
temporarily refrained from taking further actions against the vendor. While
the Group reserves all its rights against the vendor and in order to minimize
its loss as far as possible, the PRC lawyer and the Group are, and will

continue to, follow up and closely monitor the refund progress.

Zhejiang Properties

The Group holds the land use rights in respect of an industrial land parcel
with site area of approximately 31,950 square metres and a two-storey
industrial building with a total gross floor area of approximately 45,330
square metres together with another land parcel with a total site area of
approximately 74,960 square metres located at Chen Village, Shanghua
Street, Lanxi City, Jinhua, Zhejiang Province, the PRC* (FF BIH#T)T & € 5
R R EEEIL).

The industrial lands and building are currently leased to tenants for
rental income. The Group recorded rental income of approximately
HK$5,227,000 for the Year (2024: HK$4,394,000), representing an increase
primarily due to renewal lease agreement with higher rental rates and

improved tenant restructuring.

The Group reviewed the market value of Zhejiang Properties as at 3|
March 2025 with reference to a valuation report issued by an independent
qualified valuer using market approach in the assessment of the valuation.
The gain from change in fair value of Zhejiang Properties of approximately
HK$ 109,000 (2024: loss from change in fair value of HK$11,689,000) was
recognised for the Year. Details of the fair value assessment are set out in

note |8 to the consolidated financial statements.

*  For identification purpose only
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Suzhou Properties

The Group holds the land use rights in respect of several buildings with
total construction area of approximately 14,798 square metres together
with the land parcel with a total site area of approximately 20,841 square
metres located at 6 Waiwujingnong, Suzhou, Jiangsu, the PRC* (FF [B)T &k
BEIMNHINRIEFF65R).

The Suzhou Properties comprise a garden-style hotel in Suzhou for travel,
vacation, conference and meeting. It was being leased out by the Group
for rental income and the tenants operated the same as, inter alia, business
clubs, featured business boutique hotels, restaurants, shops, offices, etc.
For the Year, the Group recorded rental and management fee income of
approximately HK$7,555,000 (2024: HK$7,410,000).

While the post-pandemic economic environment in the PRC previously
impacted tourism and business activities, leading to some tenant turnover
in prior years, the leasing situation has since stabilised during the year.
The Group has maintained steady occupancy and rental rates, reflecting

improved market resilience and effective tenant retention strategies.

The Group is now using its best endeavour to identify and solicit new
tenants for the vacant units in the Suzhou Properties. The Company is
confident that, once the market conditions improve, the demand for
tourism properties will increase and the occupancy rate of the Suzhou
Properties will improve accordingly. The Company intends to adopt a more
progressive approach in securing new tenants, including but not limited to
(i) carry out more active marketing of the properties available for lease;
(ii) offer more competitive rental packages for potential tenants; and (iii)

engage more real estate agents to secure potential tenants.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group reviewed the market value of Suzhou Properties as at 3|
March 2025 with reference to a valuation report issued by an independent
qualified valuer using market approach in the assessment of the valuation.
The loss from change in fair value of Suzhou Properties of approximately
HK$295,053,000 (2024: HK$55,139,000) was recognised for the Year.
Details of the fair value assessment are set out in note |8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Yantian Properties (Discontinued operations)

(A) The Group entered into an acquisition agreement on 24 June 2014, a
supplemental agreement on |5 April 2015, the second supplemental
agreement on |2 July 2016, the third supplemental agreement on
7 May 2017 and the fourth supplemental agreement on 3 May
2018 to purchase the property at a consideration of approximately
RMB 100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$126,000,000).

The property comprises 46 units of Jinma Creative Industry Park
(formerly known as “Kingma Information Logistic Park™) which is
situated at Depot No. 2, 3rd Road and Shenyan Road Intersect, Inner
Logistic Park, Yantian Bonded Area, Yantian District, Shenzhen City,
the PRC* (1 BI7RYII 7 &8 FA [ B8 AR AR T (2 4000 B 10 = 5% % R B
PR MERE — 57 ¥ %) (“Jinma Creative Industry Park”) with a total

gross floor area of approximately 8,699 square metres.

*  For identification purpose only
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As at 3| March 2025, the Group had obtained physical possession
of the property and paid conditionally refundable deposit in the
aggregate sum of RMB90,000,000 in accordance with the payment
terms stated in the sales and purchase agreement. The remaining
balance of the consideration of approximately RMB 10,000,000 shall
be paid within 30 days from the date on which the relevant building
ownership certificates are issued in favour of the purchaser which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Jinma Industry
Park Purchaser”). The vendor shall register the title of the property
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser on or before 31

December 2018 (or such other date as may be mutually agreed).

The Group entered into the second acquisition agreement on |5
May 2015, a supplemental agreement on |2 July 2016, the second
supplemental agreement on |7 May 2017 and the third supplemental
agreement on 3 May 2018 to purchase additional property at a
consideration of approximately RMB65,100,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$81,400,000). The property comprises 30 units
of Jinma Creative Industry Park with a total gross floor area of

approximately 5,400 square metres.

As at 3| March 2025, the Group had obtained physical possession
of the property and paid conditionally refundable deposit in the
aggregate sum of RMB60,000,000 in accordance with the payment
terms stated in the sale and purchase agreement. The remaining
balance of the consideration of approximately RMB5, 100,000 shall be
paid within 30 days from the date on which the property is registered
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser. The vendor shall
register the title of the property under the name of the Jinma Industry
Park Purchaser on or before 31 December 2018 (or such other date

as may be mutually agreed).

(B)
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(C) The Group entered into the third acquisition agreement on |0
November 2015, a supplemental agreement on |7 May 2017
and the second supplemental agreement on 3 May 2018 to
purchase additional property at a consideration of approximately
RMBI101,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$122,000,000). The
property acquired was a single-storey reinforced concrete building
designated for office and storage uses located at Block 2 of Jinma
Creative Industry Park with a total gross floor area of approximately

4,957 square metres.

As at 3| March 2025, the Group had obtained physical possession
of the property and paid conditionally refundable deposit in the
aggregate sum of RMB100,000,000 in accordance with the terms of
payment stated in the sale and purchase agreement. The remaining
balance of the consideration of approximately RMB 1,600,000 shall be
paid within 30 days from the date on which the property is registered
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser. The vendor shall
register the title of the property under the name of the Jinma Industry
Park Purchaser on or before 31 December 2018 (or such other date

as may be mutually agreed).

For Yantian Properties (A), (B) and (C) as described above, as at the date
of this report, the vendor has still not registered the titles of the properties
under the name of the Jinma Industry Park Purchaser. The approval
from the PRC government authority for issuing the building ownership
certificates remained pending. In April 2021, the Company received the
second letter from the vendor requesting for an extension of the deadline
to 31 December 2021 for handling the matter of building ownership
certificates. However, due to the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the registration of building ownership certificates has not been completed
by the extended deadline. The Company has engaged a PRC law firm to

negotiate with the vendor to resolve this matter.

Given the title defects in the Yantian Properties, such properties do not
generate any revenue nor profit for the Group while the Group has to

expend certain costs in continuing to hold and maintain the same.
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On 27 April 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to dispose of the entire issued share capital of Century Strong Limited
and the shareholder’s loan advanced to Century Strong Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group"), at a consideration of RMB[50,000,000.
The wholly-owned subsidiaries of Century Strong Limited hold the naming
right and advertising right of Jimma Creative Industry Park and the Yantian
Properties (A), (B) and (C). The disposal constituted a very substantial
disposal transaction under the Listing Rules and was approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting held on 12 July
2023. The disposal is expected to be completed by early 2025. Details of
the disposal are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 2 May
2023 and the circular of the Company dated 23 June 2023.

As at 3| March 2025, the Disposal Group was stated at the fair
value equivalent to the consideration for disposal amounting to
RMB150,000,000.

In view of the assets owned by the Purchaser, the scale and diversity of her
businesses and further to the assessments made by the management on
the estimated value of the properties represented by real estate ownership
certificate provided by the Purchaser, the management concurs with the
view of the Purchaser that the aggregate value of the asset proof provided
by the Purchaser is estimated to be not less than the consideration
for the disposal, and considers that the Purchaser has the capability to
complete the disposal transaction. Therefore, as at 31 March 2025, there
was no indication of any impairment on the Disposal Group and the fair
value of the Disposal Group remained unchanged. The decrease in the
above amounts is mainly due to the exchange difference resulting from
the depreciation of RMB, which was recognised in other comprehensive

income.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it operates. As a responsible corporation,
the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and
employment in all material respects. The Group has also adopted effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste

reduction.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations
During the Year, there was no incident of material non-compliance with

any relevant laws and regulations for the Group.

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

During the Year, there were no material dispute between the Group and
its key stakeholders, including employees, customers, suppliers, banks,
regulators and shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key

stakeholders.

PROSPECTS

Although the Group has faced challenge from the aftermath of the
COVID-19 pandemic and the downturn of property market and economy
in the PRC during the Year, the Directors are optimistic about the
economic development of the PRC in the long run and believes that the
demands for water products and properties in the PRC will remain stable
and sustainable. The Group will continue to strengthen its competitive
strength in its core business, i.e. water business, property development,
mining business and property investment business and look for appropriate

business and investment opportunities in these areas.
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The Group has completed to acquire Jiuyuan and Jinhao. The acquisitions
represent an excellent opportunity for the Group to invest and tap
into in the natural resources industry in the PRC and are in line with
the development objective of the Group of becoming a market player
in the natural resources industry. The Group is looking forward for the

contributions from mining business in near future.

The Group will continue to endeavour to diversify its business and
asset portfolio in order to diverse the risks from its existing businesses.
Apart from its existing core business, the Group is actively studying the
feasibilities of expansion into energy-related business. The management

remains open for other business opportunities whenever the same arise.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save for disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group had no material

investments during the Year.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year
(2024: Nil).
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP
Placing of Shares on 3 August 2018

The net proceeds (net of all relevant costs and expenses) from placing
of shares under specific mandate on 3 August 2018 were approximately
HK$316,500,000. Details of the placing of shares were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated |7 April 2018 and 3 August 2018
respectively and the circular of the Company dated 5 June 2018.

Up to 31 March 2025, the Group had utilised the net proceeds as follows:
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Net proceeds of approximately HK$15.9 million has been utilised for the
use of capital expenditure on the production facilities of Hunan Xintian
during the Year. Due to the unexpected outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic in the past few years and the slower-than-expected economic
recovery after the pandemic, the upward trend of the PRC economy have
been obstructed. Since it may take time for the economy and the market
sentiment of the PRC to recover, Hunan Xintian has currently tuned
down the production scale from original plan. The Group may expand the
production scale in the future after taking into account the pace of recovery
of the PRC economy and the demand of the products. Therefore, the
unutilised net proceeds as at 3| March 2024 of approximately HK$21.9
million (2023: HK$37.8 million) are expected to be utilised by the first
quarter of 2031 for the expansion of production facilities of Hunan Xintian.
However, the utilization date may be subject to further amendments if the

market conditions do not favour such capital investments.

In view for a better use of the Company’s resources, the Board may
temporarily re-allocate the aforesaid unutilised net proceeds for other
uses. However, once the expected demand for our products exceeds our
production capacity, the Board will deploy the unutilised net proceeds
of approximately HK$21.9 million back to the capital expenditure on the

production facilities of Hunan Xintian.

Placing of Shares on 29 July 2022

The net proceeds (net of all relevant costs and expenses) from placing
of shares under general mandate on 29 July 2022 at the placing price of
HK$0.03 per share were approximately HK$29.51 million. The net placing
price was approximately HK$0.0295 per share. Details of the placing of
shares were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 5 July
2022 and 29 July 2022 respectively. The closing price of the shares on the
date of placing agreement was HK$0.03.
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Up to 31 March 2025, the Group had utilised the net proceeds as follows:

BEE-Z2-AF=A=+—A FEEEE
R ERESENT -

Remaining
Utilisation  balance of net
up to proceeds as at
Intended use of net proceeds Allocation of net proceeds 31 March 2025 31 March 2025
R-ZBZHF
HEE-%¥-1% =A=1-H
ZA=t-B  FBREFER
FEREFR 2 RERE FEREREZIE EfEA 5
% of net
HK$ million proceeds HK$ million HK$ million
{EFT SRR
BEAT FEAAL BEABT BEET
Working capital of the Group rEEzEEES 19.5] 66.1% 19.51 =
Potential investment BERE 10.00 33.9% 10.00 -
29.51 100.0% 29.51 =

Net proceeds of approximately HK$9.96 million has been utilised for the
use of potential investment during the Year. As at 31 March 2025, the
net proceeds had been fully utilised (2023: unutilised net proceeds was

approximately HK$9.96 million which was for potential investment).

Placing of Shares on 31 March 2023

The net proceeds (net of all relevant costs and expenses) from placing of
shares under general mandate on 3| March 2023 at the placing price of
HK$0.146 per share were approximately HK$ || million. The net placing
price was approximately HK$0.142 per share. Details of the placing of
shares were set out in the announcements of the Company dated |6 March
2023 and 31 March 2023 respectively. The closing price of the shares on
the date of placing agreement was HK$0.177.
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Up to 31 March 2025, the Group had utilised the net proceeds as follows:

BEE-_ZT_AF=A=1t—H X&EEHD®E
R SZIRFHEMT ¢

Remaining
Utilisation  balance of net
up to proceeds as at
Intended use of net proceeds Allocation of net proceeds 31 March 2025 31 March 2025
R-2ZE%
EE-®-5% =A=t-H
ZA=t-B  FRNEER
FEREREZRERRE FEREREZIE EfEA 2
% of net
HK$ million proceeds HK$ million HK$ million
{EFT SRR
BEBT FRANL BEET BEETL
Working capital of the Group rEEzEEES 1.0 100% 1.0 =
Net proceeds of approximately HK$1 1.0 million has been utilised for the RAFE - Fr{SsIEF 411,000,000 7T

use of working capital of the Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2024,
the net proceeds had been fully utilised (2023: unutilised net proceeds was
approximately HK$1 1.0 million which was for the working capital of the

Group).

Placing of Shares on 20 May 2024

The net proceeds (net of all relevant costs and expenses) from placing
of shares under general mandate on 20 May 2024 at the placing price of
HK$0.105 per share were approximately HK$19 million. The net placing
price was approximately HK$0.101 per share. Details of the placing of
shares were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 25 April
2024 and 20 May 2024 respectively. The closing price of the shares on the
date of placing agreement was HK$0.12.
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Up to 31 March 2025, the Group had utilised the net proceeds as follows:

BEE-ZT-AF=A=+-A FAREEE
BFEREFENT :

Remaining

Utilisation  balance of net

up to proceeds as at

Intended use of net proceeds Allocation of net proceeds 31 March 2025 31 March 2025

R-2ZE%

HEE-%¥-1% =A=1-H

ZA=t-B  FRNEER

FEREREZRERRE FEREREZIE EfEA 2
% of net

HK$ million proceeds HK$ million HK$ million
{EFT SRR

BEBT FRANL BEET BEETL

Working capital of the Group rEEzEEES 19.0 100% 190 =

Net proceeds of approximately HK$19.0 million has been utilised for the
use of working capital of the Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2025,
the net proceeds had been fully utilised.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2025, total equity attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$935,872,000 (2024: HK$1,343,790,000). The
decrease arose from the loss attributable to owners of the Company.
There were no other material change in the capital structure of the Group

during the Year.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the Group’s liquidity funds were primarily used to
invest in the development of our property business, mining business and
water business and for their operations and such funds were funded by a
combination of capital contribution by shareholders, borrowings as well as

cash generated from operation.

As at 31 March 2025, the total borrowings of the Group comprised
advances from independent third parties of approximately HK$ 13,350,000
(2024: HK$3,861,000) and secured bank borrowings of approximately
HK$8,669,000 (2024: HK$8,825,000). The advances from independent
third parties are interest-bearing at 7% to 10% per annum and repayable
within one year. The secured bank borrowings are interest-bearing at

4.615% per annum and repayable on |19 September 2026.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$1,388,147,000 (2024: HK$1,954,633,000) which was financed
by current liabilities of approximately HK$224,857,000 (2024:
HK$271,104,000), non-current liabilities of approximately HK$8,669,000
(2024: HK$8,825,000), non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$83,073,000 (2024: HK$117,414,000) and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$935,872,000 (2024: HK$1,343,790,000).

As at 31 March 2025, the current ratio of the Group was approximately
[.22 (2024: 1.03). Current ratio is calculated based on current assets
divided by current liabilities.

As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
0.022 (2024: 0.009). Gearing ratio is calculated based on total borrowings
divided by total equity.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

The Group has no material acquisition or disposal during the Year.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 10 June 2025, a total of 170,100,000 new shares of the Company
had been successfully placed by the placing agent to not less than six
placees at the placing price of HK$0.| per placing share under the general
mandate granted to the Directors by ordinary resolution passed at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2024. Upon
the completion of the aforesaid placing of new shares, the total number
of issued shares of the Company increased from 1,313,763,360 shares to
[,483,863,360 shares. Details of the placing of shares were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 20 May 2025, 4 June 2025 and |0
June 2025 respectively.

On 25 June 2025, the Company held an special general meeting and an
ordinary resolution was passed to approve the capital reorganisation which

involves the share consolidation, the capital reduction and the subdivision.

(1) Share consolidation
The share consolidation involved a consolidation of every ten (10)
issued and unissued ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.| each in
the share capital of the Company into one consolidated share of par
value of HK$1.00 each in the share capital of the Company. The share
consolidation became effective on 27 June 2025 and the total number

of issued shares of the Company became 148,386,336 shares.
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(2) Capital reduction
The capital reduction involved a reduction of the par value of
each issued consolidated share from HK$1.00 to HK$0.01 by (a)
eliminating any fraction of a consolidated share in the issued share
capital of the Company arising from the share consolidation in order
to round down the total number of the consolidated Shares to a
whole number; and (b) cancelling HK$0.99 of the paid-up capital of
the Company on each issued consolidated Share so that each issued
new share will be treated as one (1) fully paid-up share of par value of

HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company.

(3) Subdivision
The subdivision involved each authorised but unissued consolidated
shares be subdivided into one hundreds (100) authorised but

unissued new shares of par value HK$0.01 each.

For details of the capital reorganisation, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 2 June 2025 and 4 June 2025
and the circular of the Company dated 9 June 2025.

Save and except for those disclosed above and in note 48 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Board is not aware of any significant
events that have occurred subsequent to 31 March 2025 and up to the

date of this report which require disclosure herein.
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation in the exchange rate of
RMB, arising from relevant group entities’ monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currency for the Group's operating activities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy to
eliminate the currency exposures. Nevertheless, the management closely
monitors the relevant foreign currency exposure from time to time and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposures should the need

arise.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group had a total of 73 (2024: 66) employees in Hong Kong
and the PRC as at 3| March 2025. The total staff cost (staff salaries,
directors’ emoluments and other staff costs) for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$ 11,907,000 (2024: HK$11,938,000). Remuneration
packages are generally structured with reference to the market conditions
and individual performance. Apart from the mandatory provident fund and
statutory retirement benefits, the Group also provides medical benefits
and subsidises employees in various trainings and continuous education

programs.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

Save and except for those disclosed in note 4| to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have other capital commitments and

contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2025.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Save and except for those disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have other financial guarantee contracts as
at 31 March 2025.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

Save and except for those disclosed in note 19(ii) and 21(i) to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have other charges

over its assets as at 31 March 2025.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to our shareholders and business associates for their ongoing
support and extend our appreciation to our management team and staff

members for their contributions in the Year.

By order of the Board

Chan Wai Fung

Executive Director & chief executive officer

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The Directors of the Company present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3| March 2025 (the
“Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 88
to 89.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), pursuant
to which the Company may distribute dividends to the shareholders of the
Company by way of cash or shares. Any distribution of dividends shall be
in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and the distribution shall

achieve continuity, stability and sustainability.

The recommendation of any dividend is subject to the discretion of the
Board, and any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval
of the shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account, inter alia, the Group's earnings per share, the reasonable
return in investment of the investors and the shareholders in order to
provide incentive to them to continue to support the Group in their long-
term development, the financial conditions and business plan of the Group,

and the market sentiment and circumstances.
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The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no
assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific

periods.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the

Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 1,313,763,360 (2024: 938,402,800). Details of the share
capital of the Company are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the Year are set out in the
paragraph headed “BUSINESS REVIEW" under “BOARD OF DIRECTOR'S
STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” which
forms part of this Directors’ Report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES TEEBKRTHABEE

The Group's has identified the principal risks and uncertainties in the AEEEBRNAEEKEMETENTER
industries in which the Group operates. The risks and uncertainties may i R E - ZERR R TAMAZE
affect the operations and results of the Group. The principal risks and RYEAFENRERES ZEFFEAR

uncertainties include but not limited to the followings: RAAAREZEBRENRNATRIEA :
Risk factors and uncertainties Risk Responses
BEEERTRERE [ Bz 1=
(1) Revenue relied heavily on sales and leasing of Apart from the property development and property
properties investment businesses, the Group is also developing the
WA EXRBYREERES water business in Hunan. The water factory in Hunan has

commenced its commercial production in the first quarter
of 2024 and is currently generating sales. The development
of water business in Hunan will gradually diversify the
sources of income of the Group. In addition, the mining
business will bring new source of income to the Group in
the future. Moreover, the Group is also actively looking for
other potential investment projects and commodity trading
businesses to expand the source of revenue and diversify its
business.
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Risk factors and uncertainties

BEEER TEEREE

(2) Affected by various factors such as change in
policies of the PRC government, slowdown of the
PRC's economic growth and change in consumers’

preference, the property market in the PRC became

sluggish

XTBEBRFRRELC  FEKEERBENEE
EENRESZRARYE  TREVXHHER
R

(3) Failure to retain the land use rights in the PRC
REEREA B A L A4

Risk Responses

[ B =1

The Group pays close attention to the latest policies,
news and market trends relating to the property market
in the PRC from time to time, and formulates appropriate
business strategies in a timely manner to ensure that business
operations are in line with changes in the social, political,
economic and legal environment. The Group will continue
to implement its strategic development and strengthen
penetration and coverage in different regional markets to
reduce reliance on any specific market.
AEETREVNEETEMETSRANBER HEK
MSES  BERHEEENELERE  UERXBES
Danteg  BUA  RERERRENEL - AEES#
BEMRERBEER - MARTRMBRTISNZENRE
Z R ERERMERITS

The Group pays close attention to the latest land policies of
the PRC government and maintains communication with the
relevant authorities to protect our land use rights.
AEBEZYIREHBEBRARANTHBE - TFEA RIS
FIRITEE - UREL 2 R

Annual Report 2025 ¥

65



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

Risk factors and uncertainties

EkEERTEEREE

(4) Significant portion of our business relies on major

customers

RBONEBEREIRZEP

(5) Price fluctuations on minerals

REERNE

Risk Responses

2 Bex [E]

Major customers of the Group include tenants and
customers from sales of properties. The Group increased
investment properties in Beijing and will gradually hand over
more units in the future, thereby increasing rental income of
the Group and expanding its customer base. The Group also
pays close attention to the latest policies and news relating
to the PRC property market and formulates appropriate
operating strategies in a timely manner. At the same time,
the Group is actively developing other businesses such as
water business and mining business to expand its customer
bases.
AEENTIEZEXRFEREETIMEHEZER - A&E
BMTRRIERORENE  RETEEIRIRELE
7 MUHBEAREENHES WA RBATPE - A&H
MENREE M EYETISRFORE RS - E
B EE E LR - R AREBESEREIMES
WUKEREFERTS - ABEREE PR o

The Group pays close attention to the price fluctuations of
the metal markets and will formulate appropriate operating
strategies in a timely manner to ensure the stability of
revenue and profits.

AEETVEECEMSEROKE  SERGTEES
B LR - EARWARFBORE M -

Further, the Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: BE  AEBREEEHYLENERE TS
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), B (BEEERR  BERnsE RAFENE

credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management framework E) EERBRLEAREBESREM - KEFE

B8 ZON

also takes into account the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to ENEREEERGZED SR TSN TE
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Al - WERESRESAEETERIRNE

details are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ERFIRE o FHIFHN A M RAM S -
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution to shareholders.
However, a company shall not declare or pay a dividend, or make a

distribution out of contributed surplus, if:

(i) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they

become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share

premium accounts.

The Company has deficit as at 31 March 2025 which comprises contributed
surplus of approximately HK$180,057,000 less accumulated losses of
approximately HK$3,258,122,000. Accordingly, the Company has no

reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note |9 to the consolidated financial

statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Ouyang Yanling
Mr. Li Yuguo
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James
Mr. Li Xiaoming
Ms. Wen Junyi
(appointed with effect from 12 June 2024 and
resigned with effect from 26 March 2025)
Mr. Chan Wai Fung
(appointed with effect from 26 March 2025)

ZA/N Al s 9 3
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(iy HEEZE2REESEMERESR
& BBRITRAMBDGEEREHE -

R-ZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8 " ARQRHEE
A ERBIEEHERA180,057,000% TR
R E 18 493,258,122,00058 ¢ » Atk R =

ZTRAF=ZA=+—8  ARQRTEA DK
TRE 2 -

M~ BENRE
RAER - BHAREZNE - BERRE
2 BB A MIEREN 9 «

EEREERBELY

REEERESARERN  AAFZES
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BITEE
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T EEEE

2| BBkt

ZRERR R &
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang
Mr. Huang Yilin

Mr. Chen Dong Yao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ba Junyu
Mr. So Ting Kong
(appointed with effect from 22 May 2024 and
resigned with effect from 31 January 2025)
Mr. Wong Sung
(appointed with effect from 22 May 2024)
Mr. Xu Xingge
(appointed with effect from 22 May 2024)
Dr. Liang Jinxiang
(appointed with effect from 2 April 2025)

In accordance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules:

a.  Mr. So Ting Kong, Mr Wong Sung and Mr. Xu Xingge have received
the legal advice on 21 May 2024;

b.  Ms. Wen Junyi has received the legal advice on || June 2024; and

c.  Mr. Chan Wai Fung and Dr. Liang Jinxiang have received the legal
advice on 26 March 2025.

In accordance with Bye-Law 83(2) of the Company's Bye-laws, Mr. Chan

Wai Fung and Dr. Liang Jinxiang will retire at the forthcoming annual

general meeting, and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as

Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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In accordance with Bye-Law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Ouyang
Yanling, Mr. Li Yuguo, Mr. Liu Yan Chee James, Mr. Li Xiaoming, Mr. Yang
Xiaogiang, Mr. Huang Yilin, Mr. Chen Dong Yao, Mr. Ba Junyu, Mr. Wong
Sung and Mr. Xu Xingge will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as

Directors at the annual general meeting.

The term of office of each of the Independent Non-executive Directors is
three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual

general meetings as required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

None of the Directors has any unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debenture
of the Company or associated corporations

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 (the “Model Code”)
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the

“Listing Rules”) were as follows:

RBARB Z R EADRF 2 F A RIZE84(1)
% BE8T Lt  FEEEE  2RBHE
$~$ﬁ%ﬁ$*%$ﬁii‘ﬁﬂﬁﬁ

CRERZEELE  BATELE BEERER
@E%%Eh%ﬁﬁh%@iﬁQL%ﬁL
- MEREATEEBABRERRRBFK
SLERETES -

BEBUFRNTEEZEHR=F - EERE
ARBZ R BARERBRFBFAEG L
BERERBREL -

MEEFEARFNETFAMERBRT L
AHAKRER—FRKIEMBANBEECE
FERRERRIN) 2B AREMREAL ©
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Long positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company

Name of directors Capacity

ESHR 54

Liu Yan Chee James Beneficial owner

225 BEEERA

Huang Yilin Beneficial owner

IR BEEERA
Note:

The percentages calculated are based on the total number of issued shares of the Company of

[,313,763,360 Shares as at 3| March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or
the chief executives of the Company or their associates had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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(Note)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at 31 March 2025, there was no outstanding share options. During the
Year and up to the date of this Report, the Company did not have any

subsisting share option scheme or other share scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in respect of the Directors’ interests in securities
and share options, at no time during the Year, was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debt securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any other body

corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, so far as was known to the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company, the following persons (other than any director
and chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:

BT
R-B-RF=A=1+—0  BEEAEFR
2 BRE - BEATERESARE D
59 AR R AT (A5 1 AR AT B S B A
BiEtEl -

ESWBE RO SERERE 2ER

BEXHBEERNES 2 MEREMEE
EH o ARBHEEMMBARRAFEME
AR R B2 AT LR B - BUEALRF
ZEFAREWBARRRSEMEMEAEE
2B RER RS (BIEEER) mER -

TERRZERRXR

R-ZZE_AF=A=+—B REERAEARQ
Al EFBZITERABHMAM U TAL(RRFME
MEERTETHABRINRAR RN K&
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KEREERBIEXVERE2 R B35 & 2 &M ZAR
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Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder

BREEE HE

Yao Jigen (Note 2)

BRAEAR (HY72)

Full Tenda Development Limited
(Note 2)
EREZRARQA(MiE2)

Li Jia Yi

FER

Creation Financial Group Limited
(Note 3)
AIEERmEBBR AR (MZ3)

Chen Huaijun
RIZE
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Capacity

&t

Beneficial owner and interest in

controlled corporation
ERBEBARRZIZEGEE
EAES
Beneficial owner

BEmfEAA

Beneficial owner

ERmBEEA

i

L

Beneficial owner

i

ERmBEEA

A

Beneficial owner

BEmfEA A

Number of
issued ordinary

shares held

REZERT
EERHE

252,973,800

243,273,800

233,921,000

187,680,000

73,000,000

RER ARG RIEGER G 2R

Approximate
percentage of

the issued share
capital of the
Company

(Note 1)
EERAREBRITRA
ZEBHNES
(Kaz1)

19.20%

18.52%

17.81%

14.29%

5.56%



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEFWRE

Note I: The percentages calculated are based on the total number of issued shares of the

Company of 1,313,763,360 Shares as at 3| March 2025.

Note 2: Yao Jigen personally held 9,700,000 shares and Full Tenda Development Limited, a
company wholly and beneficially owned by Yao Jigen, holds 243,273,800 shares. The
total number of shares beneficially owned by Yao Jigen is 252,973,800 shares.

Note 3: Creation Financial Group Limited did not disclose its ultimate beneficial owner.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified and is not
aware of any other person who had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
as having an interest of 5% or more in the issued shares capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no transaction, arrangement
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during

the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company was a party during or at the end of the
year. The Board is not aware of any related party transactions during the
Year, which constituted a non-exempt connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter [4A of the Listing

Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 44

to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”
above, certain related party transactions set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions of
the Company but were fully exempted from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had not made any charitable donations (2024:
Nil).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The directors’ and officers’ liability insurance maintained by the Company
has expired on 20 May 2018. As the Company has not yet reached an
agreement with an insurer regarding the terms and insurance premium of
new insurance policy, the insurance cover in respect of legal action which
may be taken against the Directors of the Company has not been in place
since 2| May 2018. The Company will continue to liaise with the insurer on

the same.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the

Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or

existed during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 21.48% (2024: 30.7%) of the Group's total
revenue and the revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 68.17% (2024: 82.7%) of the Group's total

revenue.

During the Year, the costs incurred in respect of the Group's largest
supplier accounted for approximately 38.47% (2024: 32.4%) of the Group's
total cost of sales and the costs incurred in respect of the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 76.45% (2024: 48.6%) of the

Group's total cost of sales.

At no time during the Year, did a director, a close associate of a director
or a shareholder of the Company, which to the knowledge of the directors
owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital, have an

interest in any of the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is formulated on
the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. Apart from the
mandatory provident fund and statutory retirement benefits, the Group
also provides medical benefits and sponsored employees in different

training and continuous education program.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company are determined, taking
into account the Company’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to

shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their respective close
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the

Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on public information
available, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout

the Year.

AUDITORS

A resolution to re-appoint Reanda HK CPA Limited (formerly known
as Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited) as auditors of the Company and to
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Fung

Executive Director & chief executive officer

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN 2B AR

NeEEBETMBBEHAERAT

‘ REAN DA Reanda HK CPA Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ZHONG JIA GUO XIN HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong Jia Guo
Xin Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 88 to 258, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

HAREETER

EAREEIR(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BEMNFTNNEEZBRETSZE

Impairment assessment of exploration and mining right included in intangible assets

TR EE 2 B R R EREE 2R E R

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
SRR G W IREMEE21 ©

As at 3| March 2025, the carrying amount of the exploration and mining
rights included in intangible assets was approximately HK$346,001,000.
RIZB-RAF=ZA=1+—8 St ABHKEEZHRIRER ZKE
{E#9%346,001,000/8 7T °

As detailed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements,
exploration and mining activities have not yet commenced during the

year.

iR E M ERRMT 2 s - IR MRERABNER RS

The Group is required to consider any indication of impairment on the
mineral mining rights at the end of each reporting period. Management
determined the recoverable amount of the mineral mining rights based
on the fair value estimated by an independent external valuer who used
multi period excess earnings method, in which key assumptions included
expected price of mineral products, net profit margin and discount rate.
EREANERENRE BRERENVEFARELR - RIZFFILINE
REMERZHRBRANE(ATNERRIEEBRMER 2 EY
B - AR ERRFTRE G2 ATE - BEEEEERERE A WE
T

This area was significant to our audit due to the significance of the
balances, and the fact that management’s assessment of the recoverable
amount of the balances involved significant judgement.
HRRBEIFFTEANEEENARB AT NB B R EAHE
HEHEAEEEREE -

Our procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of exploration and mining right
included:
HYRRREEMEZREFGEZEFE
EE

* Assessing the appropriateness of
valuation methodology, key assumptions
and estimated used based on general
conditions of lead and zinc market;

o RIEIHREFED S —RAORF T E
ROBER L TEZERIXRGEFEEE
i

* Evaluating the competence, capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the
management's expert; and

- AHEEEBER I
KB R

BENh - FEM

* Checking the key assumptions including
expected price of lead and zinc, net profit
margin and discount rate against industry
data.
BOXBBEERIERR(BREBRE
B EHER  ARIRRIFEEK)

We found that the key assumptions were

supported by the available evidence.

BACEEIZBRRIBEAK -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

HAREETER

EAREEIR(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BMNFTNEEZBRETSE

Impairment assessment of water mining right included in intangible assets

FFABREEE 2 BRKEZBERN G

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

2RERE M MARMET21 ©

As at 3| March 2025, the carrying amounts of the water mining right
included in intangible assets was approximately HK$105,003,000.
RIZB-RAF=ZA=+—B S ABHREEZRKEZEHEOR
105,003,000/ 7T °

The Group is required to consider any indication of impairment on the
water mining right at the end of each reporting period. Management
determined the recoverable amount of the water mining right based on
the fair value estimated by an independent professional external valuer
who used multi period excess earnings method, in which key assumptions
included expected price of bottled mineral water, net profit margin and
discount rate.

EEEANSRERRZBEFKENTARETR - RIEBLEE
SMNERE(ERT 2 A 2 BB R e Z P st 2 A FE(EF I BRRE
ERERBRKZERER EHERRFRX) EEEBEEHRKEZ
QEEE
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Our procedures in relation to impairment

assessment of water mining right included:

HERKERE 2 REMEZIEFB2EE

* Assessing the appropriateness of valuation
methodology, key assumptions and
estimates used based on general conditions
of the bottled mineral water industry;

« REBMEBRKITEZ —BGIRFE AT
EAMMBERZE  TERKRMGHEE

&

* Evaluating the competence, capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the
management'’s expert; and

- HMEEEBER G BN FEM
KB - R



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BN 2B AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

HAREETER

g ETSEH(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BMNFTNEEZBRETSE

Impairment assessment of water mining right included in intangible assets (continued)

FFABRFEE 2 BKEZBERT M ()

This area was significant to our audit due to the significance of the
balances, and the fact that management’s assessment of the recoverable
amount of the balances involved significant judgement.
HRBRBEIFFEAMNEEENARBE 2 AIRESESREAHE
B REEEREE -

Impairment assessment of interests in associates

REE ATz R E RS

Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

S2RERE M MARMEE22 ©

The Group has 20% equity interests in Hong Kong Spring Water Ding
Dong Group Company Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary in
Guangxi, which are presented as interests in associates under the equity
method. The principal activities of the associates are production and
sales of bottled water. As at 31 March 2025, the interests in associates
amounted to approximately HK$ 14,571,000, the related share of losses of
the associates was approximately HK$ 11,696,000 and the impairment loss
on the interests in associates was approximately HK$63,904,000.
EEERAFTERKTEEEERARLREEAZ2ENB AR 220%
Pk - WIRBSEBRBERRZREEY - BERRNIEERR
REEFRHERBEK R-T_AF=A=+—HB  RBERFALZ
fE25#14,571,000/8 7T © HERE D16 %M & R RIEB B AR 11,696,000/
TCR LA & A B2 S YR E B 18 49 5363,904,000/8 7T ©

» Checking the key assumptions including
expected price of bottled mineral water,
net profit margin and discount rate against
industry data.

- BRUTXBEBEERIEZRR(BERER
RIKZTEHER - AR RIFRE) -

We found that the key assumptions were

supported by the available evidence.
BAEEEEEZBRIBEAK -

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
impairment assessment of interests in
associates included:

BTG E IR B R N B R PR ER
EFffERF 8

* Assessing the competence, capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the
management'’s expert;

- AHMAEEEBEERZE B
P& AVA LS

h- wEM%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BEETER

Impairment assessment of interests in associates (continued)

REEE N8z R ET (&)

The management performed impairment assessment of interests in
associates with the use of valuation performed by an independent
professional external valuer based on the value in use calculation.
The valuation requires the application of significant judgement and
estimation by the management in determining the appropriate valuation
methodology, use of assumptions and judgements.
BEERNEE QR 2B ETTRERS - HEMRBIYERINDE
ERZEREBEFEESHZGAE HEFZEEERBERAL
Kfbat - OREBEE 2 HERE - ERRRLHAE
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g ETSH(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter

BN ETNAEEZBERETEE

* Assessing the appropriateness of valuation
methodology, key assumptions and
estimates used based on the general
conditions of the bottled water industry;
and

« RBREKITRZ —BARRFEAER
MEESE  TEBRRRMEFESS
R

* Checking the key assumptions including
expected price of bottled water, gross
profit margin and discount rate against
industry data.

- BRUTRBBEERIZRR(BEREK
ZTEHERE - EMERFRE) -

We found that the key assumptions were
supported by the available evidence.

BRPEEEXI2BRRDAEAK -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BN 2B AR

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our

auditors’ report thereon (“Other Information™).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing
the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group

or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

Hi&E*
EATEEEHEMERAE - K AR B
EERNNER - BT BERAMEEER
R EBERE ([HER ) -

BPHGEEMBHRRNERY NREEBE
o RAA T HZEEMEHNBEREMTER

HRAE S

BABMEEEUBHRENET - HAANE
TEMEEGBEN  ZEREGBEMNES ELR
BUBHRRRBPIERTRRETRTHNE
MEFEEREELEUFFEENERBL
BB o RIFRFAPIFT A THE - HERFIRR
ZEMBERFEEANSERERL - B FIAR
E%EE - BRI AT EEE -

EERERZESHRSHMTK
WERWEFE

BERRESARRBEE LGRS HEMAN
BB BRE G LR REE R RGP
BRTRHEEMTEZ2HEAMBHRE - X
HBRERRREEAVBREROREIFE
AR AR T B B E K #5 AR PR AL P 35
MAEEFI B R - ERBEE T HRKRE
EFX8EE ESERELENRE
THEBEABEATHEEASBELEEHENSE
ERERFEEEGTER  RIEFER
B BEREFRIRIELE FIFIEEGE
REOBRTER -

REEGREEE BESEZUMBHmER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

* ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A2 AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

RN E T R S B IS Rk
E2EE(E)

TR EREGH AR 2 M BEDES - LARRETE
BEZEMERF EBEMLEYE H5H
NEBEH 2 BEHEERER -

HEEEMERASFEER 2R EIERIE
SRt RIBBABREZ A2 -

HESRARKERE S ERZRE X
e & - IRIBPAERZ BAHEE

ERAFERSHELBRAEBIERT
HMEMN  KmAEERYE BEREZF
BREENEEERRE - GHMRR
FHEEATHEEN - MIACEEZEM
BERSIREAEIEFEEMBRR L
HRARE BREFHZIEETR  BIRK
PMEEEIER - RAIZEmEERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BN 2B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for the
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our

audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BN 2B AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest

benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Cheung Tung Yung.

Reanda HK CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Tung Yung
Practising Certificate Number: P06945

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEEkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other gains

Other losses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Share of results of associates

Provision for impairment loss on
intangible assets

(Provision for)/reversal of impairment loss on
deposits paid

Provision for impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

(Provision for)/reversal of impairment loss on
completed properties held for sale

Provision for impairment loss on interests
in associates

(Provision for)/reversal of impairment loss on
trade receivables

Provision for impairment loss on other
receivables

Loss from changes in fair value of investment
properties

Gain on bargain purchase

Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss for the year from continuing
operations

Loss for the year from discontinued
operations

FESEEXR
YA
HERA

EMN

H Ao Y zs

H it &5 18

HE RO HFAX
TR
DIEBE R R RE
BIZEEZRERR
B
EffE 2 BERR
() /=

WE -~ BEREEZRE
ERRE
FEHEZERBRYEZ
RE R (B ),
REERB 2R
BB EEE

B 5 W ARR 2 BEREE
(B) /%

H b R W AR R 2 BB &5 1R
BiE
REMELTFEEZDHH
g

EEL G

BMEMAA

BR B AT 518
IR

FRARERB 2 AFERER
ERIEXBZAFERR
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2025
—E-REF
HK$’000
THExT

Notes

et

22

2024
—EYF
HK$'000
T
4,160
(3215)
10,945
18,813
(4,277)
(831)
(39,847)
(11,425)
(29,230)
74,832
(3,203)
270
(780)
353
(3,540)
(67212)
19,961
(773)
(35,944)

16,189

(19,755)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEa kA EtEmEmRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

2025 2024
—E-RF —EEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt TERT FAT
Loss for the year AEEEIE (19.766)
Other comprehensive income, Hi2EWE  BiHE
net of tax
Share of other comprehensive income of DAGEEE N T E M2 E I
associates 205
Exchange differences on translating BE N EREA ZIELZ5E
foreign operations (33,199)
Other comprehensive income for the year, ~ AFEEHEME2EWZE @ BHiE
net of tax (32,994)
Total comprehensive income REEREWEARE
for the year (52,760)
Loss attributable to: FE1G & 18 -
Owners of the Company ZN/NIEZS DN 17 (8,347)
Non-controlling interest IR (11,419)
(19,766)
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  fE{F &2 EURZRAE5E ¢
Owners of the Company ZN/NGIEZ 2SN (41,436)
Non-controlling interest eI R (11,324)
(52,760)
HK$
AIT
Loss per share attributable to owners Z&AT#EAE AELEER
of the Company BB
From continuing and discontinued operations 5 B 33 48 4% & S 15 &
AR IEE
— Basic and diluted - EXAREE 17 0.009

From continuing operations W R AL
— Basic and diluted — EAREE |7 0,009
e

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FEMt 2 st AR ES AT BHmER 2 —3H -

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

Asat 3| March 2025 R—E_RE=A=+—H

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Interests in associates
Deposits paid

Current assets
Properties under development
Completed properties held for sale
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Amount due from an associate
Amount due from non-controlling interests
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Restricted bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Assets classified as held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Amount due to non-controlling interests
Amounts due to directors
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Tax payable

Liabilities directly associated with
assets classified as held for sale

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

* less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars

ERBEE

LB

ERN G
EREEE

B EE
N NI 5o
BEftEE

RBEE

ERP Y
BERE 2 B ER
FE

Z 5 W ER K
FAMNFE - e R

H b e U BR 3R

JE U — R B 4 R B 2 308
FESIF 122 R A i 7R
BATESABRY
SREE
ZIREIRITIER
IRTTEERR NIR e

TEABELHEZEE

nE A&

B S5 R ERR
H A R BR R &F+E%
[RE S
e =% 2 K38
ararE
HEEE
A1

Ry BRIFELEN

EEERNMABZEE

RBEEFE
BERERABRE
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2025

—T-8F
Notes HK$’000

23
24
25
26

27
22
28

29
30(a)
30(b)

31
2
33
34

20(b)

TR

2024
—ZENF
HK$'000
T 7T

731,812
134523 |
2,592
567,615
90,000
148,338

1,674,588

62,902
944
428

32,882
739
2,759

1,434
757
I'1,737

114,582
165,463

280,045
47,133
94,052
58,779
20,499
42,811

2,320
5510

271,104

271,104
8,941

1,683,529



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR AR

Asat 3| March 2025 R—ZE-_RE=F=+—H

2025 2024
—EC-HE —T_mE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kzt FET THET

Capital and reserves EARK#E
Share capital &N 35 131,376 93,840
Reserves s 40 804,496 1,249,950

Total equity attributable to AATEE ABILEREERE

owners of the Company 935,872 1,343,790
Non-controlling interest FEIE IR R 83,073 117414
1,018,945 1,461,204

Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities REFIRAE 36 135,676 213,249
Lease liabilities HEBE 20(b) - 251
Borrowings BN 37 8,669 8,825
144,345 222,325

1,163,290 1,683,529

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for REGENBRRACBESEN S _AF
issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and signed on its behalf by: NAZH B EREREFIESHIAT AT

RREFSERE
Mr. Chan Wai Fung Mr. Li Yuguo
PR {21 Se 4 ZXE%E
Director Director
EF BF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BERT 2 it Bz Em A M HmER 2z —35

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RSP ER

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALAERAEL
Non-
Share Share Capital Special Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interest equity

Ba  RieE  EABRE  HABR  EARE  ZHER MOFEREE  RE4E
HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000
TEL TEL TEL TEL THL TEL ThL TEL THL
Note 40() ~ Note 40(b)
2O 2]

At 31 March 203 R-E-Z£ZA=+-8 BY0 G003  205I% NSk (88H) (378 18526 648 14565
Loss for the year KEEEA e . . . SEM) M) (49 (1976
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE £t 2EMNE - - - - (33.089) - (33,089) 95 (32.994)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2EREES - - - - (33,089) (8347) (41436) (11.324) (52,760)
Acqisition of subsidiaries (Note 39) W B A (H3E39) - - - - - - - 61,309 61,309
At 31 March 2024 W-B-ME=R=1-H 93840 1,620,053 2,025,156 92926 (161.978)  (2326207) 1343790 [17414 1461204

Loss for the year EEFR - (451554)  (451,554)  (33,201)  (484,765)
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ AEEEft2ENE (18,646) - (18,646) (1,130) (19,776

Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2ERAEE (18,646)  (451,554) (4702000  (34341)  (504,541)
Placing of shares (Note 35) BER{A (Fizkss) = 19,706 19,706
Issuance of consideration shares (Note 35) TR BRI (Bf335) - 43,167 43,167
New shares issug expense k2B AR = (591) (591)

At 31 March 2025 RZB=RFZA=1-A 131,376 1,644,799 2,025,156 92,926 (180,624) (2,777,761) 935,872 83,03 1,018,945

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated MEMT 2 it B S MBmRET Z—265 °

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

2025 2024
S g2 ZZTMF
Notes HK$’°000 HK$'000
it TR THET
Cash flows from operating activities REQETHZRERE
Loss before taxation BB AIEE
— Continuing operations —FEREES (560,142) (35,944)
— Discontinued operations — B IEER (12) ()
(560,154) (35,955)
Adjustments for: EANIESEpA RS
Interest income on bank deposits RITFRFEWA (¢D)) (80)
Interest income relating to amount due from BRRE I ERERE
non-controlling interests JE Y TRIE 2 M S A 8 (135) (551)
Compensation relating to acquisition of WL R X ERE BEE
Beijing properties 8 (8,822)
Interest income relating to termination of R\ ERG Y 2
acquisition of Shenyang Properties FEMA 8 - (9,198)
Dividend income S ON 8 (90) (65)
Finance costs BB A 10 1,258 773
Amortisation of land use right + b {5 PR e 4 21 198 199
Amortisation of water mining right BROK 5 21 10,011 952
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - RENKRIBITE 19 3,771 2,016
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 20(a) 2,296 3,292
Gain on bargain purchase ZEWE RS 39 - (19.961)
Bad debts recovered R Bl 8 4) -
Loss from changes in fair value of REMEATEZHH
investment properties B8 18 315,973 67212
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at BATEGFAERL
fair value through profit or loss CREEZATE
(Wz),/ E#E Il (213) 406
Share of results of associates B [ AN E 11,696 |'1425
Provision for impairment loss on property, plant 13 + BE K& 2 RE
and equipment EERE = 3203
Provision for impairment loss on intangible assets & 2 BB E 1B R 21 91,378 29,230
Provision for impairment loss on interests in REE R B2 a2 BB
associates EERE 22 63,904 780
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss on Bffize 2 RERBE
deposits paid Bt/ ([EH5) 43,103 (74,832)
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss on B HRWERR 2 REEE
trade receivables RtE/ (E1#) 90 (353)
Provision for impairment loss on other Hih W R 2R EEE
receivables ] 3,540
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss on BFIELEZEERME
completed properties held for sale ZREBREEE/(B#) (270)
Loss on written off of property, plant and s - MENMEREZ
equipment B 9 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HENE  BEREREZ
equipment Wz =
Loss on written off of inventories MEHTFE 2 B1E 5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

2025 2024
—EC-RE —ZE-JNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 TR THET
Operating cash flows before movements EEBERHERICEE
in working capital Heng (13,795) (27,054)
Decrease in completed properties held for sale HELEZEERIER D 1,084 2,163
Increase in inventories &M (347) (848)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivable B S RUERR (8 m),Bd (1,083) 672
Decrease in amount due from e Ui FE P R e s SRIRR
non-controlling interests 50 953
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits TERFIE -« Re REM
and other receivables FENBRFR (38 00) /W (9,402) 8,014
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B S EMAETIE M, O D) 1,157 (6,984)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HEp e ER R EER
and accruals =i,/ i) 19,184 (672)
Increase in contract liabilities SR B FEEM 5,887 6,411
Cash generated from/(used in) operations EEEBELE/(FR)HE 2,735 (17.345)
Income tax paid BERIATEH (2,861) (682)
Cash payments for the interest portion of ReXNHEAENEHD
the lease liabilities (106) (312)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEBMAR S FE (18339)
Investing activities REED
Increase in restricted bank deposits PR I SR1 T R 0 0
Interest received B S 80
Compensation received relating to acquisition WEEAL R X AR 2
of Beijing properties BRE IR = 8,822
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BERE (1,775) (14,836)
Additional cost of investment properties REMERNEKA - (1,094)
Dividend income iR B A 90 65
Net cash inflow from to acquisitions of WHEINB A RIME S RAFE
subsidiaries 39 450
Net cash used in investing activities RERSMAREFE (1,662) (6,514)

94 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | 1 INEM{= A4k (3 B IR A 7



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERTMER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

METEH
REREAE)
RS TS FURF R
RITERZ B3R
HEMFRESHH
BITARERATEHIE
Bh—EESHE
BEALEE
BE—LESHE

Financing activities
Interest paid
Net proceeds from share placements
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Principal portion of lease payments
Proceeds form issuance of promissory note
Advances from a director
Redemption of promissory note

Repayment to a director

Net cash (used in)/generated from REEE(FTA)/EXE
financing activities ReFa
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HekReZEY

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year REFE¥ 2R & KB & EEY

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HINGEE P R R Ep B &

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position EHmNIRE
Bank balance and cash in assets classified as held ~ D iEAFIELENEBEZ
for sales RTEBRRIRE

Cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiaries classified as Disposal Group
held for sale are included in cash and cash equivalents as stated in the

consolidated statement of cash flows.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

RERZBERREFED

ReRReFEN I EHIN
A MR R TS 2 R 1T

2025 2024

—E-RE —ZE-JNF

Notes HK$’°000 HK$'000
Hiat FTET THET

(519) Q01)
35 19,115 -
= 8,822
(2,443) (3242)
5,000 =
1,100 -
LX) -
(19,000) -
(1,747) 5,379
(3,641) (19,474)
14,329 34236
(195) (433)
14,329

11,737

2,592

14329

PERFELEZHERBENHNBARRS
rBRSEEVHAGRARERERMIIANIR
ERBREFED -

BEP 2 ME RA TR A M BRR 2 — 87 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

GENERAL
Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited (the “Company"”) was

incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability.
Its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the Company’s registered office
is disclosed in the corporate information of its annual report and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room 2601, 26/F, West
Tower Shun Tak Centre, [68-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong (shall be changed to 2Ist Floor, CMA Building, 64
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong with effect from | July 2025).

The Company acts as an investment holding company, while its
subsidiaries (hereinafter the Company and its subsidiaries are collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in property
development, property investment and production and sales of bottled

water in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(HK$) and all amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand

(HK$'000), unless otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArRe BT R R M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

2. APPLICATION OF THE NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(a) New and amended HKFRS Accounting Standards
adopted by the Group
The following new and amended standards that may be relevant to
the Group's operations have been adopted by the Group for the

first time for the financial period beginning on | April 2024.

Amendments to HKAS | Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

Hong Kong Presentation of Financial Statements
Interpretation 5 (Revised) — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand Clause

The application of the above amended standards which are
effective for the financial period beginning on | April 2024 did not
have material financial effect to the Group for the current and prior

periods.

FE R E] IRAE1B 5] BB 75
WmEEFHER
(a) KEBEF 2 H 5T RASIEET

BB HEEEER

T3 AKEEER - E-mEMDA
— AR B E R A
RAREEREROTTRES
GESTR

BEGH R S EARGAHFREZ
FUEATA) RERMWEREZF
RERE
BRNBREEN ELHEHERR

ESHCHES)
BRGIEN  HEERELH
FIRRES

FBHEER
FIRERIA)
BERBES HEHXZZ5-BH
(&eEqT) AN EBRESEE
K2 EHEN 25
i

EREMRR-_T=_/MFEMA—HBH
90 B0 B A R AR R R B BT RIR
AEE B EHEY EH AR EEE
REAMEZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7f ﬁﬁ#ﬁ%‘% Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

2. APPLICATION OF THE NEW AND REVISED

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting

Standards

The Group has not early adopted the following new HKFRS

Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet

effective for the financial year ended 3| March 2025:

Amendments to HKAS 21
Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

HKFRS 19

HKFRS 18

Amendment to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKFRS [0
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS |,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS
10 and HKAS 7

Lack of Exchangeability'
Classification and Measurement of

Financial Instruments?

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures’

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Annual Improvements to HKFRS

Accounting Standards — Volume | |2

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2025

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2026

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2027

+ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

98 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | #7111 fx % 0 B BR A

FERFE] KRBT BRI

BT

—|—/\J ( i} )

(b) EfEME [ K EN 2 EEE

B &S ER

AEBYERBE_T_RF=A

=+ HLEMBRFRRERRA T

ERMIE R ARERZ ] BB
HEEHER

BReHERR(BIR) HZTELY
BENBREEARRR 2HTAZIELE

ERMBRERARTS
(B31%)
BEMBREENROR  FOARAALNELY

b
BEURRLENZ 0% GEFRZIRRE

SEREEHETN)  BEREESHIRNG,

A HELE

FEEHHZ TR

A
EENESRNEIOER ARERARELTNAE
BASHEMENE  ORZEWEEMEd
(78] b
et I
SEURERBNEE . BREHIR
BRBAE I

R-ZZF_RAF— A BRZERFEDN
FEHR AR

2 RZB_RF—HA—BRZERFEDN
FEHR AR

2 R-ZB_LF—A—BRZERFEDN
FEHR AR

¢ BRFEERHAERB Y - BARATR
A



For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

2. APPLICATION OF THE NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting

Standards (continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of the new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact on

the results and the financial position of the Group.

HKFRS |8 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements and will replace HKAS | Presentation of
Financial Statements. HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the financial
statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows" and
HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share" are also made. HKFRS |8, and
the consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning on
or after | January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the HKFRS 18 is not expected to have material
impact on the financial position of the Group. The directors
are in the process of making an assessment of the impact of
HKFRS 18, but is not yet in a position to state whether the
adoption would have a material impact on the presentation and

disclosures of consolidated financial statements of the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out

below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration

given exchange for assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAESFTBER(E)

(CONTINUED)
Basis of preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
| 6, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in

HKAS 36.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the

results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7f ﬁﬁ#&%‘% Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Basis of preparation (continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level |, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,

which are described as follows:

J Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level [, that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities)

controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement

with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to

control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even

if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7f ﬁﬁ#&%‘% Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in

profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in

accordance with HKAS 12 and HKAS 9 respectively;

J liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangement of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in

accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date; and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 are measured in accordance with that

Standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’'s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at
their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another

HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with the corresponding gain or loss

being recognised in profit or loss.

106 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | #7111 fx % 0 B BR A

EREFTBEGE)

EBEOH(E)
HARBREHEHTERIANERR
IRRELHELZEELAR @ Al
AREBRENUBERBRZ A FEFE
Wt ARERBEHAERE 2R E 2 — &

N e NAERRAEHREAR ZHRK
BRAVFEZIETEPAE - HERE
REERE - FEHNHIARAN [FE
HiE (R A e e WiE B g —F)
BREBERKERNCFECESERIE
N BINEREE 2 FE -

n)

$é’§$§ﬁ§+§ﬂﬁf‘aﬁﬁ%§2§}2%ﬁ%®
FEEEH 2 RESEIEIURN A
IAREOE - DERERZIIANE
TEREBREDHPENAE - HRE
BRETREZAARK DBESEEXA
BEZRARBERRERS BHRER
BRAERZREHEBRENE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such

treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period, and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,

would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled

in exchange for those goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Sales of properties
Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the law that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control

of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's performance:

O provides all of the benefits received and consumed

simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls

as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i

(ii)

Sales of properties (continued)

For properties that have no alternative use to the Group due
to contractual reasons and when the Group has an enforceable
right to payment from the customers for performance
completed to date, the Group recognises revenue as the
performance obligation is satisfied over time in accordance with
the input method for measuring progress, i.e. the costs incurred
up to date compared with the total budgeted costs, which depict
the Group's performance towards satisfying the performance

obligation.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior
to delivery of the properties to the customers are contract

liabilities.

For property sales contract for which the control of the property
is transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the
completed property and the Group has present right to payment

and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Sales of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the products is transferred to the customer,

generally on delivery of goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less subsequent depreciation and any identified

impairment loss at the end of the reporting period.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the

assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of other property, plant
and equipment other than mine infrastructure over their estimated
useful lives after considering their estimated residual values, using the

straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Land and buildings 5%

5% —25%
20% — 50%
Motor vehicles 12.5% — 30%
Machinery 0%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

Leasehold improvements

Included in property, plant and equipment are mine infrastructure
located at the mining sites. Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost of mine infrastructure using the units of production method

based on the proved and probable mineral reserves.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in which the

item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally the land use rights in respect of land
parcels and industrial buildings, are held for long-term rental yields
and are not occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially
measured at cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently, they are carried at fair

value. Changes in fair values are presented in profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a

finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is

accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Water mining right

Water mining right is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Water mining right is amortised on a straight-line

basis over its estimated useful life.

Exploration and mining right

Exploration and mining right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. Exploration and Mining
right includes the cost of acquiring mining licences, exploration and
evaluation costs transferred from exploration rights and assets upon
determination that an exploration property is capable of commercial
production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the mining reserves
of existing mining properties. The exploration and mining right is
amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in accordance
with the production plans of the entities concerned and the proved
and probable reserves of the mines using the Units of Production
("UOP”). The exploration and mining right is written off to profit or

loss if the mining property is abandoned.

Land use rights

The Group makes upfront payments to obtain operating leases of
land use rights. The land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. The upfront payments of the land use
rights are recorded as assets. The amortisation of land use rights is
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the unexpired

period of the land use rights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof,
is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5. Under the equity method, interests in
associates is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds
its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interests in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group's interest in associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to

the extent of interests in associate that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS |6 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed. As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements

would not differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying

assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

3. EREFERGE

HE ('
K BIER AN (E)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the

estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings | to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated

useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

3. EREFBRGE)

HE (&
AEEERERBA(E
HERE

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (b)

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in

which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g.,
a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of |2 months or less from

the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

Lease income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value method.
Variable lease payments for operating leases that depend on an index
or a rate are based on the market or rate at commencement date of
the lease and included in the total lease payments to be recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when

they arise.

Lease income derived from the Group'’s ordinary course of business is

presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company's presentation currency. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or

translation of monetary items are recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,

respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, jointly-
controlled entities and associates are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the

year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is

recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted

average exchange rates for the year.

Retirement benefits costs

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans (state-
managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme) are charged as an expense when employees have rendered

service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme, the assets of which are held in separate trustee

administered funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits costs (continued)

Retirement benefits scheme (continued)

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, with the employers’ contributions
subject to a cap monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group's
contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred are vested in
accordance with the scheme’s vesting scales. Where employees leave
the scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer’s contributions,
the amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the

contributions payable by the Group.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the PRC,
the Group participates in the relevant social retirement benefit
schemes (the “PRC Schemes”) whereby the Group is required to
contribute to the PRC Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of
the eligible employees. Contributions made to the PRC Schemes
are calculated based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll
costs as stipulated under the requirements in the PRC. The relevant
authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the PRC Schemes is to pay the ongoing

required contributions under the PRC Schemes.

The retirement benefit schemes contribution represents gross
contributions by the Group to the PRC Schemes operated by the

relevant authorities of the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included

in the accounting for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAESFTBER(E)

(CONTINUED)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a

finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent

allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and

whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

124 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | I BRI B R 2 7]

THNIECETEEE

7 IR 2 BT & B V)06 FERR B LARK
AEHE - KBAHAMKB 2B EEK
AREEWBRZAFE - BEEA
ERFHIRERUNERY - AAR
M2\ EERRKRRAIEREEF NS
W YRERRBRETLEER LT
BER T GRE - ABERAIERFHZ
B EEZBENNBHETEAELRE
&84 PR 4 KA AT e

BEREREERE
REBRERR  AEBESHEEERSF
ReBEWRBEVEEZRESRETE
% NEEREBEAFRBRZE?
EEHBRREEBE - MBETEZFD
Rl EECAREEE  UE
EREBRZEE - B8AGERNE
EZAIREISREE  NEBeHEZE
EZHBREELBM 2 AIREEHE -
EREMNA Rz A ERFEREER -
RXEENSOEEMAIRECELEN
INEEABAAERFESEEEY
RNREELBMAER -

BERAERFRZELEENANER
AERAZEVEESELBFRRAR
RPN % B E R el B I 1T R E R

Al ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:ﬁ j%ﬁﬁ%ﬁT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories — properties under development

The cost of properties under development for sale comprises
specifically identified cost, including the acquisition cost of land,
aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and
other direct expenses, and an appropriate proportion of overheads
and borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price, based on prevailing market conditions, less
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the

property.

Properties under development are transferred to completed
properties held for sale upon completion of development activities,
which is when the relevant completion certificates are issued by the

respective government authorities.

Inventories — completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by apportionment of the total
land and development costs attributable to the completed properties
held for sale. Net realisable value is determined based on prevailing

market conditions.

Inventories — raw materials, work in progress and
finished goods

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal
operating capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion

and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:ﬁ j%ﬁﬁ%ﬁT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the

profit or loss.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

*  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

(“FVTOCI™):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows

and selling; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

*  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the date of initial
application/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive income (“OCI") if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to

which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

* on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging

instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that

are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as

measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit

impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses

recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivable, other receivables, restricted bank deposits and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, |2-month ECL (“I2m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets are

assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to [2m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account

when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the

credit default swap prices for the debtor;

*  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
0 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

* an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on the Group’s financial assets has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial assets are determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default; (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it
has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as

per globally understood definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

(ii)

(iii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk

before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without

taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit impaired includes observable data about

the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.
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BB ERRMEE

n\/-_R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

3. EREFEBRGE)
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL v)

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the

weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7f ﬁﬁ#&%‘% Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following

basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade and
other receivables, finance lease receivables and amounts
due from customers are each assessed as a separate group.
Loans to related parties are assessed for expected credit

losses on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised

cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the group entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
and accruals) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of
the financial liability or where appropriate, a short period to the net

carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group continues to
recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and

recognises an associated liability.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised

borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity

is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, the
Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset
between the part it continues to recognise, and the part it no longer
recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts
on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying
amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised
and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit
or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues
to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the

basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the

consolidated statement of financial positions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contingent liabilities and assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be

recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually

certain, an asset is recognised.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of

business and geographical locations.

EREFBERGE)

KAEBRREE
FRBEDEBEEHMAELLEREZE
T - MARFRREEHA—AKXZ R
AEBAA SRR 2 T EESEHT A
R - XRAETEREENBEFMEHM
EEZBRBEME BEARKRLTELE
BRI s N EEpL X B (L BB (F Al S2 5t
EMAREHRR - KRBETSHIBAR
BENEAMERRMETKE © R
HZATREE IR B - MARE A e 3R
i A SRR ARE -

FIREEDEBEEHMAELEAZE
B MARFARELHR—ARNZEHE
AEBAA R EF 2 T EESEHT A
MR - WIRAIBEH RGBT A - Bl
IAREBETSHAAREBENEGEE MG
BRMETHE - WERFELEN =
RA - RIEREHEE -

EREAMHREN2BOEH
FEA S EUHAEESBEBR RN
BB R ST R BRI A
S5 EITHERARRENH AR
BRI -

Annual Report 2025 ¥

141



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority

of these criteria.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if
it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the asset (or
disposal group) is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal
group is a group of assets to be disposed of together as a group in a
single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those assets

that will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the above criteria for classification as
held for sale are met, regardless of whether the group will retain a

non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement
of the non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities
in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with
the accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-current assets
(except for certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups,
are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this measurement policy
so far as the financial statements of the group and the company are
concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures) and investment properties. These
assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be measured in

accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 3.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on
subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognised in
profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is classified as held for
sale, or is included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale,

the non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's business,
the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively

with a view to resale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (Continued)

Discontinued operations (Continued)

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale

(see (i) above), if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented on the face of the statement of profit or loss, which

comprises:

—  the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to
fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or

disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the

revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Note 3 describes that depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using
straight-line method. The estimation of useful lives of the depreciable
assets is based on the experience of the Group, and useful lives are
reviewed at each end of the reporting period based on changes in

circumstances.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated
at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also performs annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continued to be valid.
The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any
impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating
unit is determined based on value in use of the assets which require

the use of assumptions and estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such

determination is made.

Net realisable value of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

Carrying amount of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value at the end of the reporting period. Net realisable value is
determined on the basis of the estimated selling price less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. The directors estimate the net realisable
value for properties under development and completed properties
held for sale based primarily on the latest contract prices and current
market conditions. In addition, the directors perform an inventory review
on a product by product basis at the end of each reporting period
and assess the need for write down of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. As at 31 March 2025, the
accumulated impairment on properties under development and
completed properties held for sale were approximately HK$305,43 1,000
(2024: HK$310,916,000) and HK$57,521,000 (2024: HK$56,843,000)

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets, interests
in associates and intangible assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, the
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As at 31
March 2025, the accumulated impairment loss on intangible assets

were approximately HK$266,049,000 (2024: HK$174,739,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of deposits and trade and other receivables

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including
deposits and trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments
and prepaid other taxes)) based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
receivables, customers’ repayment history and market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period
as set out in note 3 — Financial Instruments. As at 3| March 2025 and
2024, the aggregate carrying amounts of deposits paid and trade and
other receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other taxes)

are as follows:

As at 3| March 2025

Trade receivables B HREBER

Other receivables (excluding prepayments and ~ E A EUERZ (T EIEFBNFUER
prepaid other taxes) HibhREBE)

Deposits paid BftRe
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArRe BT R R M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of deposits and trade and other receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024

Trade receivables OGS

Other receivables (excluding prepayments and ~ Et JEMEE R (T RIEBNFIER
prepaid other taxes) A FRRHIA)

Deposits paid Efife

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$405,580,000 (2024: HK$731,812,000) are stated at fair value
based on the valuation performed by the independent qualified
professional valuer. In determining the fair values, the valuation
involves certain assumptions of market conditions. In relying on the
valuation reports, the directors have exercised their judgment and are
satisfied that the methods of valuation are reflective of the current
market conditions. Changes in assumption relating to these factors
could affect the reported fair values of the investment properties. See

note |8 for further disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR")
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when
it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the
lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone

credit rating).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5A. Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5A. Capital risk management (continued) SA.BEXm R EE (&)
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the capital structure of the R-_E-_REE_ZT_WE=A
Group consisted of debt and equity attributable to owners of =+—H AEBZEREERRE
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. BERANAGEBE AEGER(E
BEBITRALFE)
The directors of the Company review the capital structure KRB EBTHR EANERE - 1E
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost BN  EEEREARAZIK
of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based REREERZ HERE - AEE
on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its SREBEES2HEESR - HBET
overall capital structure through new shares issues, as well as the HTRR  BITHETE S EE [0 IR & LA
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. FEEEE N o
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as RIEHREBLERLDT ¢
follows:
2025 2024
—EC-HF —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT T
Total debts BER 12,686
Shareholders’ equity AR A 1,343,790
Gearing ratio BELX 0.9%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArRe IR R AT
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5B. Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets SREE

Financial assets at fair value through BAFEGFAEBRZ
profit or loss TREE

Amortised cost DN

Financial liabilities TEMEE

Amortised cost BN A

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits paid, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, amount due from an
associate, amount due from non-controlling interests, restricted
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade payables, other
payables and accruals and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign
currency exchange rate which will affect the Group's financial
results and its cash flows. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from investments in subsidiaries primarily
with respect to RMB. Foreign currency risk also arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations, which are mainly

denominated in RMB.

As at 3| March 2025, the assets and liabilities denominated
in RMB are mainly held by PRC subsidiaries. The management
considered that the effect on translation included in profit or loss
are insignificant and therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented

thereon.

As at 3| March 2024, if the Hong Kong dollars had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB with all other variables
held constant, pre-tax loss for the year would have been
HK$ 138,000 lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses of the amount due from non-controlling interests
as disclosed in notes 28. The Group currently has not entered
into any contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. However,
the management monitors foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should

the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies 5C. BREEERERKEK (&)
(continued)
Interest rate risk T3 f7 b
The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially AEBZWHEREEREMEBAK
independent of change in market interest rates. As at 3| March FARTENEEHATE - R
2025, the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and TRF=A=+—8  AEEW
liabilities except for restricted bank deposits, cash and cash HMEARFEEEMNBE(BIREH
equivalents, other payables and borrowings, details of which RITTER - HekReEEY  H
have been disclosed in notes 30, 32(ii) and 37. As at 31 March EMNERR MBI  EREFIE
2024, the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and B R FE30 « 323 K37 E - K
liabilities except for interest receivable, restricted bank deposits, —E-_WMFEF=ZA=+—8 ' &&E
cash and cash equivalents, other payables and borrowings, details BIEERTEEENBE(KRE
of which have been disclosed in notes 30, 32(ii) and 37. WHE - ZREEITHER - Re K

ReFED  HHEMERRLER
5N) - BRAFFIEE R EE30 - 32(i)

K37THREE -
Due to the fixed interest rate on bank borrowings and other HRBITERAREMEMRRZ
payables and the insignificant bank interest income, the TR AEE RIBTHEWAIL TE
management considers that cash flow and fair value interest rate K BEBERE N_E_RAFK
risks of the Group are insignificant as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 ZT_WHF=RA=+—H ' A5H
and therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented thereon. ZREIRE KA FER 2= g I A

EX - AT EREDN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counterparty to
a transaction is unwilling or unable to fulfil its obligation which
results in financial loss. The gross carrying amounts of restricted
bank deposits, bank balances, amount due from an associate,
amount due from non-controlling interests, deposits paid, other
receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other taxes)
and trade receivables included in the consolidated statement
of financial position of approximately HK$109,237,000 (2024:
HK$105,384,000) represent the Group's maximum exposure to

credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

The credit risks on restricted bank deposits and bank balances
are considered to be insignificant because the counterparties are
banks/financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

For trade receivables, the Group performs impairment

assessment under ECL model on trade balances individually.

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators for no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than

| year past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5.

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

BT A ()
5C. BB MR EREHERBE ()

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the same

line item.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
assessed the ECL on trade receivables were insignificant and thus

no loss allowance was recognised.

For other receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other
taxes), deposits paid, amount due from an associate and amount
due from non-controlling interests, the management makes
periodic collective assessments as well as individual assessment
on its recoverability based on historical settlement records and

past experience.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of assets and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the assets as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It also considers available

reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArRe BT R R M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Especially the following indicators are incorporated:
o internal credit rating;
. external credit rating;

. actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its

obligations;

. actual or expected significant changes in the operating

results of individual debtor;

* significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the debtors; and

. significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtors, including changes in the payment
status of the debtors and changes in the operating results

of the borrower.

5. TR TAGE)
5C. BB MR EREHERBE ()

=EmE (&
AT EEREEREE

MEBEERFAR ;

SNEREERTAR

BERR 2 A R E TR HI A & 2K
R MR RS ERE F
BEARTH L ERERELA
REPERI BB NESE
BEARE

ERIER ARKEEXE TR
AR ERREEBAE

BEHANEGERTAEER
fREERE &

BEHARRRRAETRELE
BRI BREBANKIE
ME B R B RALE KA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5.

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group uses four categories for those receivables which

reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is determined

for each of those categories.

A summary of the assumptions underlying the Group’s ECL

model is as follows:

Category
ol

Performing

E®

Underperforming
BE

Non-Performing

TR

Write-off
58

Group definition of category

FrEMEHHERBINER

Debtors have a low risk of default and a

strong capacity to meet

BERARORRREBEBRENELD

Receivables for which there is a significant
increase in credit risk; as significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if
interest and/or principal repayments are
more than 90 days past due
FEUGRIRMEERBRBEE N ¢ WS
X/ SR G EFEIBBEIORX - BIRZ
EE R B E L

Interest and/or principal repayments are

more than 365 days past due
B R/ HASERE B EBEI65K

Interest and/or principal repayments are
more than 3 years past due and there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery
FER/FEERAPBB=FE4
S RN
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Basis for recognition of
ECL provision
BRRAHCEEEERENER

I2 months expected losses. Where the
expected lifetime of an asset is less than
I2 months, expected losses are measured
at its expected lifetime.
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Lifetime expected losses
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Asset is written off
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing
for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category of receivables
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.

The Group provides for credit losses against deposits paid, other
receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other taxes),
amount due from an associate and amount due from non-
controlling interests as follows:

Company internal credit rating

RRANBEEFE

As at 31 March 2025
R-B-EF=A=1-A
Performing

%

Non-Performing

R

Total
@t

As at 31 March 2024
R-2-RME=A=1-H
Performing

E%

Non-Performing

AR

Total
ECh

Expected
credit loss rates

BHREEBRLE

0.1% - 1.5%

100%

0.1% - 1.5%

100%

5. SRT E (&)
5C. IR EERERBE (&)

FEmEE(E)

AEBERBRESHEREEEER
REZBRESEEERRAR - &
AEBRHEERBLXRE - AEE
NEHEBKENELBRESE

e - 3 ELBIBATIE A ) R AR
I EARATRE -

AEENDNZES  HtEKER
KT BB IR R B A FE R
) B —REBERRZRER

FENF R S IR lRE R B

BT

Basis for Carrying
recognition of Estimated gross Loss amount (net of
expected credit carrying amount allowance impairment
loss provision at default provision provision)
RARNEERR BN REE
BE0ER EHRERE  AEEEBHE (IRAERE)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TER TiER TER

12 month expected losses

REARSER
Lifetime expected losses

FEEREER

12 month expected losses

1A ARHAEE
Lifetime expected losses

FRAEAER

28,477

70,663

99,140

70,663

28,471

24071 = 24071
71,932 71,932 =
96,003 71,932 24071
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies S5SC.HBREBREERBERBE (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERERE (&)
The loss allowance provision for deposits paid and other RZZE-_RAF=RA=+—HHER
receivables as at 31 March 2025 reconciles to the opening loss ¥ & N H i FE IS BR FRGT IR Y 5 48 1
allowance for that provision as follows: fEEFE IR B ERNY RN T ¢
Non-
Performing performing Total
EZ TR @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR THT

Opening loss allowance as at | April 2023 R-ZE-=F[@A—HH

FIBEERE 70,824 70,824
Additional loss allowance HINE IR RS 3,540 3,540
Exchange realignment ER RS (2,432) (2,432)

Closing loss allowance as at 3| March 2024 R-ZE-NFE=ZA=1+—HHNFX

and opening loss allowance as at BERBRN_Z_NF

| April 2024 mA—BHENBEERE 71,932 71,932
Additional loss allowance BINEERE 300 300
Exchange realignment fE 5 A% (1,569) (1,569)

Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2025 R-ZE-RF=A=+—HKE
RER R 70,663 70,663
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework to meet the Group's short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and

liabilities.

Liquidity table

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be

required to pay.

The maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities is

prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

5. TR TAGE)
5C.HBmMBERLBREF(H)

mBEZ A

RBECRARER ZRETEE
g MEFQCRIABZRY
ETRBREERE  UWhERAKHE
ZREY THEREHRERRD
BELEEFE AKBEBERR
RREEERDECRAR - HIAZ
FEERRARERREEREY X
BHemEERABZIIBBRFIE

4 o

af

k2753
TERHAVNAEBTESRAR L
R A KB BAAR - TRIBER
AEEAXNERMABEZ&FEH
BERABEIZANEARSRER
8 o

FTEERMABZINHMA DT IR
ERRERE MR -

ZRBENERAERERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies S5C.OBRBREZERBERHIE
(continued) (#&)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEBE 2R ()
Liquidity table (continued) TENESZ (&)
Weighted Total
average carrying
effective Total amount
interest Within Over undiscounted at year
rate lyear  I|-2years  2-5years 5years  cash flows ended
MY Rf5A EX

Ly -Fn -ERE WEIF EEML RERE  4REE
% HKSO0D  HKSO0  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSO00
o Tn Tm ThRL TR Tm

As at 31 March 2025 RZZ-I1f
ZAZ+-R
Non-derivative financial liabilities Jfi42REE
Trade payables BHEMNE 47,449 47449 47,449
Other payables and accruals EfpERERR
R 110,657 110,657 110,657
Amount due to non-controlling interest  FEfFEFE IR 718 15,612 15,612 15,612
Amounts due to directors EfEZ /308 1,225 1,225 1,225
Lease [iabltes HERE 131 ] 128
Borrowings g% 400 9,257 8,669
175,470 184,327 183,739
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-RE
ZA=t-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 374 $HEHE
Trade payables BARAEN - 4713 - - - 4713 4713
Other payables and accruals EfpENERR
EAER - 93846 - - - 93,846 93,846
Amount due to non-controling interest  FEfFEf2 2 5 2R - 58,779 = = - 58,779 58,779
Amount due to a director 2537308 - 20499 - - - 20499 20499
Lease lbilties HERE 8% 2426 253 - - 2679 2971
Borrowings EH 5% 407 407 9016 - 9,830 8,825

223,090 660 9016 = 132,766 231,653
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5. €@ T H (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and policies S5C.HBRBEEEERKE
(continued) (&)
Other price risk BB

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investment
in listed equity securities. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk and return profiles. The Group'’s equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity securities quoted on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. In addition, the management
monitors the price risk and will consider hedging the risk

exposure should the need arise.

Other price risk — Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on

the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, the Group's loss
for the year ended 3| March 2025 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$ 165,000 (2024: HK$143,000). This is mainly

due to the changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.

AEERKRER EMRAEZMA
AERZBRAERRAR - BEEEBME
FEAETRRAREEHRZKEEE
EEARRER o NEEZBRAER
RREBEETREELBAR S
BR R 2 BRANFE S © B -
EEESERERAR XYNER
EREEHPERRAR -

H B — SRS
AT HRERES N IRER BE B H
Z A EIRRBRAETT o

IR B LA TEKI0% - K&
EERzZ—_FE-_AF=A=+—HI
FEZEBEBRERLD LA 65000
BEL(ZZT M4 : 143,0007T)

EXIFEEERECATEE
BRE -

i\\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DEER
The Group’s operating segments are identified on the basis of AEBREDEREHEALEERE
internal reports which provides information about components of the MEDERZABBRERD - Z2ZEER
Group. These information are reported to and reviewed by the chief EERTFTFELEEARE([FTEEER
operating decision maker (“CODM") for the purpose of resource REDUHESER  UnEER MM
allocation and performance assessment. xR o
The Group has the following reportable segments during the year. RAFEE AEEEAR THARE D

These segments are managed separately.

(h

@)

(3)

For water business, the CODM regularly reviews the
performance of the water business in the PRC. These operations
have been aggregated into a single operating segment and

named “Water business’.

For property development and investment business, the CODM
regularly reviews the performance of the property development
and investment business. These operations have been
aggregated into a single operating segment and named “Property

development and investment”.

For mining business, the CODM regularly reviews the
performance of mining business in the PRC. These operations
have been aggregated into a single operating segment and

named “Mining business”.

)

)

ZEDBIDEZERER -

MKEBME - TREERRETE
P PEKEBORR - ZFX
BEATERA/ [KEKI2E—K

IMEBRREREXBMmE  £2
BEARETHRAVERER LK
BEBHRR - ZEXBE AL
2R MEBRRIREIZE—KE

ay]
pa W

SMRERBME  EREERRE
EHRE P BEREEFORE - %
SERBEALRS [REXERZ

oo

L@ BRI
BEREDHE

(4) On 27 April 2023, a sale and purchase agreement was entered 4) RZZTZ=FMHA=++AH XA
into between the Company and the purchaser, pursuant to RIEE RV EE DR @ B - &

which, the Company has agreed to sell, and the purchaser has
agreed to acquire, the entire issued share capital of Century
Strong Limited and the shareholder’s loan advanced to Century
Strong Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group™).
Century Strong Limited is an investment holding company
and the Disposal Group are principally engaged in property
investment. The Disposal Group is presented as a discontinued

reportable segment and named as “Investment in Yantian".
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

DREER (E
PR R M

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

R EREDHT

reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 March BE=A=t—HLEE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
LEgERE BRALER
Water Property development
business and investment Mining business Investment in Yantian Consolidation
KEH DERRRRE RREH L &a
2025 2004 2025 2004 2025 2004 2025 2004 2025 2004
ZEZRf CECQF ZECRF CSCRF ZBCRF CTCRF ZBCRE CECNF ZECRE CEONF
HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000
T TR TR TR T TR TR TR TR TE
Sales to extemal customers WAMIREHE 4,892 50 14110 - = 20,044 14160
Total revenue LN 4,892 50 14110 - - - 20,044 14,160
Segment results PR (99,820) IEZZSEIM  (362,009) 18320 (8,465) (194) (12) (1) BRELRIDE  (16338)
Farvalue gan/(loss) on ~—~ RATFEFARE
financial assets at fair ERBEL
value through profit or L7E
loss Ws/ (B8 ik (406)
Provision for mpairment loss & ] 7184
on interests i essociates 2 HEEERRE (63,904) (780)
Central administration costs ~ FRTHAA (13,203) IOIAER
Gain on bargan purchase s ENENG - 199!
Share of results of associates HEBENAEE (11,696) m{IEvA);
Finance costs HERA (1,258) ()
Loss before taxation kiingE (560,154) IERE)
"

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external

A RAFEE - WED I

customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE =T -_HAF=A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. PHER(E)
Segment assets and liabilities THEEENERE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by IUTEBREBRIZAREDBED 2 EE
reportable segments: RAEHH :
Continuing operations Discontinued operation
BESEXE BALER
Water Property development
business and investment Mining business Investment in Yantian Consolidation
KEH DERRRRE B ES L By
2025 2004 2025 2004 2025 2004 2025 2004 2025 2004
CRCEF CECRE CRCEF CECRF CRCEF CECME O CRCEF CECRE CRCEF CEORE
HK$'000  HKSO000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK§'000  HK$000
TRn TEr  TA&r  TER TR TAr TR A TEn  TEn

ASSETS gE
Segment assets EEE 175,985 WZETCI 600,165 MZE]I)

Unallocated corporate AORGEEE
assets

LIABILITIES 8k
Sement liablies ARERE (45,391) WEIEIIIN (147,938) WOHIKI!
Undlocated comporate ~~~ APRAEERE
liabilties
* less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the directors of the Company monitor
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable

segment on the following basis:

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than unallocated
corporate assets (mainly include property, plant and equipment, bank
balances and cash that are held by the investment holding companies
and other receivables that are receivable by the investment holding

companies).

423,794

(154,795)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HiZE T -HF=A=+—HI-FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly include lease liabilities
and other payables and accruals borne by the investment holding

companies). BRI
Other segment information B HER
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
FREERR BRLER
Water Property development and
business investment Mining business Investment in Yantian Unallocated Consolidation
E3s NEERRRR RExn BERE 73R 7
2025 04 2025 04 2025 04 2025 04 2025 04 2025 04
C§CRE CRCEF Z8CRE CRCEE CRCRE CRME CRCRF CSOME C8CRF CROEE C¥CEE CROMF
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
T i T T T i Tin i Tin i Tin i
Addtions to property, BENE BER
plant and equipment 3 - 16,160
Addtions to property, FRNENELD
plant and equipment through - #5241 -
acquistion of subsidiaries  ERRE = 77889
Addtions to investment  FERENE
properties L4 |4
Addtions to infangble assets  EEHEHBAT
through acquisiton of Bz ENEE
subsidiares - 358649
Amortisation B - (10,209) (1I1)
Depreciation i3 (1158) (6,067) (5,308)
Other gains At 18056 501 18818
Other losses 0] 2 (3919) (201) (4m
Provision for impaiment ~~ &F/&E A
loss on intangble assets  EERE - (91,378) »B0)
(Provision for)reversal of Btz HEEE
mpaiment loss on deposits  (&#&)/B%
paid 1 @,103) [T
Provision for impaiment 1%+ BER
loss on properties, FELAE
plant and equipment FARE (33 (303)
(Provision for)reversal of e EZE R,
mpairment NERE
[oss on completed FE(RE)/
properties held for sale @& m 1) M
(Provison for)/reversal of  EZENEFZHE
impairment loss EE(3R)/
on trade receivables & 33 (90) 33
Provision for impaiment ~ EtEkER2
loss on other receables  HEEERE (3540) (300) (3540)
Loss from changes in REMZATE
farvalue of investment %8788
propertes ) @15973) D
* less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars

6. DEER(E)
DEEEREE(E)
FBAEHAEENRESE XD
EtX*xaE(FZEHEAEREE
PERR N B PR 2 B RS AR SR S FE AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.

Geographical information
The Group operates in two principal geographical areas — the PRC

and Hong Kong.

The Group's revenue from external customers and information about

its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed below:

DREHR(E)

1 B2 & F)
AEEERETEHELYL - FHARE
o

REERENDES 2 WA RBBLE
RBAE(RIRAERS) 2 AR
mT

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
RENBEFHEA FREEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
“ECRF —_FTIMF ZBDHFE —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHBT FET TABT
The PRC s 14,160 1,671,681
Hong Kong BB = 2,907
14,160 1,674,588
Information about major customers FEEFEH

Other than three tenants from whom the lease income represents
approximately 22%, 5% and | 1% of the total revenue of the Group
respectively, and one customer from sales of bottled mineral water
represents approximately 5% of the total revenue of the Group,
there is no other single customer who contributes over 0% of the

total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Other than three tenants from whom the lease income represents
approximately 3 1%, 22% and 6% of the total revenue of the Group
respectively, and one customer from sales of properties represents
approximately 10% of the total revenue of the Group, there is no
other single customer who contributes over 0% of the total revenue

of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

7. REVENUE 7. WA

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: AEBRAKNFEE 2 WALHTIOT ¢
2025 2024
—E-EHE —E U
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt TET FAT
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue from contracts with REAEFEHZBA
customers
Sales of properties MEHE (i) 1,788
Sales of bottled mineral water MERFKIHE () 50
1,838
Revenue from leases HEZWA (ii) 12,322
Total revenue AL PN 14,160
Notes: Htat -
(i)  Performance obligations (i) BHEF
Information about the Group's performance obligations is summarised below: BRAEENEHSEEERS MmN T ¢
Sales of properties YEHE
The performance obligation is satisfied upon handover of the properties. There BHETNNYELEK - R_T_RF
were no transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations E—_ZE-_NE=ZA=+—8  HESEZH
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. TRARECREKSIBDENX) RSB -
Sales of bottled mineral water IREERAKHE
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of goods. All of the Group’s BAHASEINRRNEREBEK - AEBFRER
revenue from sale of goods was recognised at the point in time when the control MEENBARERIEHIHEETEP N
of the products was transferred to customers. ) Zh S JERE SR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

7. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)  Leases

For operating leases:

Lease payments that are fixed

8. OTHER GAINS

Continuing operations

Bad debts recovered

Interest income on bank deposits

Government grant

Dividend income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Sundry

Compensation relating to acquisition of
Beijing properties

Interest income relating to termination of
acquisition of Shenyang Properties

Interest income relating to amount due from
non-controlling interest

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Exchange gain, net

7. WAGE)

HiaF - ()
(i) HE

REEREmS
E A E K

8. HAtblk

HFRSERE

AR ]
RITF B WA
K3 BN
BAFEFARSEZ
SREEZRBEA
IR
WL R E AR ZEE

RIPW RS M Z M BIA

e IEE R i s IR A
Z M BUA
HEME - BERREZ
Wegs

PEE 3 Wi ot 5 B

I 70  Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | # iNE (Z1ZEA% A% (3 IR A &

2025
—E-HE
HK$’000
FET

S22
fm

2025
—E-HEF
HK$’000
FTET

2024

—E e
HK$'000
FAT

12,322

2024

—E U4
HK$'000
AT

75
76

65
26

8,822

9,198

551



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

9. OTHER LOSSES

Continuing operations

Exchange loss, net

Loss on written off of property, plant and
equipment, net

Loss on written off of inventories

0. FINANCE COSTS

Continuing operations
Interest on secured bank loan
Interest on lease liabilities
Interest on other payables

Interest on promissory notes

9. HittEiE

2025
—E_RE
HK$’000
F& T
BESEER
M X B8 F 58
WEEMZE - BE K&
BBz BEER
WiHTF 8 2 B8
10. & B A<
2025
—E-REF
HK$’000
FHExT
BEREER
BEPIRITERZF B

HERBEZHNE
H b AR ZFE
ERERZHE

Annual Report 2025 ¥

2024
—EOF
HK$'000
FHET

4,272

2024
—EUEF
HK$'000
FHEIT

201
312
195

65

773
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

| 1. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION |1, BRELAT

The Group’s loss before taxation from ZAEEREIFELLEEE 2

continuing operations is arrived at BB ATE R TR ER
after charging/(crediting): (FFAN) T HEEZEE :
Other staff costs H b8 TR A
Other staff's retirement benefits scheme EME T 7 RIREFFTEIHR

contributions

Total staff costs BTN 4858
Auditor's remuneration Z A B &
— audit services — B ARTS
— non-audit services — IERZEPRTE

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)3 « B &R EITE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEEERE

Amortisation of land use right o {50 R A 4 5H

Amortisation of water mining right RK RS B

Lease payment not included in the measurement WAt AFEAEEENTHE
of lease liabilities (Note 20(c)) RER(HEE20(c))

Fair value (gain)/ loss on financial assets at fair  EAFEFAERZ 2/
value through profit or loss BEZAFEMKE) EE

I 72  Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | #1 iNE (S 1A% A% (5 IR A &

5!

2025
—E-REFE
HK$’000
FET

2024
—EOF
HK$'000
FHET

7,081

95

7,176

[,100
1,635

2735

2,016
3,292
199
952

212

406



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HiZE T -HF=A=+—HI-FE

2. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as follows:

12. EEM=
BN AR SUEEZMENT -

Executive directors:
Ms. Ouyang Yanling (Chaiman)
(appointed on 23 February 2024)
Mr. Li Yuguo
Mr. Liu Yan Chee James
Mr. Li Xaoming
Mr. Yu Jiang
(resigned on 16 August 2023)
Ms. Wen Junyi
(appointed on 12 June 2024
and resigned on 26 March 2025)
Mr. Chan Wai Fung
(appointed on 26 March 2025)

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yang Xiaogiang (Vice chaiman)
Mr. Huang Yilin
Mr. Chen Dong Yao
(eppointed on 23 February 2024)

Independent non-executive
directors:
Mr. Ba Junyu
Mr. Zhu Xueyi
(resigned on 19 Apri 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Man
(resigned on 19 Apri 2024)
Mr. So Ting Kong
(appointed on 22 May 2024
and resigned on 31 January 2025)
Mr. Wong Sung
(appointed on 22 May 2024)
Mr. Xu Xingge
(appointed on 22 May 2024)

* Other benefits mainly included estimated money value of other non-cash benefits- *

accommodation.

Retirement
Salaries and benefits scheme

Directors’ fees other benefits* contributions Total

Eshe HERA RN BRI BN 4y
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
“ECRE -E-ME CECRE -E-ME CECRE —E-ME CECRE CEoME
HK$°000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Thr Thxn Thn AR Thr Thxn Thn

HiEs:
BRaRLt(ZE)

(R-B-mE-A-+=REZF) - §
FEAEE 2094 2678
HamLs 468
TRERLE 40
T4

(W=Z=ZFNA+AREE) 150
itz

(W=Z-mE~AT-RERR

YR-B-RE=A-+AREE) -
RigELE

(M=5-R&=A

“+rBEEf) -

3904
FUTES:
BINaEE(FEE) 192
ERIMEE 192
BRELE
(R-E-mE-A-+=REZfL) 6
3%
BukunEs:
BhFEE 156
REZRE

(R=Z-REmATAREM) 156
EUEE

(N=Z-MEmATNBRE) 156
HEeilft

(W=Z-mERA-Tt-REZE

TR=E-RE-R=1-HEf) =
EERE

(W=2-MERA-+-REZA) =
BERLE

(M=2-MERA-+-REEA) -

48
4762

HitpEM T EZRREMIRSB/HN —EBZ
fhEtEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) |2. {4 (&)

During the years ended 3| March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments RBE_ZTE-_AFR-_FT-_MFE=H
were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or STH—RLEFEA AEESESINT
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of EEMSERBEFEMAIRMALREE
the directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during B RS BEREE - REE-ZE—F
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. EFRZTE_NEF=ZA=+T—HILLFE
A B E EER oA B HER AT A
%G o
13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEME
(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) BERBFAL
The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals for AEERhEERTFAT 2 eEES
the year included 2 (2024: 2) directors of the Company, whose EARNTWME(ZZE—NF : WB)E
emoluments are included in note |2 above. The emoluments for - HBSFBEN XXM - &8
the remaining 3 (2024: 3) individuals are as follows: T=R(ZZ-W4F : =5) ATHIBN
T

2025 2024

—E-RF S visfeS

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR THETT

Salaries and other benefits ¥ra MHEMER 2,244

Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R (K48 F 5T 21470 S

2,298
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

3. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (continued)

The emoluments of the remaining 3 (2024: 3) individuals fell

within the following bands:

HK$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000
HK$ 1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000

(b) Senior management of the Group
During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the senior management
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of them has waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended 3|

March 2025 and 2024.

13. EEM < (&)
(a) ZEERBFAL(E)
BT=®/(ZE-ME: =H)AL
ZHENFUTEE :

Number of individuals

A
2025 2024
—?—ﬁﬂi —7—[E‘£F
T ITZE 1,000,000/ 7T 2
1,000,000 7T 2 2,000,000/%5 7T |
3

(b) XEEZEREEE
REBEE_ZE_AFR-_ZT_MF=
A=T—BIFERN  AEEHE
INTFEREEBMEEABSEM
AR AT S BB > 424 of B B
W RBE-_T-_FAER_-F
“ME=ZA=+—BLEFER &
LHERERFABRETAHNS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

4. TAXATION

Continuing Operations

Current tax: BNHAT IR -

— Hong Kong Profits Tax —EEBMEKR

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —hEPRAED

Total current tax expenses BN EAR TE % 42 %8

Under-provision in prior years: BEFETZERE

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax - PR EMEH

Deferred income tax: EEFTIEH

— Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets - RERBEEERLD(3EM)
(Note 36) (Btet36)

— Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (Note 36) — IRIEFLIB & &R A (H/7£36)

Income tax credit for the year REEMBHESL

& Less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars

Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | A7 A1 B 1A% A% 1 B BR A 7

14, FiIH
FFEREEK
2025
—E-RHEF
HK$°000
FHT

*

PR—FBT

2024
—EMFE
HK$'000
FHET

5,093

5,093

(2,012)
(19,288)

(21,300)

(16,189)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

4.

TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Continuing Operations (continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax should be provided at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit arising in Hong Kong. For the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024, no provision for Hong Kong profits tax was
made as the Group has no assessable profits arising in or derived from

Hong Kong.

Subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax
at 25% (2024: 25%) for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses
amounting to approximately RMB29,293,000 as at 31 March 2025
(2024: RMB10,759,000) that will expire within 5 years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. The tax losses of approximately
HK$125,739,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$122,107,000) are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits in
Hong Kong. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised as it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which

the above tax losses can be utilised.

14. B8 (48)

FERE R ()
ERBELEZ T EAR R B R
[65%sT IR BB EHEE HE_Z

—hAFERZB_ME=A=+—HILF
B ARAEETERKEEBELLZ

FERFRUS A - B AR BB FI 1S
o

HE_ T _RAF=-A=+T—HBLLFE "
PR ZHEARERFRSU( T =
F 0 25%) BRI EATSR o

RZEZAF=A=+—80 " 1E}S
B A ANRE29293000T(=ZF =Y
F: AR#10,759,0007t ) 2 Fi 18 &5 18
BRECHEEE  HBHEEREBR
KR FFE A JE R DA B R SR B R L
M- RZTB-_AF=A=+—H0 %
BEA#1125739,0008 L (=T Z M 4F -
122,107,000 7T ) 2 15 I8 &5 18 7] 4 M R
HE AR RN BB Z BRBET - AR
WA AR A RE R RE Rl ) A E it B IE /&S
BEE 2 BRBURF - B ERERIE
EFIEEE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

4. TAXATION (CONTINUED)
Continuing Operations (continued)
The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss

before taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

14. F18 (48)

REEEXE (H)
AERZFERESL T RS BRRE
thREHEER 2 BB RSENT

comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before taxation (from continuing

operations)

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%

(2024: 16.5%)

Tax effect of share of result of associates

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purposes

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purposes

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Unrecognised deferred tax arising from
temporary difference
Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised

Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

operating in other jurisdictions

Under-provision in prior years

Income tax credit for the year

i Less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars

2025 2024
—E-REF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
BB AIEECREFE
KT (35,944)
REBAEHBTE6.5%
ZEIUF - 165%)
FAEZHIEA (5931)
PaRa): Nl
FEZHBBTE 1,885
FBIEM S TENB
Xz RBeE 13,269
FBIEN S BERT
WA 2 B2 (24,340)
REBRZBIE
BRIz RETE 1,831
OREREEL
REERIEIET IR (2,716)
BHALAARERRZ
MIAEE (18)
TEH fh Rl ARE R A & 2 P&
RATRIB R 2 HGZE (187)
BEFETRERE 18
REEMEHER (16,189)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

I5.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 27 April 2023, the Company and Ms. Mao Yuzhen (“the
Purchaser”, an independent third party) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which, the Company has agreed to
sell, and the Purchaser has agreed to acquire, the entire issued share
capital of Century Strong Limited and the shareholder’s loan advanced
to the Disposal Group, at a consideration of RMB150,000,000. The
disposal was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
special general meeting held on 12 July 2023. The disposal is expected

to be completed by early 2025.

However, the Purchaser requested for postponement of the date
of Completion. The Group has explored the possibility of selling
the Disposal Group to other potential buyers while no new willing
purchaser could be secured by the Group. In view of the updated
asset proofs and background information provided by the Purchaser,
and a further deposit of RMB1,000,000, the Group has granted the
Purchaser the extension of deadline for the completion of disposal to
3| December 2025. Refer to the announcement dated 4 February
2025 for the details.

The results and cash flows of the Disposal Group are treated as

discontinued operations.

KIEET
RZZE_=FMA=-++tH ' KXAF
BEFELLZL([ER] RBIE=
AV —HEE W Bt - AQ
AIREHE @ REHRE W Century
Strong Limited ) 2 2 FHTRA R H &
SEEBANORRER  REAARY
150,000,0007T ° Hi&E FHEAR QAR
RZBEZ=F+tA+-_ARTHRER
AlRE L#fE - HEFHBHEN_-F
“REFYITK °

R - EFERBETKER - X&H
ERRMAMEEERHEHESEN
ARt EAEBRELZEGHNERE
7o ERERIRENENEEITARSE
SER KR AR 1,000,000 )i — %
¢ AEEEHEEFHTKEESE
WHRERE-_Z-_AF+_A=+—
B #ER208BHA-Z-_AF_A
THAKAE -

HEKENXENRSRERRRRC
AR EZERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB ERRMEE

nVT\

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the results and cash flows of the

discontinued operations are analysed as follows:

Analysis of discontinued operations

ERLIERER(E)

HE-P-AF=A=1t-ALFE

ERIEEBNEERRERE DT
T~

ERIERFEZ T

2025 2024
—E-hHF —FTomE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Revenue WA =
Other gains H At W s 5
Administrative expenses TERR X (16)
Loss before taxation R 5t Al 1R (I
Taxation Ti1a —*
Loss for the year from discontinued operations B 4% |F ¥ 2 R EE E1E (rn
The Group’s loss for the year from AEERBERILERZ
discontinued operations is AEEEFEBIINHRUT
carried at after charging: HEREE :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - = KR EITE =
Cash flows from discontinued operations: BRI EE 2 HERE :
Net cash used in operating activities L EBFT IR S F 5 (1
Net cash generated from investing activities KERSELR ST 5
Net cash generated from financing activities BMEEBELRSFHE -
Net increase in cash and cash BRe MRS FEYILINFE
equivalents 4
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEFE R BB B (92)
(88)

o less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

*  less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars

16. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/ 6. PEBFEHENEE B
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH PTHEABELENEERE
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE HEzaE
As the net assets of the Disposal Group will be recovered principally HREEEEZ  FEAEBTIEEBHEE
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use (details R MIEEBIFEFE R MBS AL (5
of which are set out in note 15), the Group classified the assets as BERMEIS)  AEBBEESEA
held for sale. FHEHE -

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the Disposal BESEAFEHENEEEEZTE
Group classified as held for sale are as follows: EEMBEERNNOT
2025 2024
—E-AHF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAET
Assets BE
Properties, plant and equipment M - BB K RE 176 179
Deposit paid for acquisition of investment EREWEEREEME Y
properties in Yantian BfES 149,429 152,117
Deposit paid for naming right and EEDRERESEY
advertising right Bft®e 7,918 8,060
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEEED 2,550 2,592
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FARNFIE - Be REAM
& AR R 2,471 2515
Assets of Disposal Group classified as DEERFELEZ
held for sale HESBEE 162,544 165,463
Liabilities =§
Tax payable e IR =
Liabilities of Disposal Group directly associated B2 3B A IEHENEE
with assets classified as held for sale HEEHEEZLEEEEE =5
Net assets directly associated with HNEEEERRAR
Disposal Group BEFE 165,463
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

l6.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

The net assets directly associated with the Disposal Group was
stated at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell, which is the consideration for the disposal amounting to
RMB150,000,000. In view of the assets owned by the Purchaser, the
scale and diversity of her businesses and further to the assessments
made by the management on the estimated value of the properties
represented by real estate ownership certificate provided by the
Purchaser, the management concurs with the view of the Purchaser
that the aggregate value of the asset proof provided by the Purchaser
is estimated to be not less than the consideration for the disposal,
and considers that the Purchaser has the capability to complete the
disposal transaction. Therefore, as at 3| March 2025, there was no
indication of any impairment on the Disposal Group and the fair
value of the Disposal Group remained unchanged. The decrease in
the above amounts is mainly due to the exchange difference resulting
from the depreciation of RMB, which was recognised in other

comprehensive income.

. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR
From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners

of the Company is based on the following data:

Loss B8

Loss for the year from continuing operations
attributable to the owners of the Company

Loss for the year from discontinued operations

ZARNEEER

attributable to the owners of the Company

182 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | #7111 fx % 0 B BR A

16. 7

HHESBEEEAENEEFREE
FEEERATFERKANLDES (URESE
RE)IE MHEFEREBARY
150,000,0007C - ERE ST HEEAMWEE -
HEBMABERZ T REEIRE 4
BRI RHOEMEMBREENRERN
MEEETEEEL T AR - BEER
B —HRABEHIREHNEEFHMNER
BEMATTEREEEERE  ¥RA
BERERITREEERS - Al - ©¥
—E_RE=A=+—H #BELHLY
EEENRETR EHEEENATF
BHRFIE - FRESBRODEZAR
AREREEEANELEZR  HERE
ftb 2 T Yt ok P JETERR ©

AREFERRBER B
FREE

KEFREERBER CHRILRET
AREERABIEEBRERNERIIRE
AT EEAE

ARBEA NRIEFRERZE
KB AFEEE
ARRBGHEE ARBEERIERH

2025 2024
—EB-RF —ET
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET BT
(8.336)

(I

(8,347)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

17. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR
(CONTINUED)

|7. REERRBEE AEMN
FREEGE)

2025 2024
—E-RE — T U4
’000 Shares '000 Shares
TR TR
Number of shares KRG EE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for FA{EstE SR EAREIE 2
the purpose of basic loss per share (Note) BT INRE T SR (KT aE) 938,403

Note:
The basic and diluted loss per share from continuing and discontinued operations are the
same for the years ended 3| March 2025 and 2024, as there are no dilutive potential

ordinary shares in existence.

From continuing operations
The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing operations
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following

data:

Kt -

HRBEEAEEHEYE 2 TAR - R E=

T_AFR-ZTE_NF=A=T—BLEFEXREH
BIREXBREKLIEEB 2 BREAREEEBRM

=

KEFEEEET
AREERABGEREFELLEEK
BREAERNGETERIA T

2025 2024
—EC-HF 15
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Loss for the year from continuing operations RRAREB AEIEREFE
attributable to the owners of the Company RBER 7 NFEEIER (8,336)
From discontinued operations KEBHKIFEFR

Basic loss per share from discontinued operations is HK$0.00001
per share (2024: HK$0.00001), based on the loss for the year from
discontinued operations attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$12,000 (2024: HK$11,000). The denominators
used are the same as those detailed above for both basic and diluted

loss per share.

BEARRNBHER ARG RE R IEER
ZARFEEELI2008TL(ZE=
F:11,00087T)  REERIEEH 2
FREAREIEAFTR00000EIL(ZF
Z VY% : 000001 TT) o FTA S RIEL |
N ARGESREAREEEEDY
MR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 8. 1By
As at 3| March 2025 and 2024, investment properties are situated in RZF_RAFRZF_NF=A=1+—

B REMEMNF BT - &M kit

Zhejiang, Suzhou and Beijing, the PRC and are held under medium- = O -
R WRFHEERA -

term leases.
2025 2024
—EC-HF —ET
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHETT
At the beginning of the year F 4] 775,065
Additions NE |,644
Transfer from deposits paid ERERACO RS 48,943
Fair value changes NEEZE (67,212)
Exchange realignment PE % (26,628)
At the end of the year FER 731,812
Amount recognised in profit or loss for investment REZPRREYENBERE
properties -l
2025 2024
—EC-HF 125
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Lease income from operating leases REKLZHEZHERA 11,584
Direct operating expenses on investment EEHEWAZKEME
properties that generated lease income BHEKLEEY 2,116
Unrealised loss on property revaluation FTAREYHERNFEE
included in loss from changes in B MEEGHRER
fair value of investment properties B8 (67,212)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Contractual obligation
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there is no contractual obligation to
purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs,

maintenance or enhancements.

Leasing arrangements
The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating
leases. The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-

cancellable operating leases are as follows:

18. REW = (&)
BHREF
RZZE_RAFR_T_NF=A=+—
H #EEE BREIREREMES
ER#E  #EBIARNEHNEL -

HELZH
BREMERGERELETAS - 77
A S TR T B R SRR TR A R
M

2025 2024

—EEHF — T4

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT T

Within one year —F R 10,771
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEFNF(BREEERTE) 33,397
Over five years AFLAE 35,074
79,942
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 18. IREW) £ (4&)

Valuation processes of the Group

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at 3| March
2025 were arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out by the
independent qualified professional valuer, Graval Consulting Limited

(2024: AP Appraisal Limited).

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
management, audit committee and the independent valuer annually, in

line with the Group's annual reporting date.

The management:

*  verifies major inputs to the independent valuation report;
*  assesses property valuations movements when compared to the
prior valuation report; and

. holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Valuation methodology

The Group completed its annual valuation on investment properties,
and the valuation used direct comparison method under market
approach. Market approach is common for property valuation. As
there are publicly available data on comparable transactions in the
market, the fair values of investment properties are generally arrived
by adopting the direct comparison method by making reference to
the recent transaction prices and/or asking prices of comparable

properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Valuation methodology (continued)

Detail of the key inputs used in the valuation are as follows:

Non-financial assets

FERMEE

Investment properties
in Zhejiang
I ZRENE

Fair value

as at 3|1 March

R=A=t-H
ZATE
2025 2024
“ECRE T NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THT

13,686

74900

18. REW = (&)

188750 (&)

Key inputs to the valuation

HEZTESHE

Leasehold land and factory

HE iR TR

PRC comparables ranging from
RMBI,033 to RMBI,236 (2024:
RMBI,300 to RMBI,701) per square

metre
NTBERRARE I 0BTEARK
12367 (Z 2= « ARKI,3007T
ZAREL701T)NHEAIELER S

Leasehold land

BELH

PRC comparables ranging from RMB536
to RMB565 (2024: RMB 14 to RMB215)
per square metre
NFETHKAREITEARE
S65TL(=F=EF : ARBI4TEA
RE25) B AL 8RR 5

BMEMBHEZ2LHEZFBENAT :

Relationship of key
inputs to fair value
TESHER
DNYEZBE

A significant increase in the key inputs
would result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa
IR2BEARENEEHRLFER
WM - R IR

A significant increase in the key inputs
would result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa
IR2BEARENEEHAFER
PRI - 2 TRA
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Valuation methodology (continued)

Fair value
as at 31 March
Non-financial assets R=RA=1+-H
FERMERE ZBYE
2025 2024
“ECRE T OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEE AL
Investment properties 606,695
in Suzhou
BNz RENE

18. REW = (&)

18187 0% (&)

Key inputs to the valuation

HECTESHUE

Shops

ki

PRC comparables ranging from
RMB19,000 to RMB22,352 (2024:
RMB38,873 to RMB46,952) per square
metre
NEGIHTRARKI9000TEA
R®0350(—F-0F : AR
38873 E AR #46,9527T ) AR B AT
BHBRs

Commercial buildings

BEET

PRC comparables ranging from
RMBI8,238 to RMBI9,317 (2024:
RMB32,472 to RMB38,767) per square
metre
NEEFHKARKIBIBTEA
REI9317L(ZF-0F : AR%
AT E AR 3876770 ) 9P Bl AT
BB S
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 18. REWIE(E)

Valuation methodology (continued)

Fair value

as at 31 March

188750 (&)

Relationship of key

inputs to fair value

Non-financial assets R=A=+—-H Key inputs to the valuation FESEEH
FERMEE ANl REZEESHE AVEZBRE
2025 2024
it Sk Ltk
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAT
Investment properties 50217  Office
in Beijing N
EReRENME PRC comparables ranging from A significant increase in the key inputs
RMB23,436 to RMB35,594 (2024: would result in a significant increase in
RMB34,928 to RMB55,879) fair value, and vice versa

NEEEHKARERBB6TLE TER2YEANRENEEHATER
ANREE35 5940 (ZF -4 ¢ B RZIFA
AR#3492870 2 AR¥ES5,8797T) K

PETELRR S

There is no significant changes in the assumptions from those
previously adopted. The change in the key inputs was mainly due to
the change in market values of properties in the PRC resulting from
the slowdown of the PRC economy and the debt crisis of some of the
property developers in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the fair value measurement of the
Group’s investment properties is categorised at level 3 hierarchy.
During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no
transfers into or out of level 3.

EBARANBREAEL  HESAR
@ FEZ2HENEHETEZANP L
W%ML¢I$ DYIEEREB EE
%ﬁ% BRTEMENTISEESE
@Jo

KRB _AFR_F_NF=HA=+—
B AEERENENAFEGENE
RE=ZFR -BE_ZT_AFR_
“HE=RA=+— Etiflﬁ%%k
F_FRAEAF=FREL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE
19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. 12 ~ BB RRE
Furniture,
fixtures
Land and Mine Leasehold and office Motor  Construction
buildings infrastructures improvement  Machinery  equipments vehicles in progress Total
L] BE BR - 2ER

HHERT  EERE LES 3 BE  HOERE hE HRIE it
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$000
Thr TEL Thr TAL Thr T Thr T

Cost A

Asat | April 2023 W=B==EmA-A - - 760 17299 599 240 3987 6453
Addiions 7E 1136 - - 12971 v 9l 1413 16,40
Additons through acquistons of subsidaries  ERUEHBATLR 2691 8743 - 7089 846 - - 9369
Transfers & 36647 - - 183 9 - (36839) -
Bichange realigiment kS 0 37 (14) (558) (189) 8) (1179) (1713)

Asat3| March 2024 and | April 2024 W-Z-ME=A=+-AK

ZE-MERA-A 40496 86,130 746 36984 311 2720 28 174269
Additions RE 84
Witte off B (GD)
Disposals HE

Bichange realigiment EjAE ) (659)

Asat 31 March 2025 RZE-EE=A=1-A 40,339 84,611 18 36,953 6,848 2,386 866 172,741
"

Accumulated depreciation and ZitTERAE

impairment
Asat | April 2023 RZB-ZERA-A = = 760 12706 545 1797 - 16,808
Depreciation for the year FRfE 735 - - 775 n 133 - 2016
Accumulated deprecition of acquisiton - EEHBARNBHZHE

through subsidiaries 264 14112 - 2587 517 - - 18480
Impairment loss for the year EREEER - - - 303 - - - 303
Fichange realigiment EX R 6 84 (14) (44) (39) (62) - (469)
Asat3| March 2024 and | April 2024 W=F-ME=A=1-AK

ZE-REMA-A 2005 14176 46 18847 13% [ 868 - 40038
Depreciation for the year ENE
Wiite off HiE -+
Disposals il
Exchange realignment ERA 343)
Asat 31 March 2025 R-E-RE=A=1-8 3,759 13,921 19,856 2,790 1931
Carrying amounts FHE
Asat 31 March 2025 RZE-REZR=1-A 36,580 10,684 - 17,097 4,058 455 866 129,740
—
As at 31 March 2024 WZE-mE=A=1-R 38491 71954 = 18137 4515 852 8 134231
. Less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars * DR—FHE T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArRe BT R R M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

As at 3| March 2024, the recoverable amount of the machinery located in
Zhejiang, which was leased out for rental income ("“Zhejiang machinery”), has
been determined based on value in use of the machinery and with reference to a

valuation report issued by AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer.

As asset approach does not take future growth potential into consideration, asset
approach not an adequate approach for the valuation of the Zhejiang machinery.
Besides, as there are insufficient comparable transactions exist in the market,
market approach is not adopted. Therefore, discounted cash flow method under
the income approach, to derive the fair value for the present value of the cashflows

generated from the activity, was adopted in the valuation.

The recoverable amount of the Zhejiang machinery was determined using the
discounted cash-flow approach with the key inputs including the discount rate of
8% and growth rate on rental income of 1.25%. The valuation is categorised at level

3 hierarchy.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Zhejiang machinery is amounted
to approximately HK$384,000 (2024: HK$491,000). Based on the assessment
of the management of the Group, there was no indication that the provision for
impairment on Zhejiang machinery should be reversed or further impairment loss
should be provided. An impairment loss of approximately HK$3,203,000 has been
recognised for the year ended 3| March 2024.

The land and buildings with carrying amount of approximately HK$35,172,000
(2024: HK$37,058,000) are pledged as securities for bank borrowings (note 37).

19. 9125 ~ BB R M (&)

Kt -

(ii)

R-ZF_WE=A=+—0  uRINTIH
THRREE & WA BRES ([T #2R 1) 2 ATk
EeBERBEHENEREEETE  12E
B A BB E{ERIAP Appraisal LimitedH B &Y
RERE -

HREBEERTEZEARRERES  BEZX
WIEEE AT HEEETE - thoh - aR
BEMS LY BARNAIELRR S @ 8
AERATISE - Bt - [BEPRARAEE
TORRBEEREBEFEEHEENRER
BHRENAFE-

ATIHes 2 MBS BN RBIRESRE
FEEE  TELHERBETE R EAS K
AREK|25%  ZEENEAF =5 -

RZBE-RF=RA=+—0 WIEBZER
B 4 /3384,0008 7L (=T Z U4 : 491,000
BIT) c RBEAEEERE 2T - BER
KBTI ERGEREERNT
ZE—SHERREBRES BE-ZT-N
FZA=+—HILFE ERBREEBED
3,203,000/ 7T ©

BR T {H %9 35,172,000 B 7T ( =& — [0 4

37,058,000/ 7T ) &) T i R EF B ERERR
ITIE AR (T 5E37) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ¥2¢ ~ BB K&t ()
(CONTINUED)
Amount recognised in profit or loss REZHEERRE L
2025 2024
—E-REF —E
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FABT
Rental income from machinery leased under KEKLEHERT
operating leases HEE S E 2 WA 731 738
Leasing arrangements HEZH
The machinery is leased to tenants under operating leases. The future WRIGEEHEEEAETFHEE - Aol s
minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating LETHE T BB R R &EEE S
leases are as follows: T
2025 2024
—E-RE —FEDEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Within one year —&FR 463
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_ZENF(BREEERSE) =
Over five years AELE -
463
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

20. LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for buildings with lease periods of | to

2 years (2024: | to 2 years).

20.FHE
FEFESRHEA
FEEERERS—EME(Z TN
F:—EWMF)NEFHEESLD -

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the AEBFAEEENFTANEKREE
movements during the year are as follows: REFHMT :
Residential
units Offices Total
fEEEy WAZ it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHT FHT
As at | April 2023 RZZEZ=FMH—H 3073 339 3512
Additions R - 2,372 2,372
Depreciation e (2,063) (1,229) (3,292)
As at 31 March 2024 and RZ-T-_M&=A=+—H
| April 2024 k=T FMA—H [,110 1,482 2,592
Depreciation e (1,110) (1,186) (2,296)

As at 31 March 2025 R-ZE_RAF=A=+—H

296 296
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

20. LEASES (CONTINUED) 20. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEFESAFEN (E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEEBERFARNEREERES WM
during the year are as follows: ™
HK$'000
THET
As at | April 2023 RZE_=FMHA—H 3,441
Additions R 2,372
Interest expense e 312
Payments (B¢ (3,554)
As at 31 March 2024 and | April 2024 RZE-_WMF=A=+—HBK
“EMFEMA—A 2,571
Interest expense MEFXZ
Payments NES
As at 31 March 2025 R-—ZFE-_AF=A=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

20. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

Analysed into:
Current portion

Non-current portion

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are

as follows:

Interest on lease liabilities
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Expense relating to short term leases

(included in administrative expenses)

Total amount recognised in profit or loss

20. = (&)

EEBEREAEA (HF)
(b) HEEEE)

2025
—EBE-REF
HK$’000

2024
—EUEF
HK$'000
T

2,320
25|

2,571

() MERTEREREENSHL

B

2025 2024
—E-hREF —E 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
HEAGEZHE 312
FREEENE 3,292

EHTHERS
(FFATTERAX) 212
RIBRP R 2 A% 3,816
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21 BIEEE

Water Exploration
Land use mining and mining
right right right Total
(Note i) (Note i) (Note ii)
T e A RokiE BRRRRE st
(Hfazi) (Ktizii) (K aiii)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Cost 22
As at | April 2023 RZEZ=FMA—H 10,363 374314 - 384,677
Additions through acquisition of BB B A RIEA
subsidiaries - - 359,493 359,493
Exchange realignment P 5 A (356) (141) 1,622 1,125

As at 31 March 2024 and N-E-_ME=F=+—H

| April 2024 R-_ZE_NENA—H 10,007 374,173 361,115 745,295
Exchange realignment [ 5 B 177) (70) (6,371) (6,618)
As at 31 March 2025 R-B-HFE=A=+—H 9,830 374,103 354,744 738,677
Accumulated amortisation Rt BERRE

and impairment
As at | April 2023 R-EBE-_=FA—H 975 145,509 - 146,484
Accumulated amortisation of FHRIB A REER

acquisition through subsidiaries R T - - 844 844
Amortisation for the year F R 199 952 - [,I51
Impairment loss for the year FERNREEE - 29,230 - 29,230
Exchange realignment 0 5 A (33) - 4 (29)

As at 31 March 2024 and R-ZB-NE=A=+—~H

| April 2024 R=ZE-NEMNA—H [,141 175,691 177,680
Amortisation for the year R 10,011 - 10,209
Impairment loss for the year FRREEE 83,400 7,978 91,378
Exchange realignment [ 5 A& 2) (83) (107)
As at 31 March 2025 R-EBE-_RFE=H=+—H 1,317 269,100 8,743 279,160
Carrying amount BEEE
As at 31 March 2025 R-E-_RF=A=1+—H 8,513 105,003 346,001 459,517

—_—
As at 3| March 2024 NZZE-_NE=A=1+—H” 8,866 198,482 360,267 567,615
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

II‘I-F

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—Z —

BB EwRRMEE

AEE= F =-—E ISR

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(ii)

Land use right represents the right to use the land for water exploitation activities in

Hunan. The land is located at 4R %7 B & T #8732 A B8 = S IBER AR Al

Land use right is amortised on a straight-line basis over its lease term of 50 years. It

is pledged as securities for bank borrowings (note 37).

Water mining right represents the right to conduct water exploitation activities
in Hunan. The subsidiary, #iF8%TH = $835& XK B A 7] had entered into an
agreement with Hunan Government to grant the subsidiary a water mining right for
exploitation of mineral water for 5 years. The subsidiary has the priority to extend
the mineral water mining right afterwards. The mine is located at #F ¥ H & = &
J&. The subsidiary has the exclusive rights and authorities to manage and arrange all
activities in the mining area. The water mining right was renewed on | December

2022 and will expire on 3 December 2025.

Water mining right is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful
economic life of 20 years which was estimated with reference to the validity of the

operation licence held and the productions plans of the Group.

The Group is required to assess any indication of impairment on the water mining
right at the end of each reporting period. The Group has completed its annual
impairment test for the water mining right. As at 31 March 2025, the recoverable
amount of the water mining right referenced to a valuation report issued by Graval
Consulting Limited (2024: AP Appraisal Limited), an independent qualified valuer.
The recoverable amount of the water mining right was determined based on multi
period excess earnings method which uses sum of discounted present value of the
projected annual excess earnings. This valuation uses cash flow projections based
on financial estimates covering a twenty-year period. The valuation is categorised

at level 3 hierarchy.

21.

BREEE)

Kt -

0}

(i)

T {5 A PR A B KB ERE B 2 L3
AR o a% AT R 3T R AT SR
B K= GEEAEE -

T i AR ESOF MR E G AEE - ™
B T4 {F B R ERRITRE KA BER (K
F$37) °

FOKER IR ETRFEOR B AR o K
B~ R H E SR OKB R AR E &
P IR T AT 2 199 % DA B T 2% BT B8 22 m) Bl BR A 2R
IKZERKHE - REEF - ZMBARERA
1B ST IE R B SRR EROKAE © BESR AL # B
=G  ZWBRAREABRENREN
EERTHNERETZMEEES o FKE
ERZZE-__F+-_A—HEE IHN=
Z_AF+RA=HE® -

FOKERE20F At A BRBEFHIZERER
B MZEBEFHRTH2EREE P
AR B R A E B 45T -

TR ML

& HUR R A8 BROKHE Z AR DR

ERR - REBE TR FKEZFERER
A RZTBE-ZAF=A=+—8 ' FKkEgz
AURE £ E 2 EBY A EREEMIBER
(BEMRARDT(ZZ M4 : AP Appraisal

Limited) HAZ fHERE < FKEZAIREE
BRES WiB AR A (ATRE FRBEK
BIWRRERIETHE)ETE - WHEETD
RE-TFHR P BHEEFNRRSITETRR
FHE ZEEDPRE=ZSR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IMF

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—Z —

BB ERRMEE

EE=A=1t—HILFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i

(continued)

As there are insufficient comparable transactions in the market, the market
approach was not feasible for the valuation. As asset approach does not take
future growth potential into consideration, this approach is not considered to
be an adequate approach for the valuation. Therefore, income approach was
considered the most appropriate valuation approach to assess the value of the
water mining right. Multi period excess earnings method under income approach is
used which reflects the sum of discounted present value of the projected operating
profit attributed to the water mining right less required return for its contributory

tangible and intangible assets.

The key inputs used in the annual excess earnings calculation are as follows:

Net profit margin (% of revenue)

Long-term annual growth rate used to AREERESRE
extrapolate cash flow HRAFEERE
Pre-tax discount rate BATHTIR =

The net profit margin is based on management's expectation and experience
in bottled water market, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements and

expected increase in production.

The long-term annual growth rate is the growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond the ten-year period which are based on the estimated growth rate
taking into account the industry growth rate and the medium or long term growth

target of the Group.

198 Zhong Jia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | I BRI B R 2 7]

MR (ERAB L)

21, &

/\\\

EE(E)

Hiat : (%)

(ii)

(&)

BmRTIE LA BRI ST R « #ERAD
SRETTHE - AR EEARY & E BARKE
REN BRI ETRRBRREENHE
T o B WAEB R R =R A SRR
ENRAENGHETE WAERTHZH
BRI AR AIARRKEN TR EE
BINMBERESHEREERBEVRELE
EMRER -

AR EFERERSZ T Z28EHTIN
-

2025 2024

—EC-RF o

3.24%-32.74%

1.10%

12.00%

MMETIEREREE MR KT HNHER
KERE  THRBARERESRBAHESSE
INMAEITHRE ©
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EREMERE DA HERRSERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

*

(i

(i)

(continued)

The discount rate is before tax and reflects specific risks.

The value assigned to the above assumptions reflect past experience and are
consistent with management plans for focusing operations in these markets. There
are no significant changes in the assumptions from those previously adopted. The
change in the key inputs was mainly reflected the slowdown of the PRC economy.

The management believes that the assumptions are reasonable and achievable.

The exploration and mining right represents the rights for conducting exploration
and mining of lead, zinc, copper and silver at the mines which are located in Enshui
Road (Minjiang Market Section), Zhenyuan Yi Hani Lahu Autonomous County,
Pu'er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC* (Ff Bl E R4 X B 1 $E T 5% R 0a JE SR L
TR ERREKE (BIIEEMIHE)) and Jivjia Township, Zhenyuan County,
Pu'er City, Yunnan Province, the PRC* (Ff Bl EEf& LE T #TS NLF45). The
mines are operated by the subsidiaries of the Company, Zhenyuan County Jinhao
Mining Co., Ltd.* (BEnSEM&M ERR Ik B /A% REFE AR AR (“inhao”)
and Zhenyuan County Jiuyuan Mining Co., Ltd.* GETE NIRBEEBREE Q)
(“Jiuyuan”) respectively. The mining license held by Jiuyuan is valid from 25 July
2019 to 25 July 2026 and the exploration license held by Jinhao is valid from 25 July
2022 to 25 July 2027.

No amortisation was provided for the year ended 31 March 2025 as commercial

production has not yet commenced during the year (2024: Nil).

For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(iif)

(continued)

The Group is required to assess any indication of impairment on the exploration
and mining rights at the end of each reporting period. The Group has completed
its annual impairment test for the exploration and mining rights. As at 3| March
2025, the recoverable amount of the exploration and mining rights referenced to a
valuation report issued by Graval Consulting Limited (2024: AP Appraisal Limited),
an independent qualified valuer. The recoverable amount of the exploration and
mining rights was determined based on multi period excess earnings method which
uses sum of discounted present value of the projected annual excess earnings.
This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial estimates covering the

licenses terms. The valuation is categorised at level 3 hierarchy.

As there are insufficient comparable transactions in the market, the market
approach was not feasible for the valuation. As asset approach does not take future
growth potential into consideration, this approach is not considered to be an
adequate approach for the valuation. Therefore, income approach was considered
the most appropriate valuation approach to assess the value of the exploration
and mining rights. Multi period excess earnings method under income approach is
used which reflects the sum of discounted present value of the projected operating
profit attributed to the exploration and mining rights less required return for its

contributory tangible and intangible assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nJ]§

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—Z —

BB EwRRMEE

AEE= F =-—E ISR

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

The key inputs used in the annual excess earnings calculation are as follows:

Net profit margin (% of revenue)

Annual growth rate EEBRR
Pre-tax discount rate BATHT IR =

The net profit margin is based on management’s expectation and experience
in metal market, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements and expected

increase in production.

The annual growth rate is based on the estimated growth rate taking into account
the average growth rate of the global Gross Domestic Product and the Consumer

Price Index.

The discount rate is before tax and reflects specific risks.

The value assigned to the above assumptions are consistent with management
plans for focusing operations in these markets. The management believes that the

assumptions are reasonable and achievable.

The recoverable amount of the mining right held by Jiuyuan is lower than its
carrying amount, provision for impairment loss of approximately HK$7,978,000 was
provided in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

The recoverable amount of the exploration right held by Jinhao is amounted
to approximately HKS403,800,000, while the carrying amount is amounted
to approximately HK$312,084,000. A decrease in the growth rate by 1%
would cause the recoverable amount of the exploration right decrease by
approximately HK$22,300,000. A decrease in the net profit margin by 10%
would cause the recoverable amount of the exploration right decrease by
approximately HK$44,700,000. An increase in the discount rate by 2% would
cause the recoverable amount of the exploration right decrease by approximately
HK$32,100,000. In the opinion of the Company's directors, any reasonably possible
change in key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not

cause the exploration right carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

I ESCT YNER 9

. /\\\

EE(E)

Wﬁ%@)

(i)

(%)
ARFEFEEREE 2 T 22 8EHTI I
I

2025
ZEC-AF

2024
—E-mE

32.0%-49.0%
2.5%
1'1.0%

MR DEREREY 0 BHS ML RE
BHE - LHEMMEREREMNEEE
e (7408 -

FERERTAGHEERAE  LESE
2RENEEBELEEE BRSBTS
R R EI -

R TOBAT L KR TR o

SRELABRZEEEEEEIINEE

ZEMSZHE—H - - EEERAR  ZER
REAE KA EK -

nu

R URE A R ERTE R 6 AT I B & B R A H
IREE - MRGRE B REMEERERIE
R (B 518 B8 497,978,000 7T

FERAENDEENITRESBEOR
403,800,000/ 7T + M AR T {8 49 72 312,084,000
PETT o RER A 1% E B RER A E
S E 2 #922,300,0007 7T © 45 F) R TR 10%
115 35 SR B R A 1) T Wk [B] 2 BB 4> £944,700,000
PETT o HTER R hN2% 1% B B R IE R AT B
SRR A #932,100,0008TT - RAREER
o AR E S EKENEERINEIME
BA R BTSERYFEENREEB
HE AT ESFE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLlDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

*

At the beginning of the year

Share of post-acquisition losses and other
comprehensive income during the year,
net of dividends received

Impairment losses for the year

At the end of the year

Amount due from an associate

(Notes i and i) (HiatiRii)
Notes: Kt -
(i)  Amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on () EHR—fEEEARZR
demand. REKER -
(i) ~ The maximum outstanding balance during the year was approximately (i)
HK$739,000.
(i)~ The Group holds 20% equity interests in Hong Kong Spring Water Ding Dong (iii)

Group Company Limited which has a wholly-owned subsidiary in Guangxi, Guangxi
Spring Water Ding Dong Beverages Company Limited* (“Guangxi Spring Water mAERAR(E
Ding Dong"). Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong possesses a water procurement
permit for the production and sales of bottled water and is currently in operation in

Guangxi. The remaining 80% equity interests is held by Mr. Li Yuguo, an executive

director of the Group.

For identification purpose only

22. REtE DA 2 s
2025
—E-REF
HK$’000
F&T
F9]
FARADHBEREIER
Hap 2wl
kB W8
FANBEEBE
FR
2025
—E-RHEF
HK$’000
FET

JE W — i Bt i R B] 2 5ROR
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2024
—EF
HK$'000
FET

102,000

(11,220)
(780)

90,000

2024
—ENF
HK$'000
FHET

739

RRAEER 2R

REE 2 B AMEEREEL 739,000 T °

AEEFERERKTREBRRAF (AR

PSR IR AT BE 8K

EEERHE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,.vT\ jﬁﬁ#ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 22. REtE N Rz (8)

Notes: (continued) Kzt - (&)
(iiiy  (continued) @iy (&)
The Group completed its annual impairment test for interests in associates by AEEBBERAKEDSCERELRERE T
comparing the recoverable amount to the carrying amount. Graval Consulting RERBE ARz EZZEFEREAR - B
Limited (2024: AP Appraisal Limited), an independent qualified valuer, carried out a AERMEMECEXBERERAR(ZF
valuation of the interests in associates as at 3| March 2025 and 2024 based on the ZVY4F : AP Appraisal Limited) LA FREEFT &
value-in-use calculations. This valuation uses cash flow projections under income REE BR-ZZFE-_RAFR-FT-_NF=A
approach based on financial estimates covering a ten-year period. The valuation is =+ —B%EBE ARz EETHE o 1t
categorised at level 3 hierarchy. EE YRR T & 8 2 BT B E R B AE
BTIzReRERAFE - ZEEIERE
=%4
As there are insufficient comparable transactions in the market, the market ERATMBSEAELBRR SR  EAKAM
approach was not feasible for the valuation. As asset approach does not take future BEHEITHEE - BRNEEELEE ERRIE
growth potential into consideration, this approach is not considered to be an REH  AtZ A ETHRRBREEENEE
adequate approach for the valuation. Therefore, income approach was considered FoE o At MAEHERBRAGEHE QR
the most appropriate valuation approach to assess the value of the equity interests BAEZEENRKEENGERE - KA
of the associates and the discounted cash-flow method is used in the value-in-use WIRREREE (R R IR BTE R 2K F
calculations which reflects the discounted present value of all future benefits that HEMIRIRE)ETEREENE -
flow to the shareholders.
The key inputs used in the value-in-use calculations are as follows: AREREEFEZEELXHESHIINT -
2025 2024
“ECEHF —FopuE
Gross profit margin (% of revenue) EMRUEMAB D) 7.57%-39.01%
Long-term annual growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows AREERSRENRPFEERE 1.10%
Pre-tax discount rate AR = 11.00%
Gross profit margin is the margin as a percentage of revenue over the ten-year EFR B+ FEBAEHAERAET D A FE
forecast period. It is based on the current sales margin levels with adjustments for R HVRBRIHEEMBERKEAE - W
expected efficiency improvements and expected increase in production. FEHA R IR = N T8 HAEE S8 B AN 1T AR
The long-term annual growth rate is the growth rate used to extrapolate the cash RHFEBRERAANEERBTFHNE
flows beyond the ten-year period based on the estimated growth rate taking into EMEMBRER I HIIEREBEE
account the industry growth rate, past experience and the medium or long term WERTEERE  BELHREBEDFAHN
growth target of the associates. hREERBFEAESH -
The discount rate is before tax and reflects specific risks. PrEERTHF R R E RS o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i) (continued)

The value assigned to the above assumptions reflect past experience and are

consistent with management plans for focusing operations in these markets. There

are no significant changes in the assumptions from those previously adopted. The

change in the key inputs was mainly reflected the slowdown of the PRC economy.

The management believes that the assumptions are reasonable and achievable.

Details of the Group's associates, which were held indirectly by the

Company at the end of the reporting period, were as follows:

Form of Place of
business incorporation/
Name of associates and structure  operation
EauAT
BenNFER RBRARER ZEME
Hong Kong Spring Water Incorporated Hong Kong
Ding Dong Group Rl BE

Company Limited
EAEKTREEFRA

Guangxi Spring Water Ding Dong  Incorporated The PRC

Beverages Company Limited*  ZEfHA L e
BRRKTRARERAF

*  For identification purpose only
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Class of shares/
registered
capital held
KEZRB/
EMEAEH

Ordinary
Lk

Registered
wtfh

22. REEE QT 2 s (&)
B - ()

(iif)

(&)

PRELABRZEERBBELR  WE
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BERAOBRAEL  BHEREABE - X2
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AEEBERB(RNRARRNESHRME
BRB)ZHBWT

Proportion of nominal value of

paid capital/registered Principal

capital held by the Group activities
kEEEREZERARE/
dMEAAEZADL IREH

2025 2024

—E_FE —EoNE

20%  Investment holding and

water business

REBRIKES

20%  Production and sales of

bottled water
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 22. NEFE N Bl 2 fEm ()

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's associates REB ZHMENNEEZE T _RAFR—
for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 was set out below T_NF=A=+—HLEFEZHKE
which represents amounts shown in the respective financial BHESHN T BEBEBE RFIES
statements of the associates prepared in accordance with HKFRS BB RESIERRE 2 S HET S
Accounting Standards. The associates are accounted for using the WERANARZ - BME R REGRE
equity method in the consolidated financial statements. TEMER WA R TI B -

2025 2024

—EREF —EOF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT

Current asset MENE 22,582

Non-current asset EMENE E 72,718
Current liabilities mEaE 186,527

Non-current liabilities FERBEE 5,405

Revenue WA 7,395
Loss for the year REEEBE (57,126)
Other comprehensive income Efth 2 E = 1,028
Total comprehensive income AW E R (56,098)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of the net liabilities of associates at the acquisition date
to the carrying amount of the interests in associates recognised in the

consolidated financial statements is as follows:

22. REE N T 2 xR (1)
B A TR BB & FEERE
B RER AR E QR EE R
HEZHERWNOT :

2025 2024
—E-FRF ==l 0 2=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHBT
Net liabilities of the associates kWD
as at acquisition date HHZz8EFHE (33,841)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBERBERFZ
interests in associates HEEERIEBED L 20%
Cost of investments in associates KEBBRANIE ML R R]
unlisted in Hong Kong Z AR (6,768) (6,768)
Valuation adjustment from acquisition Wi~ (HEFARE
(net of accumulated impairment losses) (ks 2sHREEER) 116,028 179,932
Share of post-acquisition losses and other A EEEBEEREMEE
comprehensive income, net of dividends Yoas - FIBRE WAR R
received (83,164)
Carrying amount of the Group's interests in REBRBERR 2R 2
associates BEEE 90,000

There is no commitment and contingent liabilities under the

associates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB EwRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

23.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

BRTYE
BB

Properties under development

Less: provision for impairment s

Properties under development are the residential properties located
in Beibu District, Jinshitan, Jinzhou New District, Dalian, the PRC*

under development for sale and are held under medium-term lease.

As at 3| March 2025, the carrying amount of properties
under development included land use rights of approximately
HK$ 112,299,000 (2024: HK$ 1 14,315,000).

On 27 January 2022, the Group received an idle land decision from
Dalian Municipal Bureau of Natural Resources* (KiE B A B IR
/&) which determined the land of properties under development
was in idle condition and the land may be repossessed by the PRC
government authorities without compensation. The Board has
reviewed and reconsidered the development plan and projected a
significant drop in gross profit margin in developing the properties
under development. Due to the abovementioned factors, the Board
considered a full impairment on the properties under development
is appropriate and reasonable. Nevertheless, the management are
still using its best endeavors to avoid land repossession by the PRC

government authorities without compensation.

For the year ended 31| March 2025, there was no indication that the

provision for impairment on properties under development should be

reversed (2024: Nil).

*  For identification purpose only

23. BEFYE

2025 2024
—E-RE S visfeS
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
310916

(310916)

ZRPOERIDURTBERNESIMNFEES
AELHEZZRTUAFELEEEYD
¥ UiHTHHEERS -

RZE-_RF=A=+—"H8 ZEEHY
¥EZEEESEA122990008 T(=
T PO : | 14,315,000 7T ) 2 T Hi{E A
7 o

NRZEZZF—A=++tH AEEK
RETMEABRREANBE LR
£ RETERIPYWENLHENHE
EAREE - A i A B R AT 4% B AT Ak (B R
Blti - EESEEHUEHZRERE
TR ERTAREERRMENENEKR
BRE - AR EER  WEEERE
HEERYELET2ERERBE RS
B BENY BEEBNEENESR
b3 P B ST R AR B ]

P

BE_FT_RAF=-A=1T—HLHFE"
TE%?E%EDF%%E/T\%EEP%%Zvﬁ,ﬂﬁﬁéﬁﬁé
ELB(—F_mF: |\) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

24.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Completed properties held for sale

BB

Less: Provision for impairment D

The completed properties held for sale are located in Beibu District,
Jinshitan, Jinzhou New District, Dalian, the PRC* and are held under
medium-term lease. Completed properties held for sale which are
expected to be recovered in more than twelve months after the
reporting date are classified under current assets as it is expected to

be realised in the Group's normal operating cycle.

In the annual impairment assessment of the completed properties
held for sale as at 31 March 2025, a valuation report issued by Graval
Consulting Limited (2024: AP Appraisal Limited), an independent
qualified valuer and the sales contracts entered into between the

Group and the customers were referred to.

The valuation used direct comparison method under market
approach. Market approach is common for property valuation. As
there are publicly available data on comparable transactions in the
market, the direct comparison method is adopted, which the fair value
of the completed properties held for sale were determined based on
the recent transaction prices and/or asking prices of similar properties
adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the completed
properties held for sale.

*  For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 BE =T -_HF=A=+—HIFE

24. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 24 FHEHEZCERYE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Details of the key input to the valuation are as follows:

Non-financial

HEMANEIZLHEZFBENAT :

assets Key inputs to the valuation
FEMEE HENETESHE
2025 2024
—E_RF —EUEF
Residential L A{OR LT T ETE LI E D T PRI T M - E I EZ I PRC comparables ranging from RMB2,626
to RMB7,176 per square metre to RMB6,282 per square metre
(B NFEBFHRARYAIM4TEARYT, 1760 BIRESRF YN INILVEYN A
HNPEAELRRS 6282 TTHI R EIAI B LR 5
Carpark PRC comparables ranging from RMB2,700
to RMB3,038 per square metre
EES NFEFITRARE27T0TEARYE

There are no significant changes in the assumptions from those
previously adopted. The change in the key inputs was mainly due to
the change in market values of properties in the PRC resulting from
the slowdown of the PRC economy and the debt crisis of some of the

property developers in the PRC.

For the year ended 3| March 2025, provision for impairment loss of
approximately HK$2,725,000 (2024: reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$270,000) was recognised to reflect the decrease
(2024: increase) in net realisable value of the completed properties

held for sale.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the fair value measurement of
the completed properties held for sale was categorised at level 3
hierarchy.

3,038 TR R A] B LR R B

RGN ERAL  BEREAR
fo o TESHENRHER BT AL

BB LR BB DERREE L E
B - R B 0
&) o

BE_ZTZ-_AF=A=+—HIEE "
B FE SR AR (B 85 18 B 15 492,725,000 7T

(ZZZMF : BEEE R 49270,000
%ﬁ>'u&%ﬁ¢ﬁEZE%&%¥

AERFEZRL(ZTZMF :
m) e

R-B_AER_F_OF=A=+—
B FELEZEERMENRFEE
BNBERE=ZZM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

25. INVENTORIES 25. 75

2025 2024

—E_RE —E -8

HK$°000 HK$'000

TR TET

Raw materials R # 533

Work in progress H R 380

Finished goods X 31

944

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES 26. B 5 B ARFR

2025 2024

—E-RF —EYF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx TAET

Trade receivables B 5 IR m 428
- e
Based on the payment terms of tenancy agreements and credit BEREREZNRIERRETEEH
period granted to customers, the aging analysis of the Group’s trade ZEH NEFEZZFEWBEFNRER

receivables as of each reporting date is as follows: S HHEHZERBESTOT ¢

2025 2024

—E-EHF TN

HK$’°000 HK$'000

FET TET

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mm jﬁk#&%§MT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group's trade receivables are denominated in RMB, and
represent rental receivable from tenants for the use of PRC
investment properties and machinery and trading receipts from sales
of bottled mineral water. Rentals are payable in accordance with
tenancy agreements and no credit period is granted. Credit period of

| month is granted to customers of bottled mineral water.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying value of the trade receivables. The aging analysis of the trade
receivables that are not individually nor collectively considered to be

impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired AR EARBE
Less than 90 days past due #H 290 H
Past due more than 90 days 1 B R0 B

As at 31 March 2025, as 94% (2024: 91%) of trade receivables were
not yet past due, management considered that the expected credit

loss of the trade receivables is immaterial.

26.

B 5 EWIRR (&)

KRB 2B S ERERIAN R E -
BERTRRAYE R ROTES N8
WS R K E R R K2 B R -
HeRBERBXN  LHMETEH

Hl - R RKNEPER T IEAN
=58 -

RBERH STRzEERRAESE
WHRK < BREME - A ERIHERR S
ERE B 5 RERRREDTAOT

2025 2024
—E_RE —E P4
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET TET

391

37

428

MRZE-RAF=A=+—H ' BR94%
ZEZIF - 91%)ME ZEWERFKD
AEE - BEERAREHRKEFNTE
HEEBEEBTERX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 27. AR - RERHMEU
RECEIVABLES ARFX
2025 2024
—E-RE —E
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE THxT FHTT
Non-current assets: IRBEE :
Deposits paid for acquisition of g Ers=gvE
investment properties, net BEfiRe 58 0] 148,338
Current assets: RBEE :
Deposits paid, net BEfReF 5 (i) 211
Prepayments TR FRIE (i) 3,142
Accrued income FEET A 824
Other receivables, net Hith fE AR 50558 (iv) 27,705
32,882
The movement of the provision for impairment loss on deposits paid 2 iRe K EMEWERR (T8 iEHEN
and other receivables (excluding prepayments and prepaid other FOE K H A TSR I8 ) B R (B 5 18 B
taxes) is disclosed in note 5C. BB TESCHEEE ©
The creation and release of impairment provision on deposits paid ELXMEREMNIRS ZREBED A
have been included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss SeEBEEkEMmEmkEER o REBHER
and other comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the provision Mtz B —REBRB TR O REING
account are generally written off, when there is no expectation of SRS o

recovering additional cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Other receivables, net are denominated in the following currencies:

RMB AR
HK$ BT
Notes:
0) Beijing Properties

As at 31 March 2025, deposit paid of approximately HK$102,980,000,
net of provision for impairment of approximately HK$65,652,000 (2024:
HK$148,338,000, net of provision for impairment of approximately
HK$22,322,000) was related to the acquisition of investment properties in Beijing.
Details of the acquisition are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
28 February 2017. Due to the financial difficulties faced by various property
developers in the PRC during the recent years, the vendor indicated that there may
be difficulties in completing and delivering the Beijing Properties in accordance with
the previously agreed original schedule. After series of negotiations, the vendor
proposed to refund the Deposit by way of transferring the Refund Properties,
which comprise 10 properties of office premises and retail shops and 106 car
parking spaces in Beijing, to the Group and pay an additional compensation of
RMB8,000,000 in cash, i.e. the Refund Package. As at 3| March 2025 and 2024, the
Group has received 4 properties with aggregate consideration of approximately
RMB44,381,600, and the remaining properties were still pending to be delivered to

the Group.

27. FEfTFRIE

BeRHEAmER

AR (%)
1 U B R B R DA T B S M A

Kt -

2025 2024
—E-REF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
27,372

333

27,705

bR

RZZ-_RAF=A=+—8  BKENLR
ZREMERBNENIRE R47102980,000
78 7T (B B R E B 4965,652,0008 7T ) (=
T[4 ¢ 148,338,000 70 (B BRI E B 4E
#922,322,000/87T)) » WEEBEHFBERN
AARBHAZZ—+tF_A-+NBZA
E ARPEZRYEBRRINEFNGE
RUMBEE  BEHRBRBBABENRE
KR FTER R R FT R E R £ -
BBZRERER BIRSUEBRENE
FAREENHFXRERS  HOECRLER
B 0EW A=Y R TEEH AR I06(EFE
iz - I 2 EESMNR & 4 8 A R %8,000,0007T
(REHEE) R-TE-AFR-FT-NE
ZA=+T—H ARECEE4EYNE - A5
RERBLARME44381,6007T + TH B ZE)
EFRMATAEKE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

II‘I-F

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—Z —

BB ERRMEE

EE=A=1t—HILFE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

Beijing Properties (continued)

Up to the date of this report, the Group has received 2 more properties with
aggregate consideration of approximately RMB80,483,000 on 23 April 2025 and
RMB16,000,000 in cash (approximately RMBI |,170,000 as refund of part of the
deposit and RMB4,830,000 as cash compensation of late refund) on |15 May 2025.
Details of the properties and cash received are set out in the announcements of

the Company dated 29 April 2025 and 15 May 2025 respectively.

The recoverable amount of the deposit paid for acquisition of investment
properties in Beijing has been determined based on fair value less cost of disposal
of the properties to be refunded to the Group. The fair value of the deposit paid
was determined by reference to the valuation carried out by Graval Consulting
Limited (2024: AP Appraisal Limited), an independent qualified professional valuer.
The valuation used direct comparison method under market approach. Market
approach is common for property valuation. As there are publicly available data on
comparable transactions in the market, the direct comparison method is adopted,
which is based on the recent transaction prices and/or asking prices of similar
properties adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the properties to be
transferred to the Group. The key inputs to the valuation are PRC comparables
ranging from RMB23,436 to RMB35,594 per sq.m. for commercial portion
(2024: ranging from RMB34,928 to RMB55,936 per sq.m.) and RMB104,500 to
RMB269,100 per carpark space for carpark portion (2024: ranging from RMB8,892
to RMB16,825 per sq.m.). If there is significant increase in the key inputs, it would

result in a significant increase in the fair value, and vice versa.

The fair value measurement of the deposit paid was categorised at level 3

hierarchy.
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27. FEAFFK
-Mﬁ)

K - (&)

- BERHEMEW

IERWE(E)

HEABEAY  ALEER-_Z_RFMN
AR +=BZRE2EY¥  GiRERD
AR¥80483,000L kRN —E-"RAFHA+HA
BEEHES AR 16000000 (EFHAR
¥11,170,000TEREBD LS HRE - AR
4,830,000TTIE RIEBR AR EHE) - B
BEENMERRASZFBEDENEAARH
HAR-Z_AFHNA-Z+TNABR=ZZF-0LF
AA+RAZAL -

BRENLRZRENEABHENEZES M
AERSEDREHRETFAKRENZEY
ENRAFERBEZEMEZRAR - B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

(i)

W)

Deposits paid mainly comprised rental deposits and payments for business related
matters. Deposits paid relating to acquisition of properties in Zengcheng were fully

impaired.

Zengcheng Properties

The acquisition of properties in Zengcheng was terminated on |8 January 2017
and over 77% of the paid consideration has been refunded in previous years. As
at 31 March 2025, deposit paid related to acquisition of properties in Zengcheng
was approximately HK$67,185,000 (2024: HK$68,391,000) which loss allowance
for expected credit loss on the deposit paid was fully recognised in prior year. The
Group's legal advisors has issued demand letters to the vendor for the repayment
of the remaining balance of the paid consideration and related compensation. Up
to the date of this report, the Group is still trying to chase the repayment from
the vendor. Based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, there is no
indication that the loss allowance for expected credit loss on the deposits paid in

prior year should be reversed.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, prepayments mainly comprised prepayment of
indirect cost incurred for properties under development and purchase cost of

machineries for the production of bottled mineral water in Hunan.

As at 31 March 2025, other receivables of approximately HK$34,754,000, net
of provision of impairment approximately HK$3,479,000 (2024: approximately
HK$27,705,000, net of provision of impairment approximately HK$3,540,000),
mainly comprised other tax prepaid in the PRC and advance payments for business

related matters.

27. AR ~ HEREH MR

BRX ()

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

Hrat - (&)

ENReTIREEESREREBERER
ZNFR - MEBKBERNEFRCENES
EFZEURME °

I 2

IR MEC RS —+tF5— A+ N\BL
IERBE77%ENREERERFERE -
RZZ_RAF=A=+—0H ' BKELEY
¥EANBNIRERK67,1850008 T (=%
Z VY4 : 68391,0008T) c MERMiEE 2
BHEEEENEERBEELIFERE
R AEEZEZBEMBRE S & HER
B BREZEENREREBEBE K -
HEAREBH  AEEDEERBNES
BN BREBEASEZBAEEBELR
ERRBRELANFERE MRS 2 BHE
BERELNEBRERS R -

R_E-_RER-_T_WFE=A=+—8 "
BRRETEOREASINERPYEEE
2 TEBE B AN DA T A2 91 B A B R A TR R K O
BRIREEAA o

RZZEZRF=A=+—H ' #934,754,000%
TC (B ANBR A E B E #£3,479,00080) (= F
Z VU4 : #927,705,0005% 7T ( B 30 BR A 1B B
#]3,540,000/% 7)) 2 HA B R R F EBIE
BT EAL R B E R EBEREE 2 BT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ

BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

28.

AMOUNT DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The non-controlling interests who holds 33% shareholding of Good
Union (China) Limited have committed to provide a production
volume guarantee of the water mining business in Hunan to
the Group. The compensation relating to the failure to fulfil the
production volume guarantee for the years 2019 and 2020 of
approximately RMB21,936,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$26,338,000) was mutually agreed between the non-controlling

interests and the Group in 2021.

As at 3| March 2024, amount due from non-controlling interest of
HK$2,759,000 is unsecured, interest-bearing at 5% per annum and
repayable on or before 27 March 2025 and denominated in RMB.

On 27 March 2025, the non-controlling interests signed a deed
to repay the other payable on behalf of the Group amounted to
RMB2,625,000. Thus, amount due from non-controlling interests was

fully settled. Such payment transaction was a non-cash transaction.
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28.

FE W SR 42 IR A 2 TR IR

FrAER: (R E)BRAQFBRRENIE
EREREAFERAEEREEENmE
BKREBNESRE - BAREETZ

—NERZTETFESRBNE
B4 A AR 9360007 (HERL
26,338,000/ 7T ) + HI IR i AR B R &2
BN T —FHEHE -

/
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 29. AV EFAER 2R
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2025 2024
—E-REF ==t ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHTT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong at MREE T ZRARES
quoted bid price REANERE 434
Fair value are determined with reference to quoted market bid price. NEETIZBMBEABREBET
As at 3| March 2025 and 2024, the fair value measurement of N-E-—FER T -_ME=/A=+—
the Group's financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is H:' AEBEATFEFTAEBREZEHE
categorised at level |. During the year ended 31 March 2025 and ENATHEIAESEAFE %5 - HE
2024, there were no transfers into or out of level 3. —TECRER_E_PME=R=+—H
FFETEERAF="SRFIBEE=F
R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArRe IR R AT
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

30. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash (including restricted bank deposits) were

denominated in the following currencies:

RMB Nz
HKS$ BT
US$ ETT

The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB
out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions

imposed by the government of the PRC.

As at 31 March 2025, bank balances and cash of approximately
HK$2,550,000 (2024: approximately HK$2,592,000) have been
included in assets classified as held for sale. For detalils, please refer to

note |6.
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30. RITAR KRS
RITHEBRA S (BEZRHBITER)
A RHIEEEHE -

2025 2024
—E_REF —EPOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT TFET
10,024

[, 712

758

|2,494

BRBEELUAREFEZRS MRS
FEWEAENE D BERNE . IMNEE G
BRI

R-ZTE-_AF=ZA=Z+—8 "%
2,550,000 78 ( —Z — PU4F : 492,592,000
BL)ZRITEHRRREEBEIER
FRIEHENEE - BB F2HW
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

30. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
(CONTINUED)
(a) Restricted bank deposits
As at 3| March 2025, restricted bank deposits of approximately
HK$745,000 (2024: HK$757,000) are deposits subject to
regulatory restrictions and are therefore not available for general

use by the other entities within the Group.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash RITEsR NIRS

30. IRITHEBR RIS (E)

(a) ZRFIRITFH
R-ZE_AF=A=+—8 " %
BRIl R 1T 17 5K £ 745,000/ L (= F
Z Y4 : 757,000 70) BXEE
HIEFER - Bt R EE R EAD
EERE—RAR -

mf IR
i

il

\;

(b) B2 REZLZEEY

2025 2024
—E_RF —E - POF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T TET
1,737
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

31. TRADE PAYABLES 31. BZ BT AR
2025 2024
—EC-HE —F_MmEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Trade payables 2 ZERT R 47,133
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables at the end of the REEHRIBIES A B Z=HE
reporting period, based on the contract date or invoice date: B EMNBERNERDITOT -
2025 2024
—E-FE —E_OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHET
0 to 180 days 02 180H 2,153
181 to 365 days 181 &365H =
Over 365 days BiE365H 44,980
47,133
The trade payables are not interest-bearing, normally settled within BHEMERATE » B—RARIK
six months after receiving suppliers’ invoices and denominated in B Em B ER/NEAREBILIAA
RMB. R#EHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Deposit received Bl

Land value added tax payable FEfT LI ERT
Accruals fEst & A
Receipts in advance Tad A

Other payables HoAth & 5 BR AR

Other payables and accruals are denominated in the following

currencies:
RMB AR
HK$ BT
Notes:

0) Deposit received represented the 1.67% (2024: 1%) of consideration received
from the purchaser relating to the sale of the entire issued share capital of Century
Strong Limited, amounting to RMB2,500,000 (2024: RMB1,500,000). The details
of disposal are set out in notes |5 and |6, and the announcement and circular of
the Company dated 2 May 2023 and 23 June 2023 respectively. The disposal is
expected to be completed by early 2025.

However, the Group has granted the Purchaser the extension of deadline for the

completion of disposal to 31 December 2025. Refer to the note |5 for the details.

32. Htt BN IR K BET B A

Notes

Hiit

()

(ii)

2025 2024
—E_RF —E-UFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

1,655
490
4,615
206
77,086

110,920 94,052

Hip RN ER B AU TG 5

B :

2025 2024
—E-REF —E_NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
81,373

12,679

110,920 94,052

B Uiz & 18 34 A BE H & Century Strong Limited
2HEBHTRATRE H WA .67%(=F
ZWF - 1%)RIE - @8R ARE2500,0007T
(ZZ -4 : AR®15000007T) « HES
BHFHBHNRKIEISRI6 - BEDRIEREAR
RIEA T _=FRA-_BAR-_ZT_=F
NAZT=ZBMAEREEK - HEFEBEEL
R REFPTK °

R AREEHEET KR E EHY

HRERE-_E-_AF+=-A=1+—H-°3
B2 ES ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7f ﬁﬁ#ﬁ%‘% Bﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

@iy As at 31 March 2025, other payables of approximately HK$2,601,000 (2024:
HK$1,103,000) is interest-bearing at 10% per annum, repayable on demand (2024:
on or before 25 January 2025). It was settled on 26 May 2025. Other payables
of approximately HK$2,749,000 is interest-bearing at 7% per annum, repayable
on or before || June 2026. Other payables of HK$8,000,000 is secured by equity
interests of certain subsidiaries (note 45), interest-bearing at 10% per annum and

repayable on or before 26 March 2026.

As at 3| March 2024, other payables of approximately HK$2,758,000 is interest-

bearing at 10% per annum.

33. AMOUNT DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
As at 31 March 2025, amount due to non-controlling interests of
HK$ 15,612,000 (2024: HK$15,612,000) is unsecured, interest free

and repayable on demand.

As at 3| March 2024, amount due to non-controlling interest of
HK$43,167,000 is consideration payable for acquisition of subsidiaries
as set out in note 39. It was fully settled by issuance of consideration

shares on |3 June 2024.
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32. F

33.

HittESERARIETER
(&)
i - (%)

(i) BEZZT-RAF=A=1T—H HMENK
492,601,000/ 7T (= ZF — U4 : 1,103,000
TERFEMERI0%:TE - BAREREERE(Z
T_ME: R_T-_RAF—A-_t+tHBAZHZ
AI{E ) ZRBER-_ZE-_RAFRA-T/H
4578 o E At FE AT BRFX 492,749,000 ST & F)
174){‘-5. BER-_Z - ENA+—H=
Z BU{EIE o H ftb f& £ BR 5X8,000,0007% 7T LA 3=
L Bt BB N B 2 i s MR AR (I 5E45) + R
E|0%:r 8 BZAR=Z=_"F=A=+XH
2 AIEE -

BHE-Z-_WNF=A=+—H8 HbEMEK
amznmm%m&iﬂiw%méo

FE I IR s 7R IR

R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—8 ' EfFEEZE
% #E 25 ZXIE 15,612,000/ T (ZZE =M
F 1156120008 7m) BEERR 2R

RRBEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁﬁ#&%‘%ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

34. AMOUNTS DUE TO THE DIRECTORS 34. BN EE ZFUA

As at 3| March 2025, amount due to the director, Mr. Li Yuguo, RZZE_RF=A=+—H ENES
amounting to approximately HK$125,000 (2024: approximately ZEBEEZFIBEEEL A125000/%8
HK$20,499,000) is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. TT(ZE MM : %9/420,499,0007% 7T )
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment amounted BEEH - QB RBIRERKEER - &F
to HK$290,000 and further deposit relating to disposal of Disposal BEWEREEME BENMREFTSRE
Group amounted to RMBI1,000,000 were received by the director 290000 BT R BBHLE L EEE A E —
for settlement of amount due to him. Such transaction is a non-cash Fix e ARBE1,000,0007T © VAL )S FEAT
transaction. HoHIE R HGRIFEERXSH

As at 3| March 2025, amount due to the director, Mr. Li Xiaoming, RZE_RAF=A=1+—"HBH ENES
amounting to HK$ 1,100,000 is unsecured, interest free and repayable EEBR A 2R IBS R A 1,100,000 7T
on demand. It was settled on 15 April 2025. AEER £ ERBREREE - &N

HN—_ZE-RAFHA +£Enn/ﬁ °

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. IR 7<
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EBEREA ©H
Notes HK$'000
et TET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary share of HK$0.1 each BRI A TR EBR
At 31 March 2024, | April 2024 and RZZE-mME=A=+—H"
31 March 2025 “T-MEMA-BR
—Z-RE=HA=+—H 25,000,000,000 2,500,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRHE :
Ordinary share of HK$0.! each B0 IE TR E B
At 3| March 2024 and | April 2024 RZZ-MFE=A=+—H
E=F-_MFEMA—H 938,402,800 93,840
Placing of shares on 20 May 2024 RZZE-—WFRA=+AHE
=) (i) 187,680,560 18,768
Issuance of consideration shares on RZEZWFESA+=H
13 June 2024 BIRERD (ii) 187,680,000 18,768
At 3| March 2025 R-ZE-_FF=A=1+—H [,313,763,360 131,376
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

35. RN (&)

35. SHARE CAPITAL(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

On 20 May 2024, the Company completed a placing of 187,680,560 new shares at
a price of HK$0.105 per placing share and raised gross proceeds of approximately
HK$ 19,706,000, of which approximately HK$ 18,768,000 was credited to share
capital account and the balance of approximately HK$938,000 was credited to

share premium account of the Company.

Share issuance expenses (mainly include the placing commission and other related
expenses) that are directly attributable to the placing of shares amounting to
approximately HK$59 1,000 was treated as a deduction against the share premium

account arising of the placing of shares.

On I3 June 2024, the Company issued a total of 187,680,000 consideration
shares at a price of HK$0.23 per consideration share (equivalent to the amount
of HK$43,166,400) as part of the consideration of the acquisitions of two target
companies, of which HK$18,768,000 was credited to share capital account and the
balance of approximately HK$24,399,000 was credited to share premium account

of the Company. The issue of consideration shares was a non-cash transaction.
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Kt -

(ii)

RZZ_NFEFRA=-TH  KRARTKEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 BE =T -_HF=A=+—HIFE

36. DEFERRED TAX

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised on the

consolidated statement of financial position and the movements

during the years ended 3| March 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

(i) Deferred tax assets

The balance comprises temporary
differences attributable to:

Tax losses

Effective rental

Other receivables

Total deferred tax assets

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant

to set-off provisions

Net deferred tax assets

BHBENUTER
PEAE B 4R

BIRER

H At FE UL AR 3R

ERERTAEERR

AR BRI 5 1B A i
EEBBERE

BRI TRE EF R

36. IEFEFLIE
REBZEZ-T-_HAER-_T-_WE=A
=+ —HIEFER  REREHBHRRER
BRAEERBEABNERDS RED
wm

(i) BEHIELZE

2025 2024
—g-EF —T-pF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiB FET

2,270
I5
885

3,170

(ii)
(3,170)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

36. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 36. IEFERIE (48)
(i) Deferred tax assets (Continued) (i) BEHELE (&)
Other
Tax losses Effective rental receivables Total
BEBR ERfE  HUERER st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TR TR TR
Movements 28
At | April 2023 RZZZ=F
mA—H 1,209 = = 1,209
(Charged)/credited (88)/F A
— to profit or loss —Bs [,102 25 885 2,012
~ to other comprehensive income  —E 1 2 F (41 (10) _ 1)
At 31 March 2024 and g ol
| April 2024 =A=+—Bk
—EQEE
mA—H 2,270 15 885 3,170
(Charged)/credited (08%),/3F A
— to profit or loss —B&

~ to other comprehensive income  — At 2 U zS

At 31 March 2025 R-E-1F
ZA=1-H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

36. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
(ii) Deferred tax liabilities

The balance comprises temporary
differences attributable to:

Effective rental

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible asset

Total deferred tax liabilities

Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant

to set-off provisions

Net deferred tax liabilities

RHBENUTER
PEAE B 4R
ERMEE
BREME
YE
BIZEE

EETIA B ERRE

AR B 5 8 A 5
EETIREE

EEF AR EFE

36. IRFEBIIE (4&)
(ii) BEEFEEE

2025
—E-RHEF
HK$’000
THER

138,012

(i)

135,676
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2024
—EMFE
HK$'000
FHET

1,815
117,236
8410
88,958

216,419

(3.170)

2113249
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

36. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
(ii) Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

36. IRLERL IR (58)
(ii) BEHEEE (&)

Fair value adjustments arising

from acquisition of subsidiaries

BENBARELZATERE
Property,
Effective Investment plantand Intangible
rental properties equipment asset Total
nE -
EREE REWE BERRE BHEE -
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
TiER FET FET THT TR
Movements L)
At | April 2023 RNZE-=FMWA—H 4,564 138711 - - 143,275
Acquisition of subsidiaries G0N - - 8372 88,559 96,931
Credited A
— to profit or loss —B& (2581) (16,707) = = (19,288)
~ to other comprehensive income —HEfh2Eka (168) (4,768) 38 399 (4499)
At 31 March 2024 and |April 2024 R-ZE-WE=A=+—-HBK
“EImERA-A 1,815 117,236 8410 88,958 216419
Credited/(charged) A/ (H0%)
— to profit or loss -B& (1,484)  (73,736) - - (75,220)
~ to other comprehensive income - B2 AEKE (20) (1,450) (148) (1,569) (3,187)
At 31 March 2025 RZB-RE=A=1-H 311 42,050 8,262 87,389 138,012
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

37. BORROWINGS

Bank borrowings — secured RITEK — 2T

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, bank borrowings are interest-bearing
at 4.615% per annum, secured by factories under land and buildings
(note 19) and land use right (note 21) located in Hunan, the PRC and

repayable on |9 September 2026.

The fair values of the borrowings are not materially different from
their carrying amounts, since the interest payable on those borrowings

is close to current market rates.

The Group's borrowings are denominated in RMB.

37?%%

2025 2024
—ERF ZEUF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
8,825

RN_B_RAFERZZB_MF=A=+—
B IRITETIRFEN E4615%5 & B
MARPBUHREMN L RIEF (M)
Rt ifE AR (21 ) IBTOEEFT
BE - WER-_T-_~FALAT+HLAE

R FE K 2 I S B E Al 35 7
T ZFERZAFEEEREE
BEAER -

REBZEFAARKEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

38. CASH FLOW INFORMATION B.HEEREER

Net debt reconciliation B E AR
Liabilities from financing activities
RERMEZTHZEE
Amounts
Promissionary due to Bank Lease
notes directors borrowings liabilities
AARE ENESZHE RITER HESE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Net debt as at 3| March R-ZE-_=%=A
2023 =t—RZEH
et _ = = 3,441
Cash flows HeEnE . = 8,822 (3,554)
Other non-cash movements  E {th 3EIR & # &) - 20,499 3 2,684
Net debt as at 31 March R-ZZE-_WNF=A
2024 =+—HZEH
R - 20,499 8,825 2571
Cash flows from issuance of — FEE1THH ZEHEE
promissionary note EZBRERE 5,000
Cash flows from redemption  F & Bl 7% 5, Z 15 E
of promissionary note EZBRERE (5,000) -

Advances from a director

Repayment to a director

R —REEKEA
BE-REFA

1,100
(19,000)

Cash flows REeRE B -
Other non-cash movements £ 3FI8 & & &) (1,374) (156)
Net debt as at R-ZE_R&F=AH
31 March 2025 =t+—BzEH
EHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB EwRRMEE

n\/-_R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisition of Yongyin Investment Holdings Limited
(“Yongyin™)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group acquired 100% of
the issued share capital of, and the shareholder’s loan advanced to,
Yongyin at a consideration of HK$37 million. Yongyin is principally
engaged in investment holding and its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary is principally engaged in mineral exploration and mining
activities in the PRC. The acquisition has been completed on [4
December 2023.

The identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Inventories

Prepayments, deposit and other
receivable

Bank balances and cash

Other payables and accruals

Deferred tax liabilities

|dentifiable net assets

Gain on bargain purchase

Total consideration (Note)

RUBEBEHRETRAIEE
KA EAE

BV EE

e

AR
A

RITER KRR E
HAth e BR % FE 5T & B

FELERIEA R

R e R EAER

Al # BB EFE
(BB RS

RRE (ML)

Note:  Part of consideration for this acquisition amounted to HK$29,640,000 was
paid by issuance of promissory note on |4 December 2023. On |8 December
2023, Mr. Li Yuguo, an executive director of the Company, agreed to repay
the promissory note and the interest expense on behalf of the Company
directly. This payment transaction was a non-cash transaction. The remaining
consideration for this acquisition amounted to HK$7,360,000 was paid by
allotment and issue of 32,000,000 consideration shares at HK$0.23 per share.

The issue of consideration shares was completed on |3 June 2024.

39. BRI B 2 7]
WK REZRERA A ([ K

1)

BE_ZT_WF=A=+—HLEEFE"

R BULEE K IR 2 100% 8, 3577 BN K [A]
HEaffzBRRER - R {EA37,000,000

BT e KM EBRFREERMERBE
2EMBAREIEZENFELEEYEHR
RARER - ZWBCR_FT_=F

TZATEAZEX -
Carrying Fair value
value adjustment Fair value
REE ATVERR DFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAET THT
44,401 (5,747) 38,654
4,415 37,973 42,388
100 = 100
441 = 441
446 - 446
(20,617) - (20,617)
= (8,057) (8,057)
29,186 24,169 53,355
(16,355)
37,000
HfeE - MBS IR D R {E29,640,000/8 TLE A

=+ ATMBEBTHRLER
it e R=ZF==F+=-A+/\B - $
RAMTESTERALERBEREZARD

E%E%&%%%&ﬂ%ﬁioﬁ@ﬁﬁ
RPTVDIRERH - ZWEBFENFHAK
187,360,000/ 7 R 1= & AR AR 190,234 Jo fid 3%
K E1732,000,000 R B D 1 - REAR
MERZZT_NF XA +=BZHET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. WIBFT B~ 8] (48)

(CONTINUED)

Acquisition of Yongyin Investment Holdings Limited
(“Yongyin”) (Continued)

Net cash inflow from the acquisition

Bank balances and cash acquired

The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of approximately
HK$ 16,355,000 in the business combination as a result of the
fair value of Yongyin's identifiable net assets over the sum of the
consideration transferred. The fair value of the identifiable net assets
at the date of acquisition is referenced to a valuation report issued by

AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer.

Yongyin contributed a loss of approximately HK$ 191,000 to the
Group'’s results for the period from the date of acquisition to 3|

March 2024.

If the acquisition had been completed on | April 2023, the Group's
revenue for the year ended 3| March 2024 would have been
approximately HK$ 14,160,000, and the Group's loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$20,340,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of the revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved, had the acquisition been
completed on | April 2023, nor is intended to be a projection of

future results.
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WiE kI IR E#ZE KRB R A 8] ([ K
1) (&)

HK$'000

TET

REWBEZ2RERAZE
i BB iRTT 4 IR &

HRKMZAI#AEEFEZ AT ER
RATEEREBASE  HAKERER
B PHHE R E B W BB W a5 49 16,355,00078
T RKRBEE  AIBMNEEFEL
ATFENL2EEBB LG EKMEEBEMAP
Appraisal Limited i & Z S ERE -

KXKTARWBEHRE_ZT_ME=A
=+ HHYRARNEEMNEEE KLY
191,000/ 7T 2 E518 °

WEBEBEER-_ZS_=ZFMA—
BEK  AIXAEEBZE_ZT_NF
AT BRLEFENBRABENR
14,160,000 7T+ i 72N & B R 2N F [ /Y
B 18 15 4 520,340,000/ 7T ° FEEE R
ERARNHBERN YA —ERNIUE
FER-_ZT_=FMNA—HBEXKKER
BEBNAEBRAREEESE - T
FERMERBI R REERTAA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Acquisition of Yongming Investment Holdings

Limited (“Yongming™)

For the year ended 3| March 2024, the Group acquired 73.1% of
the issued share capital of, and the shareholder’s loan advanced

to, Yongming at a consideration of HK$ 163 million. Yongming is

principally engaged in investment holding and its indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary is principally engaged in mineral exploration and

mining activities in the PRC. The acquisition has been completed on

|4 December 2023.

The identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Bank balances and cash

Other payables and accruals

Deferred tax liabilities

|dentifiable net assets

Non-controlling interest

Gain on bargain purchase

Total consideration (Note)

RUEBEHAETRIEER
AR

BVEAE
RITEBERE
HiEN RS R BT E R

A # R EEFE
Ry e

A6
B (ML)

Note:  Part of consideration for this acquisition amounted to HK$127,193,600 was

paid by issuance of promissory note on |4 December 2023. On |8 December

2023, Mr. Li Yuguo, an executive director of the Company, agreed to repay

the promissory note and the interest expense on behalf of the Company

directly. This payment transaction was a non-cash transaction. The remaining

consideration for this acquisition amounted to HK$35,806,400 was paid by

allotment and issue of 155,680,000 consideration shares at HK$0.23 per share.

The issue of consideration shares was completed on |3 June 2024.

39. WEBFTE 2~ B (&)

WEKEREERER LA ([ K
%1
HE_Z_NWEZA=+—HILFE
ANE U BB KR 273, 1 %8 BT K )
HaBazRRER - RE%163,000,000
BIL o KB EENFIREER KA M
2ENBRAREZRFENEEY T
RERBEER  -ZWBER_T==F
+-A+tHEBEREK -

Carrying Fair value

value adjustment Fair value
fREE AFPERAER A¥E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET
= 39,235 39,235

= 316,261 316,261

4 - 4
(38,711) = (38,711)
= (88,874) (88,874)
(38,707) 266,622 227915
10,412 (71,721) (61,309)
(28,295) 194,901 166,606
(3,606)

163,000

Bt - ZWEBEENE D RE127,1936008TE
H-ZE_=F+-_ATHBETHEALE
BASfN  -R=ZT=_=F+=A+N\B -
AARPTEFETERAERBERERAEAR
AEEEERALEBRRAEMAYX - BEF
AR TIFRERH - ZWEFHENF
R 1B35,806,40078 7T H IR F IR AR 150238 7T
#id 2% K% 317 155,680,000 X [BAL 1D X 1 -
REBROHER=ZZE-_MFNAT=HEK
AT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. WIBFT B~ 8] (48)

(CONTINUED)

Acquisition of Yongming Investment Holdings

Limited (“Yongming”) (Continued)

Net cash inflow from the acquisition

Bank balances and cash acquired

The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of approximately
HK$3,606,000 in the business combination as a result of the fair
value of Yongming's identifiable net assets over the sum of the
consideration transferred. The fair value of the identifiable net assets
at the date of acquisition is referenced to a valuation report issued by

AP Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer.

Yongming contributed a loss approximately HK$3,000 to the Group's

results for the period from the date of acquisition to 31 March 2024.

If the acquisition had been completed on | April 2023, the Group's
revenue for the year ended 3| March 2024 would have been
approximately HK$ 14,160,000, and the Group’s loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$19,775,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of the revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved, had the acquisition been
completed on | April 2023, nor is intended to be a projection of

future results.
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Wis k& REZKRBERA A ([ X
&) (&)

HK$'000

THTT

REWBZRERAFEHE
P BIRITRER MRS

B KEZAI#AEEFEZATES
RATEERREAE  MEAKEREBS
O T 3 5 B AU i 25 493,606,000 T °
RIKEEE - AI#AEEFE2ATE
Th2E QBN & BIR(EERMAP Appraisal
Limited i B 2 fhE#RE -

XERKRBEBHE_ZT_NWFE=A
=t BHEAAEENEEL KLY
3,000 T 2 B8

HUBEBER _T_=ZFMA—
HEf I AEEHZE-_ZT_NEF
A=+ BLEFENKABDLOR
14,160,000 7T - AN & B R 2N F E /Y
B4 5197750008 - HEE R
ERANFABE WA —ERTRE
EHENR-ZT_=FA—HEKKER
ERNARERARKE RS - I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

40. RESERVES

(a) Capital reserve

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at a special general
meeting held on 31 May 2013, the Company effected the capital
reorganisation (“‘Capital Reorganisation 2013") which became
effective on 3 June 2013 and involved (i) the consolidation of
every twenty-five issued and unissued shares with a par value
of HK$0.05 each into one consolidated share; (ii) the reduction
of issued share capital whereby the par value of each issued
consolidated shares will be reduced from HK$1.25 to HK$0.25
by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$1.00 on
each of the consolidated shares to a reduced share of HK$0.25
each; (iii) transfer of the credit arising from the capital reduction
to the capital reserve account of the Company; (iv) the sub-
division of each unissued consolidated share into five reduced

shares of HK$0.25 each.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at a special general
meeting held on 12 November 2018, the Company
implemented a capital reorganisation (“Capital Reorganisation
2018") on |3 November 2018 which involved (i) capital
reduction, pursuant to which the issued share capital of the
Company were reduced by a reduction of the par value of
each issued shares from HK$0.25 to HK$0.01, which reduction
comprised a cancellation of such amount of the paid-up capital
on each issued share so that each issued share were treated
as one fully paid-up share of par value of HK$0.01 in the share
capital of the Company immediately following the capital
reduction and the credit arising from the capital reduction were
credited to the capital reserve account of the Company; and (ii)
sub-division of each of the authorised but unissued shares of par
value of HK$0.25 into twenty-five new shares of par value of

HK$0.0!1 each.

40. f#1E
(a) EX M5

BRER-_E—=FRA=+—HHE
TZREFRAE BB FHIR
R AREETRAEA(NZE
—ZFRABEHNDINR T —=F
NAZBARES RGOS TRHE
BREE RSB ZEEITRE
FITRO AR —REBHRD ¢ (i)
HIUR B BTN - it - BREZ
TEMRN z MERKEBRTHER
EHBROZEHRAKNI0ETES
AR TN {E 4 0.2578 7T 2 £ BRI 17 T
B 1258 TTHIR ZE 0258 7T ¢ (i) i
ERRAHIRE £ 2 #ERBERALRD
B2 BAMEER © (WVERAETE
HRHIFAEARREREEA025
BT KSEIRAR 15

BER-_ZT—N\F+—A+=HH
TZBRRFNARE BB 2RI
#BR - ARRRZ=ZZT—N\FE+—A
+T=ZHETRAEA(TZ=Z—NEF
BRAREA]) - BB ROBRAREDR -
BUHARRESREZRTRMZEE
FRO.25 T HI R Z=0.01 4 7T + LAHI
BAR R ZEBEITRA o LARAHI
BEFEESRE FEITROTHEE
BECEHRE  BFEREBETR
MR ERERAER AR EEARAR]
BAF 2 —REREEROIAB T
ZEHRG c RABIRAES 2 #
RREBARDRZEAEER &
(NVFAME RSB T2 BRIEE
BRETZRMDAZTHKRERE
BEAR0OIFETT ZHRG -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

40. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 40. fEB (&)
(b) Special reserve (b) H5ll#FE
The special reserve of the Group represents the excess of the AEBEZRHFFEENEEEHE
nominal amount of the shares of the subsidiaries at the date of BB AR 2Ry EER LA E
the group reorganisation over the nominal amount of the shares ERWENBARIZREmMETZ
issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition of RIOEE S5 -

the subsidiaries.

Details of the movements of the Group'’s reserves are set out in the AEBERFEEHFRERENEZEE
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 92. EmEEE o
Details of the movements of the Company’s reserves are set out in RARFEEEHF BN G AP BHRE
note 46 to the consolidated financial statements. Fff5E46 o

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 41. BANESE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following RI{EHAR » REBE THI|ERNEAE :

capital commitments:

2025 2024
btk -3 112
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET THT
Contracted but not provided for: SHEEE ST

Property development expenditure MEFZEERAS 100,196

Construction in-progress for HEKAEES 2
water exploitation activities in Hunan EEIR 5,655
105,851
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

42. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2025, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,

K&

BIMEBH AR AT (“KEEIF”), incorporated in the PRC,

provided corporate guarantees to third parties amounting to

approximately RMB 100,000,000 (2024: RMB100,000,000), detailed as

follows:

(h

)

On 17 April 2014, Xz £IF1 provided a corporate guarantee to
RNEIRITE—FOTIT (“RERTT(—)”) for a recurring bank
loan of RMB50,000,000 granted to a third party, X R EY)
ERWER AR (AERBE. In 2017, KBIETT(—) took a
legal action against A for the recovery of the aforesaid
loan. On 2| December 2017, EEE KEm F F AR A
(the "Court”) ordered A HH to repay the loan to A RTT

(—), together with relevant legal cost and interest.

On 23 May 2014, K&
to R#HIR7T(—) for a recurring bank loan of RMB50,000,000
HEWMERR DR (ANEERE).
Z[Z for
the recovery of the aforesaid loan. On 28 December 2017, the

£IF0 provided a corporate guarantee

granted to a third party, A&
In 2017, Ri#E#RTT(—) took a legal action against R3E
Court ordered KN:E#H[E to repay the loan to AEIRTT(—),

together with relevant legal cost and interest.

42. BHERER

R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—H ARAR
B AR L 2 2 A R B KA
EMERAR([RELIFMDAE=1R
R BER 4 A R ¥ 100,000,000 7T (=
T4 - AR¥100,0000007T) + ¥
M

() RZZF—EFOA+ER - KEE|
MHEARERITE—HOLIIT(TKE
RIT()DAE=ZFRNERBEME
EIBERAR(TRERB]ERZ
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁAE%mmmmﬁ

REQBER - T—+F X
ERTT(—) W RBEBRBRLERR
W AEEERER - R T+
F+ZRAZ+—RB  BEEHAKREM

RRARERR (AR DS
HRAERT(—EEER  EFH
HBREEREERLFIE -

2 RZE—WFRA=-+=H"' K
HEEIMRARERT(—)ME=ZFH
REERMEARRAB ([ KEE
BDEBRZERBRITERARE
50,000,000 LRt A AR - R
—tF - RERT(—)HAE
@%ﬁﬁ¢$ﬂ'ML@Luﬁ
HeRZBE—+F+ZA=ZTN

SRR AR S RGBEE M KEIRTT
(—)EERER  ERBEEEEER
NMAE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArRe IR R AT
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

42. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)

(3) On 19 August 2014, RZEEIF provided a corporate guarantee
to AN#&8R17(—) for a recurring bank loan of RMB50,000,000
granted to a third party, NiEZRE S AR A A (REER").
In 2017, R#E#R1T(—) took a legal action against A& ZH
for the recovery of the aforesaid loan. On 2| December 2017,
the Court ordered X:EEH to repay the loan to NEIRTT
(—), together with relevant legal cost and interest. The loan
principal of RMB50,000,000 has been repaid by A#EZ on 30
December 2017.

Another independent guarantor, N&EE/EBZEBR AR (“KNE
JIE& ") has pledged its properties to secure the bank loans stated
in (1), (2) and (3). The estimated value of the pledged properties
is over RMB250 million. The directors believe that the aforesaid
loans, interests and other costs can fully be recovered from the sales
proceeds of the pledged properties. In addition, A& obtained
counter-guarantees given by BlZEHIE (KE) GR A A (“AlEH
EE"). BlZEME undertook to compensate A AIF any legal costs
and economic losses that may be suffered by A AI in relation to

all the aforesaid corporate guarantees.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

42.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

On 27 December 2017, a restructuring loan agreement was signed
by AEIEH
RMB245,000,000 was granted to A& %

loans, interests and other cost stated in (1), (2) and (3) and then

with K38ER1T. Under this agreement, a new loan of
for the repayment of the
the corporate guarantee provided by AZEEAIF will be released.
However, the procedure to release the corporate guarantee is still in

progress.

The directors are closely monitoring the situations and will continue
to use their best endeavor to resolve the corporate guarantees above.
The directors are also assessing the legal position of the Group and

may consider taking legal actions if appropriate.

Up to the date of this report, the Group did not suffer any loss from
the above corporate guarantees. Having considered the counter-
guarantees provided by BI3EHBE, pledge of valuable properties by
RNi&EJIEYE and subsequent settlement arrangements as stated above,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of
the financial guarantee contracts are insignificant at initial recognition
as the probability of suffering any significant loss by the Group from
the above corporate guarantees is low. Accordingly, no provision
has been made in the consolidated financial statements for these

guarantees.

42.

BREREEE)

R-ZB—+F+_A=-++H KEE
EEABRITREEERRE - BIR
b - AR %245,000,0007T ) ¥ E &K
18T RENEEAEE() - QKRG
MHER - FMEREMEBR - Bl
R B AEEIFMATIREN A RER - A
i - R DERROBFDEEITR -

ESFRYERARIEN  YSEES
NEERR B R EER - EEIFIEREAR
SERERYS Y EEBRRIUEE R
SRR ©

EEAREAY AKREYTRBR LA
RAFERMRZEMBR - KEREZ
WERENRER  KNEIREABED
WMERERE B s RREE R TR - K
REEERR/YBEREHHFER
I ERRALTEX - RESAKERA

ARBERMERZEMBAIBRAE
RV - B - MERZFRERNES
BT ER Rt R M o
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BB ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

43.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group's qualifying employees in Hong Kong participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF") in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF are held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of trustee. The Group and each of the employees make

monthly mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions

under the scheme.

For the years ended 3| March 2025 and 2024, there were no
forfeited contributions which were available to reduce the Group's
existing level of contributions to the MPF Scheme and the state-

managed retirement benefits scheme.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss of approximately HK$686,000 (2024: HK$751,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in

the rules of the plans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which
are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Save as disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, details of
transactions between the Group and other related parties are

disclosed below.

(a) Transactions with related parties
(i) Interest income relating to termination of acquisition of
Shenyang Properties
Interest income relating to termination of acquisition
of Shenyang Properties for the year ended 31 March
2024, which were receivable from Mr. Li Yuguo who is

an executive director of the Company, are recognised as

follows:
Interest income relating to termination LIFWEEEGEZ
of acquisition of Shenyang Properties FEUA

On 18 December 2023, Mr. Li Yuguo has fully settled the
amounts due from him, thus, there was no such interest

income in current year.

BE

BB S R Z

AArEANBRR (EARR R
BRI R ZEREERENE - B
BRAMGGERE - REAMBERERE M
BRI ESN AN E EH it BB
RZRXBHBRBEALT °

(a) HEH T ZXZ

()

AU IEES 3.2 1HE 72
KA

BE-_ZT_ME=A=t+—H
LHFE - SR IEWEES YR
ERRARRRTESFERL

A Z FRREF S ARERIDT ¢
2025 2024
—EhHEF —ZU4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T
9,198

R-ZZE_=F+-A+/N\B "
FEEELEE 2 BEBIRK
H - R AEE I E LA S
WA o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 4 EZ2EBLRS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) Transactions with related parties (Continued) (a) BAEB 2 X 5 (&)
(i) Interest on promissory note (i) FEEZZEZFE
A promissory note of HK$5,000,000 was issued by the R _ME+—A=+Ah
Company on 29 November 2024 to Mr. Liu Yan Chee H - A2 A1#175,000,0007% 7T
James, who is an executive director of the Company. On ZEREBRTARBNTES
26 March 2025, the Company has redeemed all promissory FEBEE R _RF=
note. The interest on promissory note are recognised as AZ+XH  XRARIEERZ
follows: HAEHER - AEEREZHE
R
2025 2024
—E-EHE —E-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Interest on promissory note EHERZHE -
(b) Transaction relating to non-controlling interests (b) BEEHEREZZX S
As disclosed in note 28, during the year ended 31 March 2025 MM 28FTHE  #EZE=F=H
and 2024, the interest income relating to the amount due from FER-_FE_NFE=ZA=1+—HBIF
non-controlling interests are recognised as follows: - pEUWIEIE RS R 2R B
WATERT
2025 2024
—EB-HE —E-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT T

Interest income relating to amount due JEU SR I RE ZS TR 2

from non-controlling interests FEWA 551
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(c) Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel during the year

was as follows:

Short-term benefits SHEIE A
Retirement benefit scheme R FIET B

44 SEEBEB IR (1)

(c) TEEBNS ZFH
TEEBEABRAEE 2 HME
R ¢

2025 2024
—E-RE —E g
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET AT
5,058 4719

43

4762
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. B A RFFE
Details of the Group's material subsidiaries at the end of the reporting NMEER AEBZFTERB AR
period are as follows. SRR o
Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capitall  value of paid capital/
incorporation/ registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital  held by the Company Principal activities
KRARAELZ
R/ fisRe,/ BB/ BHRE/
WELARER B ERMEAEH dREx  EREFEEZLA IRER
Directly  Indirectly
¢4 3
Adco Rich Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary Uss| 100% - Investment holding
RBRARE Lak Ev REER
Century Strong Limited (Note 2) British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary Uss| 100% = Investment holding
(it2) ERELES LaR Ey RERR
Continental Joy Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary USs! 100% = Investment holding
EBRAES Lk EI0 REZK
Chi Sheng Trading Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS | = 100% Investment holding
BEEHERLA] &R LEk BT REER
Good Union (China) Limited (Note 3) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 = 67% Investment holding
BB (R E)BRAAI(HZ3) B EER | 00077 RERR
King Lotus Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary Uss! 100% = Investment holding
ERELES LR Ey REER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. Y8 2~ = =15 ()
(CONTINUED)
Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capitall  value of paid capital/
incorporation/ registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital  held by the Company Principal activities
ARABAEL
AL/ fiskt/ BRRE/ BfRE/
WEAREHE Bewy e bl AMER  EREREEZLA E2:338
Directly  Indirectly
Ef 3
Man Lee Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 = 100% Management services and
ENERARAT A TRk W securities trading
FERBELESFER
New Jumbo Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary Uss! 100% - Investment holding
EEEEARAA RERAEE EaER ESp RERR
Shun Jie International Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 = 100% Investment holding
Company Limited & LAk 10,000/ 7 Rank

RRARERARAF

World Kingdom Worldwide Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US| 100% = Investment holding
BRRIRERAA) ABRAES LER I REER
World Land Development Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US| 100% = Investment holding
EHRERERAA ABRIHEE LER IXT REEKR
EMERER(RINERAF The PRC Registered RMB40,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
(Notes | and 2) E Rl AR 60,000,00070 RERR
pHERER(RIERAT
(Wi R2)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

45. B A RFF15 (FE)

(CONTINUED)
Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capital/ value of paid capital/
incorporation/ registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital  held by the Company Principal activities
ARARAEL
HEREL/ fisit/ BRRE/ BfRE/
HWEAREHE Bewy e bl AMER  EREREEZLA IRER
Directly  Indirectly
£ L
ERHEBER(RY)ERRA  The PRC Registered RMB60,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
(Note 1) E i ARH60,0000007T RERR
ERfERERE (R ERAT
(i)
REEIREMBRAFNote |)  The PRC Registered HK$205,000,000 = 100%  Property development
REENBERERRR(HE)  HE it 205,000,007 VB
REERFARI)ERAA The PRC Registered RMB3,000,000 = 100%  Property investment
(Notes | and 2) HE Rl AR 3,000,000 MERE
RRERHA RN ERAT
(HiztiR2)
ALK BEXERARAHA The PRC Registered RMBI,000,000 - 100%  Property investment
(Note 1) i Gl AR 100000075 NERE
A EERERERLA
(Hi1)
A ERRRKERAR The PRC Registered HK$30,000,000 - 67%  Production and sales of
(Note I and 3) hE Bl 30,000,000 7T bottled mineral water

HETHEEERKERAR
(H15E1R3)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Class of
Place of shares/
incorporation/ registered
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held
MR/ fiske,/
WERLFER Benwy EMERER
MIFERERRERAR The PRC Registered
(Note |) HhE Bl
AEHEREERARAA)
(Hi21)
ML EKEER@ARAG Note 1) The PRC Registered
ML LKEERRERARAHt)) +HE it
BMNREREEERARNote |)  The PRC Registered
BNERERARLA(ME)  PE Al
FNZREEUCERBRAF  The PRC Registered
(Note 1) HE Bl
FMNSREEXLRRERARA
(Hit1)
East Dynasty Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary
REXEARAA ERELES LR
Yonyin Investment Holdings Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary
XM EERARAE] EBRAES Lak

45. (B AR5 (&)

Fully paid
share capital/
registered

capital

BRRE/
EMER

RMB100,000
ARH1000007

RMB10,000,000
AR10000,0007T

RMBI 000,000
AK1,0000007T

RMB64,000,000
AR 864 000,0007T

USs |
E

1S$50,000
50000% 7T

Proportion of nominal
value of paid capital/

registered capital

held by the Company
ARARAELZ
BfRE/
AMEATEE 2 A
Directly Indirectly
Ef [
- 100%
= 100%
- 100%
= 100%
100% =
- 100%

Principal activities

IERH

Property investment

Property investment

ESE

Investment holding

REZK

Property investment

ESE]

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

REER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. Y 2 = =15 ()
(CONTINUED)
Class of Fully paid  Proportion of nominal
Place of shares/ share capital/ value of paid capital/
incorporation/ registered registered registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation capital held capital  held by the Company Principal activities
RRARHZ
HEREL/ fisit/ BRRE/ BfRE/
HWEAREHE Bewy e bl AMER  EREREEZLA IRER
Directly  Indirectly
£ 3
Yongming Investment Holdings British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$50,000 = 73.1% Investment holding
Limited EBRREHS LER 50,000 7T REER

KERBRRARLE]

WEREERERAG(Note ) The PRC Registered RMB2,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
NEREERERARMF) 8 Eall AR H2,0000007T RERR
MBI EERBRARNote ) The PRC Registered RMB2,000,000 - 73.0%  Investment holding
NEARERERAR (M)  E i fi ARE2,000,0007T RERER
ENENREEERAR(Note I)  The PRC Registered RMBI6,600,000 - [00%  Mineral exploration and
BETENEREERAR(MZ) HE Bl AR 16,600,007 mining
BNERRRERR
ETERRERAN RS The PRC Registered RMB5,000,000 - 73.1%  Mineral exploration and
ERBRARAF(Note 1) R i3l AR 50000007 mining
BB ERARRE RS BOBRRREER
ERBEFERARMZ)
Note |: The subsidiary was an indirectly wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in et : BRI ARPEKY 2 HEINEEE
the PRC. .
Note 2: The entity was included in the Disposal Group as set out in Note |6. Hiat2 - REKE 62 BBt ALEEER -
Note 3: Other payables of HK$8,000,000 (note 32(ii)) are secured by the equity interests HfaE3 - H b FE 5 BR 308,000,000 7T (B 5E32(ii) ) BA
of the subsidiaries. NG ol &N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR

For the year ended 3| March 2025 BE =T -_HF=A=+—HIFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. B A RFFE (&)
(CONTINUED)
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the RERIANFEANETAERE - BB QA
end of the year, or at any time during the year. BEEMRERE EHE
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which in the EERA/LERIB 2 AEB 2B AR
opinion of the directors, principally affected the result or assets of the HAEB VX ENEEREEFE -5
Group. To give the details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion EREENNEMMEB AT ZEBEEFEHE
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths. BREANIE -
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of TREJAEEHEEAIEIERERZ
the Group that have material non-controlling interests: IFEEMBAR ZFE

Proportion of ownership

Place of interest and voting
incorporation/ rights held by non- Loss allocated to non- Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary operation controlling interest controlling interest controlling interests
MR, FEREZFEEZ TEEFERER it
WEAREM Eemy BEERERREE LA ped 5 FERER
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
“E-RF —TOME ZBCRE O —TOME ZBE-RFE —TMF
% % HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TET TR TET
Good Union (China) Limited Hong Kong 33 11418 55,829
ER(FE)ARAR BE
Yongming Investment Holdings British Virgin 269 61,585
Limited Islands
XEREERBERAR RERLEE
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's RSB S BB ERIEERER M
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out below. BEARIZUHBERBESINWMT o AT
The summarised financial information below represents amounts PHERBERREBRNYEIZE
before intragroup eliminations. B o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
Good Union (China) Limited

Summarised statement

of financial position B AR R R E
Current assets MEVEE
Current liabilities mENRE
Current net liabilities mENBEFEE
Non-current assets EMENE B
Non-current liabilities FMEBEE
Non-current net assets EMBEEFE
Net assets BEFE
Accumulated non-controlling interest ERt IR S

250  ZhongJia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | 2 /I EI{Z [ B A R A 7

45. B A RFF1E (

ER(FE)BRAF

2025
—E"REF
HK$’000
THERT

162,092

(8,669)

153,423

V=]

n

2024
—E - pOF
HK$'000
FHET
14,963
(95,097)
(80,134)

258,139
(8,825)

249,314
169,180

55,829



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Good Union (China) Limited (continued) ER (P EDBRAF (&)

Summarised statement of

comprehensive income 2ERERPE 2025 2024

—E-FREF —E_PF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FH&T

Revenue g A 4,892 50

Loss for the year REEFBAE (34,600)

Other comprehensive income H 2 mE WS (551)

Total comprehensive income 2 EW AT (35,151)

Loss allocated to non-controlling interest DELE IR s 2 B 18 (33,208) (11,418)

——

Summarised cash flows HEREYE 2025 2024

—E-REF —ZEoOF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT

Net cash inflow from operating activities REKLEETH RS RAFEE 15,756

Net cash outflow from investing activities KERETH IR R FEE (15,857)

Net cash inflow from financing activities REME SIS 2B RAFRR 9

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEERE R FEh L 2 745

653

45. MY B A= 15 (48)
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Yongming Investment Holdings Limited

Summarised statement

of financial position B AR R R E
Current assets mEEE
Current liabilities mBAE
Current net liabilities mEE EFE
Non-current assets JEMBEE
Non-current liabilities JEMBEE
Non-current net assets JEMBEEFE
Net assets BEFE
Accumulated non-controlling interest ERt IR S

252  ZhongJia Guo Xin Holdings Company Limited | /1 EI{Z [ B 5 A R A 7

45. MY B Al =15 (&)

KBBREZERERQHE
2025 2024
—E_RF —E-POF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET TET
4
(38,889)
(38,885)
350,801 357,101
(87,700) (89,275)
263,101 267,826

224,889 228,941

61,585
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

45. MY B A= 15 (48)

Yongming Investment Holdings Limited (continued) KEREZERBRAR(E)

Summarised statement of

comprehensive income 2ERERPE 2025 2024

—E_RF —E s

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FH&T

Revenue A - -

Loss for the year REEFBAE (3)

Other comprehensive income H b2 E s 1,028

Total comprehensive income 2 EW AT 1,025

Loss allocated to non-controlling interest IR R R (L B 1R )

Summarised cash flows HEREYE 2025 2024

—E_RE —E O

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FAT

Net cash outflow from operating activities
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Net cash outflow from financing activities

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

KREKEES 2 RE R FHE
KEREES 2R G FE
KERE LS 2RE R FHE

SNEER BB E
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —FAF=A=1+—HILtFE

46. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION OF
THE COMPANY

Summarised statement of financial position information of the

Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

2025 2024
—E_TREF —EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT THET
Non-current assets I RBEE
Interests in subsidiaries ALNIEINGIPA =
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BERF 315
Right-of-use assets EREEE 2,592
2,907
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FRRTRIE - 'E Rk 1,313 1,307
H b FE I AR 51
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE Uk B B 1 R FRTE 741,290 1,157,099
Bank balances and cash RITHERRIR® 1,138 867
743,741 1,159,273
Current liabilities REAEE
Amount due to a director BN —R2EE2RE =
Amounts due to subsidiaries ARIENGIE S 352
Other payables and accruals HAth B BRRR ERHE A 14,299
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,320
16,971
Net current assets REBEEFE 725,694 142,302
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERTHAERS 726,015 1,145,209
. less than one thousand Hong Kong dollars 2 LR—FET
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

46. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF 46. 2NN \) Z B IS AR R R E R
FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION OF E(4)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

2025 2024
—E-RF —E 04
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Capital and reserves BEAXRHE
Share capital N 131,376 93,840
Reserves i 591,890 [,051,118
723,266 [,144,958
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Borrowings from third parties ME=F{ERK -
Lease liabilities HERE 251
251
726,015 [,145,209
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by BB RER_E_AFA=-+/"H
the Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and signed on its behalf by: KEESHEWIRETE - WAHTIA
TREZZRT
Mr. Chan Wai Fung Mr. Li Yuguo
R S 4 FEEXE
Director Director
EF EF
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For the year ended 3| March 2025 HE T -_HF=A=+—HI-FE

46. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF 46. 2NN \) 2 B IS AR R 3k E B8
FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION OF = (4)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Share Share Capital General Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve losses Total
k& RHEE  BEARE  -REE  RHEER #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

At 31 March 2023 RZZ-=#=A=1-H 93,840 1,620,053 2,025,156 180057 (2675672) ,243,434

Loss for the year AEEER = = = = (98476) (98476)

Total comprehensive income TEERENRHRS

for the year - - - S 08ATe) (98476)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-_ME=A=+-H 93,840 1,620,053 2,025,156 180,057 (2,774,148) [,144,958
Loss for the year KEEER - (483,974)  (483,974)
Total comprehensive income TEERENRAS

for the year 93,840 1,620,053 2,025,156 180,057  (3,258,122) 660,984
Placing of new shares RENR 18,768
Issuance of consideration shares (T BRI 18,768
New shares issue expense Mk B1RS
At 31 March 2025 W=E-h&=fA=1-H 131,376 1,644,799 2,025,156 180,057  (3,258,122) 123,266
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T —FAF=A=+—HILtFE

47.

48.

DIVIDENDS

The directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend for

the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 10 June 2025, a total of 170,100,000 new shares of the Company
had been successfully placed by the placing agent to not less than
six placees at the placing price of HK$0.| per placing share under
the general mandate granted to the Directors by ordinary resolution
passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28
August 2024. Upon the completion of the aforesaid placing of new
shares, the total number of issued shares of the Company increased
from 1,313,763,360 shares to 1,483,863,360 shares. Details of the
placing of shares were set out in the announcements of the Company

dated 20 May 2025, 4 June 2025 and 10 June 2025 respectively.

On 25 June 2025, the Company held a special general meeting and an
ordinary resolution was passed to approve the capital reorganisation
which involves the share consolidation, the capital reduction and the

subdivision.

(1) Share consolidation

The share consolidation involved a consolidation of every ten
(10) issued and unissued ordinary shares of par value of HK$O0. |
each in the share capital of the Company into one consolidated
share of par value of HK$1.00 each in the share capital of the
Company. The share consolidation became effective on 27 June
2025 and the total number of issued shares of the Company
became 148,386,336 shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArRe IR R AT
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

48. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (CONTINUED)
(2) Capital reduction
The capital reduction involved a reduction of the par value
of each issued consolidated share from HK$1.00 to HK$0.0|
by (a) eliminating any fraction of a consolidated share in the
issued share capital of the Company arising from the share
consolidation in order to round down the total number of the
consolidated Shares to a whole number; and (b) cancelling
HK$0.99 of the paid-up capital of the Company on each issued
consolidated Share so that each issued new share will be treated
as one () fully paid-up share of par value of HK$0.0| each in the

share capital of the Company.

(3) Subdivision
The subdivision involved each authorised but unissued
consolidated shares be subdivided into one hundreds (100)

authorised but unissued new shares of par value HK$0.0| each.

For details of the capital reorganisation, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 2 June 2025 and 4 June

2025 and the circular of the Company dated 9 June 2025.

49. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2025.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

I EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE — T —RAF=A=+—HILtFE

Results

Revenue

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Tax (charge)/credit

Profit/(loss) for the year from

continuing operations

Loss for the year from discontinued

operations
Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

ES |

LN

BRBATER] (BER)
BRE(FAX)/ER

RERRHERE
BB/
(B18)

AEEERIE
EBZER

RERE,(BE)

FE{h
ARAEFEBA
ey 5

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=t—HLEE

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
—E-—F —T-—F —T-=F —FT-NE ZB-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHATT FHATT FHET FETT FTET
32,920 21,200 22,220 14,160
92,849  (305387)  (221.224) (35.944)
(2,155) 19,032 18,646 16,189
90,694  (286355)  (202,578) (19,755)
- (89,777) (63,480) (1)
90694  (376,132)  (266,058) ERT] (484,765)
91264  (361642)  (246,172) (8.347)
(570) (14,490) (19,886) (11,419)
90694  (376,132)  (266,058) (19,766) INCLINIT))
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE — T -_FAF=A=+—HILtFE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
—E-—fF —FT-—F —FT-—F —TNE ZT-RHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FET FHET FHT THER

Assets and liabilities BEERERE

Total assets BEME 2,275,578 |911,672 |,742,847 1,954,633 1,388,147
Totallllabilities & Ees (198934)  (178499)  (290.192)  (493:429) P LELasvln)
Shareholders’ funds RRES 2,076,644 1,733,173 |,452,655 [,461,204 1,018,945
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